FILED 8/4/2021
DOCUMENT NO. 08753-2021
FPSC - COMMISSION CLERK

BEFORE THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

In re: Petition by Florida Power & Light Company Docket No: 20210015-EI
for Rate Unification and for Base Rate Increase Date: August 4, 2021

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY’S
MOTION FOR SUMMARY FINAL ORDER REGARDING
FLORIDIANS AGAINST INCREASED RATES, INC.

Florida Power & Light Company (“FPL”) pursuant to section 120.57(1)(h), Florida
Statutes (“F.S.”), Rule 28-106.305, Florida Administrative Code (“F.A.C.”), and Rule 1.280(c),
Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, hereby moves the Florida Public Service Commission
(“Commission”) for a summary final order dismissing Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc.
(“FAIR”) from this proceeding for lack of standing after the hearing in this matter has concluded
and as part of the Commission’s determination of Issue 9 in the Pre-Hearing Order'. In its Motion
to Intervene, FAIR told the Commission that it was a membership organization which qualified
for associational standing based on injuries to its members. In discovery, FAIR witnesses admitted
that the organization had no members when it filed its Motion to Intervene and only acquired
members after the Commission allowed FPL to test FAIR’s standing allegations. Discovery also
revealed that FAIR is not the functional equivalent of a traditional membership association, but
rather is a shell organization controlled by a small group of people who are not FPL customers and
who are not accountable to the persons who purport to be members. The Commission should
dismiss FAIR from this proceeding for lack of standing on these undisputed facts at the conclusion

of the hearing in this matter.

' FPL recognizes that the Commission has decided to address the issue of FAIR’s standing on both legal and factual
grounds at the conclusion of this hearing and as part of the resolution of Issue 9 in the Pre-Hearing Order. Therefore,
the Company understands that the resolution of this motion will be held in abeyance until that time. However, FPL
respectfully requests that the substantive pre-filed testimony offered by FAIR and any substantive evidence that they
present at the hearing be struck from the record should the Commission rule in FPL’s favor on this motion.
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BACKGROUND AND FACTUAL SUMMARY
I. Procedural History of FAIR’s Intervention

1. On May 4, 2021, FAIR filed its Motion to Intervene. In that Motion, FAIR stated
that it had “members who are retail electric customers [of] FPL,” and that “Commission approval
of any rate increase will adversely affect FAIR’s members who are FPL customers.” Motion to
Intervene, at 4, 1 6; see also page 1 and {1 5, 7 and 9 (statements that FAIR had members who are
FPL customers). FPL opposed FAIR’s Motion and asked for the right to test the standing
allegations in discovery. See FPL’s Response to FAIR’s Motion to Intervene (filed May 6, 2021).
On May 19, 2021, the Commission issued an Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene, a stated (on page 3) that:

“... FPL has objected to the factual allegations supporting FAIR’s associational
status and is entitled to conduct discovery and to present evidence, testimony, and
argument regarding FAIR’s associational standing. Therefore, FAIR’s
associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding, and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.”

2. On June 21, 2021, FAIR filed the direct testimony of two witnesses who addressed
the organization’s standing. A member of FAIR’s board of directors, John Thomas Herndon,
testified that “as of the date on which this testimony is being filed, FAIR has more than 500
members.” Herndon Direct, at 6:11-13. FAIR’s treasurer, Nancy Watkins, testified that she had
emailed the individuals who submitted membership applications to the organization and “[a]s of
June 15, 2021, FAIR had 513 members who intended to join FAIR.” Watkins Direct, at 10:1-2.

3. Pursuant to the Commission’s order, FPL served interrogatories and requests for

production on FAIR related to the issue of their standing. FPL also took the depositions of Mr.

Herndon on July 19, 2021 (attached hereto and marked for identification as Appendix A, “Herndon



Depo”) and Ms. Watkins on July 29, 2021 (attached hereto and marked for identification as
Appendix B, “Watkins Depo”). Based on that discovery, FPL has established the following facts.
I1. Undisputed Facts

4. FAIR was incorporated after FPL filed its rate petition at least in part for the
purpose of intervening in this proceeding. Herndon Depo, p. 34:6-9, 34:16-19, 35:11-14. FAIR’s
Board of Directors and officers live outside of FPL’s service territory and are not FPL customers.
Watkins Depo, p. 13:17-21; Herndon Depo, p. 8:9-24, 35:19-36:3. FAIR is financed by
undisclosed third parties, which FAIR refuses to identify. Herndon Depo, p. 55:21-24, 58:19-24.

5. FAIR has few characteristics of a real organization. It has no office (its address is
the Gray Robinson law office in Orlando), Herndon Depo, p. 16:4-24; no employees, id. 17:6-7;
no telephone, id. 17:8-9; and no email address, id. 19:24-20:10. The primary things it has are a
bank account and a website, www.fairfl.org. 1d. 17:10-14, 24:4-5.

6. FAIR purports to be a membership organization. Its Bylaws provide that to be
eligible for membership, a person must be a “retail customer of an investor-owned utility in the
State of Florida” and meet other criteria. Herndon Depo, Ex. 2, at 10 (Bylaws, Art. Il, 8 1). The
Bylaws further provide that “[p]ersons eligible for membership in the Corporation shall consist of
individuals 18 years of age or older or entities elected to membership by a majority vote of the
Board of Directors, or a Committee thereof as may be designated by the Board of Directors.” Id.
Both of FAIR’s witnesses confirmed that persons do not become members until the Board of
Directors admits them into membership. Watkins Depo, p. 67:16-19; Herndon Depo, p. 39:10-17,
41:21-25.

7. FAIR hired a public relations firm to recruit members. Herndon Depo, p. 61:10-

23, & EX. 4, at 13 (FAIR response to FPL Interrogatory No. 13). That firm recruits members for


http://www.fairfl.org/

FAIR by running an advertisement on Facebook and conducting online search optimization for its
website. 1d.; Watkins Depo, p. 29:9-24. Individuals apply for membership by filling out an online

form found at www.fairfl.org, Herndon Depo, p. 23:15-22, or by printing the form and mailing it

in, Watkins Depo, p. 36:16-21.

8. Members of FAIR have no substantive rights in the organization. Members play
no role in choosing the Board of Directors; the Board of Directors chooses itself. Herndon Depo,
p. 43:6-13, & Ex. 2 (Bylaws, Art. Il, § 3: “All members shall be non-voting and will have no right
to elect or remove members of the Board of Directors.”). Members play no role in the financing
of the organization: they are not asked for money, and no members have given money to FAIR.
Herndon Depo, p. 52:13-20, 55:13-20. Members are not asked for input on litigation positions,
witnesses or other matters related to this proceeding. Id. p. 67:17-25; Watkins Depo, p. 47:2-9.
FAIR board member John Herndon testified that members have no way to contact FAIR other than
to mail a letter or to write “call me” in one of the blanks in the online form on FAIR’s website.
Herndon Depo, p. 45:2-46:24.

9. FAIR has little information about prospective members. The only information
FAIR has about its members comes from the application form on its website. Herndon Depo, p.
67:3-6; Watkins Depo, p. 34:14-16. The online form asks only for a person’s name, address,
telephone number, email address, utility and whether the person is a residential or commercial

customer. See www.fairfl.org; Herndon Depo, p. 66:10-67:2. FAIR does not ask prospective

members their age, the rate schedule by which they receive electrical service, their average power
bills, or how FPL’s rates will affect their monthly payments. Herndon Depo, p. 67:14-25, 68:14-

69:5. FAIR has never had an in-person meeting with its members. Id. p. 52:13-15.


http://www.fairfl.org/
http://www.fairfl.org/

10. FAIR’s treasurer, Nancy Watkins, stated in her direct testimony that she “verified”
FAIR’s membership roster by sending emails to all applicants on FAIR’s roster who had provided
email addresses. Watkins Direct, at 7:13-9:4. She sent emails to 507 individuals, 17 people
responded, and 490 people did not respond. Id. p. 42:1-14. Ms. Watkins testified that she is not
personally acquainted with the applicants, so she does not know whether the 490 individuals who
failed to respond in fact are real people. Id. p. 44:1-19. Ms. Watkins also testified that she does
not know the applicants’ ages, which is relevant because FAIR’s Bylaws provide that only persons
18 years or older are eligible for membership. Id. p. 70:13-71:2.

11. According to Ms. Watkins, FAIR acquired purported members only after it filed
its Motion to Intervene. None of the officers or board members are on the membership roster.
Watkins Depo, p. 64:6-65:6. When FAIR filed its Motion to Intervene on May 4, 2021, Ms.
Watkins testified that no one had even applied to become a member. Id. p. 64:15-65:6, 69:8-13.
She testified that the first time that anyone applied to become a member was sometime in early
June 2021, after the Commission issued its order allowing FPL to test the standing allegations in
FAIR’s Motion. Id. p. 59:12-60:5, 60:17-20. The FAIR Board of Directors did not admit any
applicants to the membership until July 27, 2021, id. p. 67:16-23, -- nearly three months later --
after John Herndon was asked in his deposition whether the board had admitted any members,
Herndon Depo, p. 80:9-14. Because this vote did not take place until months after FAIR petitioned
to intervene in this proceeding, FAIR did not have any members at the time its Motion to Intervene
was filed.

APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD

12. In order to participate in this proceeding, a party must have standing. “As a general

proposition, ‘standing is a legal concept that requires a would-be litigant to demonstrate that he or



she reasonably expects to be affected by the outcome of the proceedings, either directly or
indirectly.”” Peace River/Manasota Reg’l Water Supply Auth. v. IMC Phosphates, 18 So0.3d 1079,
1082-83 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009) (quoting Hayes v. Guardianship of Thompson, 952 So.2d 498, 505
(Fla. 2006)). A party must have standing at the start of the proceeding, and cannot acquire
standing after the fact. LaFrance v. U.S. Nat’l Bank Ass’n, 141 So.3d 754, 756 (Fla. 4" DCA
2014) (“A “plaintiff’s lack of standing at the inception of the case is not a defect that can be cured
by the acquisition of standing after the case has been filed” and cannot be established ‘retroactively

by acquiring standing to file a lawsuit after the fact.”””) (quoting McLean v. JP Morgan Chase Nat’l
Ass’n, 79 S0.3d 170, 173 (Fla. 4" DCA 2012)).

13. In chapter 120 proceedings, the standing requirement is set forth in section
120.52(12)(b), Florida Statutes, which provides that a person may become a party if his or her
“substantial interests are affected by the proposed agency action.” A person’s substantial interests
are affected if 1) he or she suffers an injury in fact, and 2) the injury is of a type or nature that the
proceeding is designed to protect. AmeriSteel Corp. v. Clark, 691 So.2d 493, 496 (Fla. 1997)
(quoting Agrico Chemical Co. v. Dept. of Environmental Reg., 406 So.2d 478 (Fla. 2d DCA
1981)).

14.  The Florida Supreme Court has recognized, based on federal case law, that trade
and professional associations can establish so-called “associational standing” through injuries to
their members. Fla. Home Builders Ass’n v. Dept. of Labor & Employment Security, 412 So.2d
351, 353-54 (Fla. 1982) (extensively quoting Hunt v. Washington State Apple Adv. Comm’n, 432
U.S. 333 (1977)). The doctrine of associational standing applies also to other types of organizations

that are the functional equivalent of trade associations, e.g., those that represent a specialized

segment of the community, and whose where members select the organization’s leadership, serve



in the organization’s leadership, and finance the organization’s activities. Florida Home Builders
Ass’n, 412 So.2d at 353 (authorizing associational standing for trade associations and “any
similarly situated association); Hunt, 432 U.S. at 344-45 (holding that organization qualified for
associational standing where it was the functional equivalent of a traditional trade associations,
and outlining factors indicating functional equivalent to traditional association). A trade
association or equivalent organization can claim associational standing by demonstrating that 1) a
substantial number of its members are substantially affected by the proposed action, 2) the subject
matter of the challenged action is within the association’s general scope of interest and activity,
and 3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for a trade association to receive on behalf of its
members. Florida Home Builders Ass’n, 412 So.2d at 353.

15.  Section 120.57(1)(h), F.S., provides that a summary final order shall be granted if
it is determined from the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file,
together with affidavits, if any, that no genuine issue as to any material fact exists and that the
moving party is entitled as a matter of law to entry of a final order. “[T]he purpose of summary
judgment, or in this instance, summary final order, is to avoid the expense and delay of trial when
no dispute exists concerning the material facts.” Order No. PSC-01- 1427-FOF-TP at p. 13, In re:
Request for arbitration concerning complaint of TCG South Florida and Teleport
Communications Group against BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. for breach of terms of
interconnection agreement.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

16.  The undisputed facts establish that FAIR lacks standing to participate in this

proceeding. FPL’s discovery has uncovered the truth that FAIR is shell organization that made

incorrect statements to the Commission about its membership when it filed its Motion to Intervene.



Despite what it told the Commission when it filed its Motion, FAIR had no members until months
later (at best). The organization also is not the functional equivalent of a trade association, and
therefore cannot rely on the doctrine of associational standing. FAIR cannot carry its burden of
proof on the issue of standing, and Issue 9 in the Pre-Hearing order should be summarily
determined in FPL’s favor at the conclusion of this proceeding.

l. FAIR Lacked Standing When it Filed its Motion to Intervene, and Has
Improperly Attempted to Manufacture Standing After the Fact

17. FAIR had no members when it filed its Motion to Intervene, therefore it could not
have had associational standing based on injury to members. FAIR moved to intervene on May 4,
2021. FAIR did not receive any applications for membership (i.e., the online form) until June
2021 according to FAIR witness Watkins. Watkins Depo, p. 60:17-20. However, even if FAIR
were to have had applications for membership at the time it filed its Motion to Intervene in this
proceeding, it is completely undisputed that FAIR did not admit any of the applicants to
membership until July 27, 2021, when the Board of Directors voted to admit the applicants.
Watkins Depo, p. 67:16-23. In order to become a member of FAIR, not only must a person be
eligible, but the Board of Directors must admit the person into the membership. Watkins Depo, p.
67:16-19; Herndon Depo, p. 39:10-23. The FAIR board did not vote to admit anyone as members
until after FPL took the deposition of John Herndon on July 19, 2021 and realized that the board
had never admitted any members as required by the organization’s bylaws. Herndon Depo, p. 80:9-
14. FAIR apparently scrambled and voted to admit the applicants into membership two days before
the deposition of Nancy Watkins. Watkins Depo, p. 67:20-68:1. This means that the statements in
the direct testimony of John Herndon and Nancy Watkins filed June 21, 2021, where they testified

that FAIR had members, were false.



18. Even today, it is not clear how many people are members of FAIR. The Bylaws
provide that only persons 18 years or older are eligible to become members, Herndon Depo, p.
42:1-9, yet FAIR has never asked the applicants their age, id. 67:14-16; Watkins Depo, p. 70:13-
16. Moreover, it appears that no one from FAIR has actually spoken with the “people” on FAIR’s
membership roster, see, e.g., Watkins Depo, p. 47:17-20, and when a FAIR representative sent
emails to them in June 2021, 490 out of 507 individuals (96%) on the roster did not respond, id. p.
42:1-17. The person who purportedly verified the roster, Nancy Watkins, testified that she does
not know if the people who failed to respond are real people. Watkins Depo, p. 44:1-19. FAIR
cannot carry its burden of demonstrating standing if it lacks basic information that its purported
members exist and, if they do, whether they are even eligible to be a member.

19. By any measure, FAIR lacked members when it filed its Motion to Intervene,
Without members, it could not have had associational standing. At most, FAIR has tried to acquire
members and manufacture standing after the fact. A party must have standing when it initiates a
proceeding and cannot cure its lack of standing after the fact. LaFrance, 141 So0.3d at 756;
People’s Trust Ins. Co. v. Island Roofing & Restoration, LLC, -- S0.3d --, 2021 WL 1278979, *2
(Fla. 2d DCA 2021) (“[A] ‘party must have standing to file its suit at inception and may not remedy
this defect by subsequently obtaining standing.””) (quoting Figueroa v. Fed. Nat’| Mortg. Ass’n,
180 S0.3d 1110, 1115 (Fla. 5" DCA 2015), and Venture Holdings & Acquisition Corp. LLC v.
A.l.M. Funding Corp., LLC, 75 So0.3d 773, 776 (Fla. 4" DCA 2011)); see also Uzuegbunam v.
Preczewski, 141 S.Ct. 792, 796 (2021) (“At all stages of litigation, a plaintiff must maintain a
personal interest in the dispute. The doctrine of standing generally assesses whether that interest

exists at the outset...”).



1. FAIR Is Not a True Membership Organization That Qualifies for Associational
Standing

20. In order to qualify for associational standing, an organization must be an
association. The Florida Supreme Court, in adopting the federal case law on associational
standing, held that it applied to “trade and professional associations.” Florida Home Builders
Ass’n, 412 So.2d 351, 353 (Fla. 1982). In Hunt v. Washington State Apple Adv. Comm’n, the
federal case that is the basis of Florida Home Builders Association, the U.S. Supreme Court held
that organizations other than traditional trade associations can assert associational standing if they
“perform the functions of a traditional trade association” and their members “possess all of the
indicia of membership in an organization.” Hunt, 432 U.S.at 344-45. Neither Florida Home
Builders Ass’n nor Hunt held that other types of organizations can benefit from the doctrine of
associational standing. See, e.g., Palm Point Property Owners’Ass’n v. Pisarski, 626 So.2d 195
(Fla. 1993) (refusing to extend associational standing principles in Hunt to homeowners
association seeking to enforce restrictive covenants).

21. FAIR admits that it is not an association. Herndon Depo, p. 10:11-12. The
organization also is not the functional equivalent of a traditional association, because it is
structured in such a way that it represents the control group of the corporation and their undisclosed
third-party funders, not the members.

22. First, FAIR lacks basic indicia of being an actual operating entity or business of
any type. It has no office, no employees, no telephone number, and no email address. Herndon
Depo, p. 16:4-21, 17:6-9, 19:24-20:10. All that FAIR has is a bank account and website. Watkins
Depo, p. 15:24-25. Compared to the actual trade associations found to qualify for associational
standing in Florida Home Builders Ass’n and Hunt, FAIR is an empty shell. In Florida Home

Builders Ass’n, the plaintiff was a large, traditional trade organization. 412 So.2d at 352. In Hunt,
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the plaintiff was a state agency with elected leadership that engaged in a variety of activities related
to the promotion of state products, including advertising and scientific research. 432 U.S. at 337.

23.  Second, FAIR is controlled by people who are not members. None of FAIR’s
officers and directors are on the organization’s membership roster. Watkins Depo, p. 64:6-65:6.
None of them live in the FPL service area, and none of them are FPL customers. Id. p. 13:17-21;
Herndon Depo, p. 8:9-24, 35:19-36:3. This contrasts with the facts in the Hunt case, where the
only people who could be on the state commission were members of the organization. 432 U.S. at
344 (“they alone may serve on the Commission”); see also Washington Legal Found. v. Leavitt,
477 F.Supp.2d 202, 208-10 (D.D.C. 2007) (members “serving in the entity” is one of the essential
“indicia of membership” for an organization to be the functional equivalent of a membership
association; lack of this factor weighed against finding associational standing).

24.  Third, FAIR’s board and officers are not chosen by its members. Members have
no right to elect or remove directors. Herndon Depo, p. 43:3-8, & Ex. 2 (Bylaws, Art. 1, § 3).
Instead, FAIR’s directors choose themselves. Id. p. 43:6-13. This organization is completely
different than the facts in Hunt, where the members *“alone elect the members of the Commission.”
Hunt, 432 U.S. at 344-45. Federal courts have found that this factor weighs against finding an
organization to represent members for purposes of standing. See, e.g., Gettman v. Drug
Enforcement Admin., 290 F.3d 430, 435 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (no associational standing for individual
and magazine where there was no showing that alleged members “played any role in selecting its
leadership™); American Legal Found. v. FCC, 808 F.2d 84, 90 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (holding that
foundation did not qualify for associational standing, in part because “it does not appear from the
record that ALF’s “supporters’ play any role in selecting ALF’s leadership); Washington Legal

Found., 477 F.Supp.2d at 208-10 (D.D.C. 2007) (members “electing the entity’s leadership” is one
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of the essential “indicia of membership” for an organization to be the functional equivalent of a
membership association; lack of this factor weighed against finding associational standing).

25. Fourth, FAIR is funded by secretive third parties, not by its members. FAIR’s
members are not asked for money, Herndon Depo, p. 52:16-53:4, and no members have
contributed to the organization, id. p. 55:13-20. In this way, FAIR is different than the entity found
to have associational standing in Hunt, where the members “alone finance its activities, including
the costs of this lawsuit.” Hunt, 432 U.S. at 344-45. An entity is not the functional equivalent of
a membership organization when the purse strings are held by unaccountable non-members.
Gettman, 290 F.3d at 435 (lacking of showing that alleged members “played any role in ...
financing its activities” was factor in finding no associational standing); Fund Democracy LLC v.
SEC, 278 F.3d 21, 26 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (fact that organization did not received funding from
purported members weighed against claim of associational standing); American Legal Found., 808
F.2d at 90 (foundation did not qualify for associational standing in part because “it does not appear
from the record that ALF’s ‘supporters’ play any role in ... financing [the organization’s]
activities”); Washington Legal Found., 477 F.Supp.2d at 208-10 (D.D.C. 2007) (members
“financing the entity’s activities” is one of the essential “indicia of membership” for an
organization to be the functional equivalent of a membership association; lack of this factor
weighed against finding associational standing).

26. Fifth, there is virtually no communication between FAIR’s members and its control
group, which makes it impossible for the FAIR board to represent the members’ interests. FAIR
knows little more about its members than their names, addresses, and power utility. Herndon Depo,
p. 66:10-67:2. FAIR does not know how much the members pay in electric bills, the schedules

under which they take service, or other basic facts that are relevant to this proceeding. Herndon
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Depo, p. 67:14-25, 68:14-69:5. Members have no easy way to communicate with FAIR’s officers
and directors, because the organization does not have a phone number or an email address. Id. p.
17:6-7,19:24-20:10, 46:13-24. Moreover, FAIR’s officers and directors do not even ask members
for their input or opinions on the issues in this proceeding, such as positions to take or witnesses
to call. FAIR cannot represent the interests of its members if it knows almost nothing about them
and there is no communication between them. Cf. American Legal Found., 808 F.2d at 90
(foundation did not qualify for associational standing in part because “it does not appear from the
record that ALF’s ‘supporters’ play any role in ... guiding ALF’s activities”).

217, Finally, FAIR does not represent a specialized segment of the community like a
trade or professional association. FAIR purports to represent any customer of an investor-owned
utility in Florida. Investor owned utilities provide electricity to the general public in their service
area. This is not a specialized group of people who have a unique perspective to offer the
Commission, but rather purports to be the public at large which already is represented by Office
of Public Counsel. Federal courts addressing organizations with similar sweeping assertions of
membership have found them not to be the equivalent of traditional membership associations. See,
e.g., American Legal Found., 808 F.2d at 90 (finding no associational standing in part because
“ALF’s constituency of members is completely open-ended”); Washington Legal Found., 477
F.Supp.2d at 208-10 (D.D.C. 2007) (finding no associational standing in part because the plaintiff
served “no discrete, stable group of persons with a definable set of common interests”). The only
thing that the putative members of FAIR appear to have in common is that they were solicited to
lend their names to an ill-conceived attempt to create standing in order to gain entry into this base

rate proceeding.
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28. FAIR’s assertion that it has members and is the functional equivalent of a traditional
membership organization does not hold up under any scrutiny. It is a shell organization that is run
and financed by a group of individuals who are not affected by FPL’s rate petition. FAIR was
created so that these undisclosed individuals or interests could intervene and participate in this
proceeding. FAIR only claims to have “members” so that it can seek associational standing, but
the lack of any role or power of those members to run the organization demonstrates that FAIR is
not the functional equivalent of a trade association.

CONCLUSION
WHEREFORE, Florida Power & Light Company respectfully requests that the
Commission enter a final summary order dismissing Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc.
from this proceeding for lack of standing based on these undisputed facts at the conclusion of

the hearing in this matter.
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Respectfully submitted,

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

By: /s/ R. Wade Litchfield
R. Wade Litchfield
Vice President and General Counsel
Authorized House Counsel No. 0062190
wade.litchfield@fpl.com

John T. Burnett

Vice President and Deputy General Counsel
Florida Bar No. 173304
john.t.burnett@fpl.com

Russell Badders

Vice President and Associate General Counsel
Florida Bar No. 007455
russell.badders@nexteraenergy.com

Maria Jose Moncada
Senior Attorney

Florida Bar No. 0773301
maria.moncada@fpl.com

Christopher T. Wright

Senior Attorney

Authorized House Counsel No. 1007055
christopher.wright@fpl.com

Florida Power & Light Company
700 Universe Boulevard

Juno Beach, Florida 33408-0420
(561) 691-7101

(561) 691-7135 (fax)
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1  APPEARANCES: 1 INDEZX
2
2 DIRECT CROSS REDIRECT RECROSS
3 On behalf of Florida Power & Light:
4 CARLTON FIELDS 3 By Mr. McAliley 5 83
2 Miami Central .
By Mr. Wright 81
5 700 NW 1lst Avenue, Ste. 1200
Miami, Florida 33136-4118 4
6 BY: NEAL MCALILEY, Esq. 5
NMcAliley@carltonfields.com
7 6 DEPOSITION EXHIBITS
FLORID]l-\ POWER & LIGHT COMPANY 7 NUMBER DESCRIPTTION PAGE
8 700 Universe Boulevard
Juno Beach, Florida 33408 8 No. 1 FAIR Website 18
° BY: JASON A. HIGGINBOTHAM, Esq. 9 No. 2 Response to RFP No. 3 26
jason.higginbotham@fpl.com
10 10 No. 3 FPL Petition to POC 30
11 On behalf of FAIR: 11 No. 4 Answers to Interrogatories 33
12 GARDNER, BIST, BOWDEN, DEE, LAVIA,
WRIGHT & PERRY, P.A. 12 No. 5 Response to RFP No. 4 49
13 1300 Thomaswood D].Clve 13 No. 6 Herndon Direct Testimony 62
Tallahassee, Florida 32308
14 BY: ROBERT SCHEFFEL WRIGHT, Esq. 14
1 schefegbwlegal . com 15 Certificate of OAth............ooveuroneanenennn.. 86
16 On behalf of Citizens of the State of Florida: 16 Reporter's Certificate........... ... ... ... ... ... 87
17 OFFICE OF PU?LIC COUNSEL 17 Certificate and Jurat........... ... ... ... ... ... 88
111 West Madison Street, Room 812
18 Tallahassee, Florida 32399 18 Errata Sheet......... ... ... .. ... 89
BY: PATRICIA A. CHRISTENSEN, Esq. 19 Witness Notification Letter...................... 90
19 christensen.patty@leg.state.fl.us
BY: CHARLES J. REHWINKEL, Esqg. 20
20 rehwinkel.charleseleg.state.fl.us 21
BY: ANASTACIA PIRRELLO, Esqg.
21 pirrello.anastacia@leg.state.fl.us. 22
BY: MARY WESSLING, Esq. 23
22 wessling.maryeleg.state.fl.us
23 24
24 25
25
Page 3 Page 5
1 On behalf of Florida Industrial Power Users: 1 PROCEEDINGS
2 MOYLE LAW FIRM, P.A. , :
118 North Gadsen Street 2 (The witness is dU:Ly sworn. )
3 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 3 Thereupon,
BY: JON C. MOYLE, JR., Esq.
4 jmoyle@moylelaw.com 4 JOHN T. HERNDON,
5 5 being by the undersigned notary public first duly
On behalf of Florida Rising, League of United 6 {ned d {Fied foll
6 Latin American Citizens of Florida, and the sworn, was examined and testified as follows:
Environmental Confederation of Southwest Florida: 7 DIRECT EXAMINATION
7
EARTHJUSTICE 8 BY MR. M ILEY:
8 111 South Martin Luther King, Jr. Blvd 9 0 Mr. Herndon, state your full name for the
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
! 1 Tecox! 1 11 rl name?
5 BY: BRADLEY MARSHALL, Esq. 0 ecord and please spell your last name
bmarshalleearthjustice.org 11 A John T, as in Thomas, Herndon, H-E-R-N-D-O-N.
10 BY: JORDAN LEUBKEMANN, Esq.
i A, =8 12 And I go by Tom.
jluebkemann@earthjustice.org
11 13 Q Okay. Thank you, sir.
12 half of Flori Publi i i i : . . .
On behalf of Florida Public Service Commission 14 So before we get into the actual questioning,
13 OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL
2540 Shumard Oak Boulevard 15 I just want to go over a few basic procedures here for
14 Tallahassee, Florida 32399 16 the deposition today.
BY: SUZANNE BROWNLESS, Esg.
15 sbrownle@psc.state.fl.us 17 Sir, have you ever had your deposition taken
16 18  before?
Also Present:
17 19 A Yes.
SARRH LEWIS 20 Q  Okay. Have you ever had your deposition
18 JODY STIEFEL . )
19 21  taken over a virtual platform like today on Webex?
20 22 A No, no.
21
2 23 Q So let me just explain how this is -- will
23 24  be -- this will work and just the slight differences
24 i
o5 25 maybe from how you have had your deposition taken
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Page 6 Page 8
1 before. 1 rather than uh-huh. It will make the transcript read a
2 So my name is Neal McAliley, and we have 2 lot more clear for everybody. So I just remind you
3 spoken as we have been waiting here. I am outside 3 that will be very helpful.
4 counsel for Florida Power & Light, and I am taking the 4 A I hear you.
5 deposition. I know you have your counsel there with 5 Q  Are there any questions you have for me
6 you, Mr. Wright. 6  before we get started?
7 This deposition is going to happen like a 7 A No.
8 regular deposition; I am going to ask questions and you | 8 Q Okay. Thank you, sir.
9 are going to answer questions, if your counsel wants to | 9 Well, let's start with, Mr. Herndon, what is
10 make an objection, he will do that on the record, and a | 10 your address?
11  court reporter is taking a transcript just like she 11 A My mailing address is 9062 Eagle Ridge Drive,
12 would in a regular deposition. 12 Tallahassee, Florida 32312. I am currently out of
13 Do you understand this? 13 state, and I can give you that out-of-state address if
14 A I do. 14  you would like.
15 Q I will also be in all likelihood showing you |15 0 I don't need that. So you just -- the
16  some exhibits, and when I do that I am going to be 16 address on Eagle Ridge Drive, is that your normal home
17 putting them up on the screen. So I may ask you can 17  address?
18  you see the exhibit, and I just want to make sure that |18 A Yes.
19 we can visually see it. So it's the equivalent of 19 Q So am I right that you live outside of FPL
20  putting the document physically in front of you. 20  service territory?
21 Are you following me so far? 21 A Yes.
22 A I follow you so far, but let me make one note |22 Q So you are not an FPL rate payer yourself,
23 if I might. I suffer from glaucoma. It does impair my |23 are you?
24  vision. I may or may not be able to see what you are 24 A I am not.
25 putting up there. I will try to let you know. It's 25 Q  Now, and you are -- are you aware that your
Page 7 Page 9
1 not, you know, trying to be avoiding it, but if I can't | 1 counsel submitted to the commission a copy of direct
2 see it, I can't see it. So be aware of that. 2 testimony for your testimony in this matter?
3 Q Okay, fair enough. 3 A Yes.
4 The other thing I wanted to let you know is 4 Q And so -- and I am going to be referring to
5 sometimes there can be technical issues when we do a 5 this at various points. I will probably -- especially
6 deposition on a virtual platform like this. And we 6 given the challenges with the glaucoma and looking at
7  have talked about this a little while ago. Sometimes 7  this on a screen, I will try to avoid putting documents
8 the power can go out or there can be a slow down in 8 up, but am I right that in your direct testimony you
9 service. I have noticed that every once in a while 9 indicated that you are retired from full-time
10  some words get garbled and so on, and often there is a |10 employment?
11 little bit of a delay between when you speak and I hear |11 A That is correct.
12 it or I speak and you hear it. 12 Q  And but you still do some work as an
13 So I would just ask that we -- that if there |13  independent contractor; am I understanding that right?
14 1is anything that you don't understand, if something was | 14 A Yes.
15 garbled when I say it, please tell me and I will reask |15 0  And today you are here testifying on behalf
16  the question. And if -- and if I am not understanding |16 of Floridians Against Increased Rates, Incorporated; is
17 you, your answer, I may ask you to repeat it again, and |17 that right?
18  that is to make sure we are all understanding each 18 A Yes.
19  other. 19 Q  Am I right in understanding that the purpose
20 Does that make sense? 20 of your testimony in this proceeding is -- at least in
21 A Sure. 21 part -- to provide the commissioners with the
22 Q The last thing is I just remind you, sir, as |22 description of FAIR?
23 a -- and this is just standard deposition practice, but | 23 A Yes, that is correct.
24 just it's always good to remind -- if I ask you a 24 MR. MCALILEY: And just for the record, madam
25 question, I need an audible answer, a yes or a no 25 court reporter, when I say FAIR, I am referring to
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Page 10 Page 12
1 the acronym F-A-I-R, which stands for Floridians 1 a new home in Tallahassee. So there may have been a
2 Against Increased Rates just for the record. 2 transitional period where the address is incorrect, but
3 BY MR. MCALILEY: 3 I don't know that and I haven't looked at it lately.
4 Q Mr. Herndon, you are sufficiently familiar 4 Q But other than that, to the best of your
5 with FAIR to testify about it; is that right? 5 knowledge all the information that is provided in the
6 A I believe so. 6 Articles of Incorporation is accurate?
7 Q FAIR is a corporation, isn't it? 7 A Yes.
8 A Yes, it is. 8 Q Sir, what are your duties as secretary of
9 Q It's not an LLC, right? 9  FAIR?
10 A Right. 10 A I am responsible for the minutes of the
11 Q  And it's not an association, is it? 11 organization and any recording of official documents as
12 A No. 12 needed, maintaining those minutes, records, and any
13 Q What is your position at FAIR? 13 other duties that would normally apply to secretary.
14 A I am a member of the board and the secretary. | 14 Q So you say the minutes of the organization.
15 Q So can you tell me who else is on the board 15 Are you referring to minutes of board meetings?
16  of directors at FAIR other than yourself? 16 A Yes.
17 A Mike Hightower, who is the president, Fred 17 Q How many meetings of the board have there
18  Bryant, who is an additional board member, and -- that |18 been for FAIR?
19 is it. VYeah. 19 A None as of yet. One, sorry. One.
20 Q That is it, just the three of you, right? 20 Q Sir, I just want to say for the record -- I
21 A Yes. 21  know you have your counsel there. Did you just get the
22 Q  Am I right that Mr. Hightower's address is in |22 answer there from your counsel?
23 Jacksonville? 23 A I did.
24 A I believe so. I don't know for a fact. 24 MR. MCALILEY: Okay. I would just ask that
25 Q0  Am I right in understanding that 25 for -- for Mr. Wright, even though we are doing
Page 11 Page 13
1 Mr. Hightower himself is not personally an FPL 1 this virtually, we need to do this the
2 customer? 2 old-fashioned way, which is the witness needs to
3 A I wouldn't know the answer to that. I don't 3 answer the question, and if you need to ask a
4 know. 4 follow-up question you can, but it's not going to
5 Q How about Mr. Bryant, am I right he lives in 5 be a very good record if the witness is
6 Tallahassee? 6 communicating directly with you between my
7 A Yes. 7 question and the answer. Fair enough?
8 Q  And so am I right in assuming that he is also | 8 MR. WRIGHT: Okay.
9 not an FPL customer? 9 BY MR. MCALILEY:
10 A I don't know for a fact. I would assume that | 10 Q Okay. How many meetings of the board of
11  that is correct. 11  directors of FAIR have there been to date, none or one?
12 Q Are you aware, sir, that when FAIR was 12 A One.
13 incorporated there were Articles of Incorporation filed | 13 Q0  And when was that meeting of the -- the one
14  with the Florida Secretary of State? 14 meeting of the FAIR board of directors?
15 A Yes, and that is one of the exhibits attached | 15 A I can't give you a date. I am sorry.
16 to my testimony. 16 Q Can you give me a month?
17 Q Are you aware that the Articles of 17 A May or June.
18  Incorporation provide addresses for each of the 18 Q And what business was conducted at that
19  directors of FAIR? 19 meeting?
20 A Yes. 20 A We adopted the bylaws and agreed to the draft
21 Q Is there -- do you have any reason to believe |21  of the corporate documents, the incorporation --
22 that the addresses for each of the directors of FAIR 22 Articles of Incorporation.
23 are incorrect there on the articles? 23 Q  Anything else?
24 A I have no reason to believe that. However, I |24 A To be honest I think there was other
25 want to be sure that -- in my case we were moving into |25 discussion, but I don't recall what it was.
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1 0 And did you take minutes? 1 Gray Robinson, but I don't know if those are listed as
2 A There are minutes, yes. 2 the official address of the corporation or not. I
3 Q And do you still have them? 3 don't recall. Could be.
4 A I do. 4 Q Okay. If -- okay, so the address of FAIR is
5 0 Would those minutes accurately reflect the 5 the address of an office of a law firm; am I
6 business that was conducted at that one board meeting 6 understanding that right?
7  of FAIR? 7 A Yes.
8 A I hope so. 8 Q If I was to go to that address, would I find
9 Q Sir, you took them. So my question is did 9  the name FAIR or Floridians Against Increased Rates on
10  you accurately take minutes of what happened at the 10  the door?
11  FAIR board meeting? 11 A I don't have any idea.
12 A Yes. 12 0 Have you ever been to the address of the --
13 Q Has the board of directors of FAIR taken any |13 of your organization?
14 actions outside of that meeting? 14 A If the address is the Gardner Bist office,
15 A How do you mean outside of that meeting? 15 then yes; if it's the Gray Robinson office in Orlando,
16 o] I have been on boards before where sometimes 16  then the answer is no.
17  there is -- there will be an e-mail that goes out to 17 Q Is there any room in the law firm's office
18  the board and they will say we need a vote of the board |18 that is dedicated for your organization, like a
19  virtually by e-mail, something like that, but there 19  conference room or one of offices within the law firm's
20  would be a decision of the board as the board, it's not |20 office?
21  where people are physically sitting in the same room. 21 A No, not that I am aware of.
22 A I don't recall any official board action. 22 Q Does FAIR pay rent to the law firm where your
23 There have been telephonic discussions by members of 23 office is located?
24  the board and our advisors, consultants; but as far as |24 A I don't believe so.
25 official actions of the board, I don't recall, although | 25 Q  Am I right that FAIR does not have its own
Page 15 Page 17
1 we may have authorized the intervention in this rate 1  customer account with Florida Power & Light?
2 case at one point. 2 A I believe that is correct.
3 Q If I wanted to learn what actions the board 3 Q So basically the law firm provides the
4 of directors of FAIR has taken, what would be the right | 4 electricity at that office, right?
5 documents for me to look at? 5 A Yes.
6 A Minutes of the meeting. 6 Q Does FAIR have any employees?
7 Q Okay. Has the board of directors of FAIR 7 A No.
8 established any committees? 8 Q  Does FAIR of a telephone number?
9 A No. 9 A No.
10 Q  Okay. So I just want to get more basic 10 Q  Does FAIR have an e-mail address?
11  information about your organization. 11 A We have a website, and on that website is a
12 What is FAIR's address? 12 reply mechanism to the membership application. I don't
13 A It's the same address as that of the law 13 recall whether it is the e-mail address or not. I
14 fimm. 14  think so, but I am not sure.
15 0 And what law firm is that? 15 0 What I would like to do is I would like to
16 A Gardner Bist. 16 show you a print copy of the FAIR website, and if I can
17 Q So FAIR's address is at the law firm of 17 ask you some questions about it. And I have printed
18  Gardner Bist? 18 it, so it would be -- and when I say printing it, it's
19 A Correct. 19 a PDF. I have done that so we can have a record for
20 Q  And do you know the street address for that 20  the deposition today. So I would like to put that up
21 law firm address? 21  on the screen. Give me one second.
22 A I do not. 22 Before I do that, sir, can you just state for
23 Q Is that a law firm office that is in Orlando? |23  the record what is the address of your organization's
24 A Tallahassee. The Articles of Incorporation 24  website?
25 were filed by an attorney with the law firm in Orlando, | 25 A I think it's www.FAIRFL.org.
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1 0 Now, I am going to share my screen now. 1 A I am not sure that that is the case, no.
2 Can you see on the screen a -- you will see 2 They can certainly fill out the form and send it back
3 it's a printout of the FAIR website. Is that your logo | 3 in. I don't know whether that constitutes an e-mail
4 of FAIR on the top, and in the upper left-hand corner 4  address or not.
5 it says 7/19/2021? 5 0] All right. But there is no address that I
6 A I see what you are describing. 6 can go into my e-mail system, like Outlook, and type in
7 Q0  And I will scroll down a little bit, not 7 an e-mail, like, this is the FAIR e-mail address and
8  expecting you to read the whole thing, but just to ask 8 send an e-mail, right?
9 the question. 9 A No, but you can go into your Outlook and type
10 Does this appear to be a printed copy of the |10 out the URL and get a website address.
11  FAIR website? 11 Q Okay. So I can go and look at the web page
12 A It does. 12 for FAIR, but I don't have an e-mail that I can
13 Q Okay, thank you. 13 1initiate a correspondence with FAIR; is that right?
14 MR. MCALILEY: Madam court reporter, I would |14 A That may be correct.
15 like to just for the record mark this as Exhibit 1 | 15 0 Thank you. Now, this website that FAIR has,
16 for the deposition today, which is a printed copy |16 did it create this web domain or did it purchase it
17 of the FAIR website. 17  from another party?
18 (Thereupon, Deposition Exhibit No. 1 18 A I guess the correct answer is purchase, but
19 is marked for identification.) 19 that is -- I am not sure that is exactly --
20 BY MR. MCALILEY: 20 MR. WRIGHT: I am going to object to the form
21 Q So Mr. Herndon, can you tell me where on this | 21 as to vagueness of the word purchase in this
22 website I can find an e-mail address for your 22 context; if you are asking if it was a
23 organization? 23 pre-existing e-mail domain, web domain that he
24 A I don't know offhand. A good portion of the |24 bought, or something else.
25 display is blocked by some instructions -- I presume to | 25 MR. MCALILEY: Okay.
Page 19 Page 21
1 you -- on how to display it. So I can't see it all. 1 MR. WRIGHT: You can continue and he can
2 Q Well, I can scroll -- I am actually -- I am 2 answer, but purchase in this context is vague.
3 seeing it pretty clearly myself. 3 MR. MCALILEY: That is fine. I understand
4 MR. MCALILEY: I will just ask other counsel, | 4 your objection.
5 are you all having trouble seeing the document? 5 BY MR. MCALILEY:
6 BY MR. MCALILEY: 6 Q Mr. Herndon, did this web address,
7 Q  Well, Mr. Herndon, nobody else spoke there. 7  FAIRFL.org, exist before Floridians Against Increased
8 Can I ask you where I would look on the FAIR 8 Rates was formed?
9 website to find an e-mail address for FAIR? 9 A Not to my knowledge, no.
10 A Well, you know, I mean, I guess if you looked | 10 Q Okay. So are you aware that that website
11  at the bottom of the page you would see a website 11  formally was used by a group called the Florida
12 address. Is that sufficient, or are you looking for 12 Association for Insurance Reform?
13 something else? 13 A No, I am not.
14 Q I am looking for an e-mail address. Not the |14 Q  Are you aware that your website previously
15  website domain, but the e-mail address. 15 was used by a group called Floridians Against Injustice
16 A I am looking at a better copy that I have in |16 to Residents of Manufactured Homes?
17 my hand, and I do not see a noticed e-mail address. I |17 A No, I am not.
18 do see the website address on a couple of locations. 18 Q Okay. So when did Floridians Against
19 Q Okay, but I am focused on an e-mail address. |19 Increased Rates first acquire the rights to that web
20 As you sit here today, sir, are you aware 20  domain, FAIRFL.org?
21  that FAIR has its own e-mail address? 21 A I don't know the answer to that.
22 A I am not sure I understand your question. 22 Q  Was it before or after your organization was
23 What do you mean? 23 created?
24 Q  Does your organization have an e-mail address | 24 A Slightly after.
25  that somebody can send an e-mail to it? 25 Q You said slightly. What do you mean by that?
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1 A I mean we were organized, and as part of that | 1 A I don't know.

2 organizational effort we asked one of the consultants 2 0 Does FAIR have a Twitter account?

3 to FAIR to create and populate the website. 3 A I don't know.

4 Q Okay. Which consultant was that? 4 Q Does FAIR have a bank account?

5 A John Sowinski. 5 A Yes.

6 Q John Sowinski. Can you spell that? 6 Q  And what is FAIR's annual budget?

7 A S-0-W-I-N-S-K-I I believe is the correct 7 A T couldn't tell you. I don't know.

8  spelling. 8 Q  What is FAIR's fiscal year?

9 Q  When did Floridians Against Increased Rates 9 A I believe it's the calendar year.

10 first put up the website that we see today when we go 10 Q  And what is the basis for that belief?
11  that web domain? 11 A That is a normal practice, and in this
12 A I don't know the actual date. 12 instance given the creation of the organization that
13 Q  Are you aware that if you put in a web domain | 13  would have made sense at the time.
14  into the Google search bar, it will give you the date 14 Q Okay. So it sounds like you don't know, but
15  that the website came up? Are you aware of that? 15 that is just what you think would likely be the fiscal
16 A No, I amnot. If that is the case, you ought | 16 year; is that fair to say?
17  to go ahead and do it. 17 A Yes.
18 Q When I have gone and typed it in, I get 18 Q So when was Floridians Against Increased
19  April 13, 2021. Does that sound about right for when 19 Rates, Inc., incorporated?
20  this website went up? 20 A I would have to look at the Articles of
21 A I really don't have any idea. I am sorry. 21  Incorporation, which is one of the exhibits attached to
22 Q  Ckay. That is quite all right. 22 my testimony. I don't remember the date off the top of
23 So am I right then that you are -- the FAIR 23 my head. I can look it up if you would like, or you
24  website consists of a single page of content? It's 24 can.
25 just, like, one page that describes what the 25 Q  Why don't I put up the Articles of
Page 23 Page 25

1 organization is about? 1 Incorporation just so we make a good record, and we
2 A When you say a single page, when I printed 2 will have this as an exhibit.

3  out a copy of the content on the website it came out to | 3 So what I am going to do now is share my
4 two pages. 4  screen again and -- so can you see up on the screen

5 Q Okay. But if I go on the internet and I look | 5 there I have -- it's the -- it's Floridians Against

6 at it, it's just one page that I can scroll up and down | 6 Increased Rates, Inc., Response to FPL's Request for

7 on but, there is not multiple pages of concept at that 7  Production of Documents No. 3. Do you see that there

8 website, is there? 8 on the screen?

9 A Well, two is multiple if you ask me; but if 9 A Well, again -- I am sorry. Apparently I am
10 you are trying to suggest that there aren't hundreds of | 10 the only one that does this or has this, but there is a
11  pages, that is correct. 11  Dblock of some sort that has within it the wording
12 Q There is only one page, correct? 12 "Customize your view by dragging one other more videos
13 A I see two when I print it. I don't know 13 to the stage. Got it." And then there is little
14  where the page break is on the screen. 14 figures, and it's blocking a portion of the text, the
15 Q Okay. So when I go to the FAIR website, I 15 content that you are referring to.

16  see there is a form that somebody can fill out to 16 I am not disputing what you are saying, but I
17  request to become a member of the organization; isn't 17 am telling you that that exists on my screen.

18  that right? 18 Q You can't see anything that I am putting up
19 A Yes. 19 on the screen?

20 Q Is that website form the primary way that 20 A No, I can see quite a bit of it, but I can't

21  people join FAIR? 21 see all of it.

22 A Yes. 22 MR. REHWINKEL: Neal, this Charles Rehwinkel.

23 Q  Ckay, I am going to take this off the screen. |23 I think if you click on the "got it" thing, I

24 So Mr. Herndon, does FAIR also have a 24 think it will go away for everybody.

25  Facebook page? 25 MR. MCALILEY: I think the witness needs to
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1 click on it. 1 indicated it had met once to go over the Articles of
2 THE WITNESS: Yes, that made it go away. 2 Incorporation and the bylaws.
3 MR. MCALILEY: Thank you, Charles. 3 Was that meeting before the Articles of
4 Again, this is our new virtual world we have 4 Incorporation were filed with the Secretary of State to
5 come into in the last two years, so bit-by-bit we 5  the best of your knowledge?
6 are working our way through it. Thank you. 6 A I believe so, but I don't remember the exact
7 Madam court reporter, I would like to mark as | 7 date.
8 Exhibit 2 -- this would be FAIR's Response to 8 Q Okay, thank you.
9 FPL's Request for Production No. 3. 9 Mr. Herndon, when did Florida Power & Light
10 (Thereupon, Deposition Exhibit No. 2 10 submit its rate petition to the Public Service
11 is marked for identification.) 11  Commission that is the subject of this proceeding?
12 BY MR. MCALILEY: 12 A Sometime in April as I recall.
13 Q I am going to scroll down. 13 Q Okay. So do you believe that Floridians
14 Am I right, Mr. Herndon, on the second page 14  Rgainst Increased Rates was incorporated before FPL
15 this is the start of the Articles of Incorporation for |15 filed its rate petition?
16 Floridians Against Increased Rates? 16 A That would be correct if my recollection of
17 A Yes. If the wording Articles of 17  the dates is correct.
18  Incorporation of Floridians Against Increased Rates 18 Q Okay. As you sit here today, is it your best
19 signifies the start of the articles, then yes. 19 recollection that Floridians Against Increased Rates
20 Q So does this appear from on the screen here 20 was incorporated before FPL filed its rate petition?
21  to be a copy of the Articles of Incorporation of FAIR? |21 A My recollection of the dates is that based on
22 A It does. 22 these Articles of Incorporation they were filed before
23 Q Thank you. So, sir, do you see it has both a | 23  the rate case, MFRs and so forth were filed.
24  fax stamp and a file stamp on this page showing 24 But it was also something that virtually
25 March 16, 20217 25 every party on this phone call was aware of. And I am
Page 27 Page 29
1 A Yes. 1 trying to remember when Mr. Silagy's letter was sent, I
2 Q Does that appear to be the date that 2 don't remember, but it was a notification of intent to
3 Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc., was 3  file a rate case. I don't remember what the date was.
4 incorporated? 4 Q Okay. So if I wanted to know the date when
5 A That would be my expectation, yes. 5 FPL filed its petition, I should look at the rate
6 Q Would you agree with me that a corporation 6 petition, right, the letter that was sent to the Public
7 doesn't exist before you file Articles of Incorporation | 7  Service Commission?
8 with the Secretary of State? 8 A Yes, that would be it.
9 MR. WRIGHT: Object to the extent it calls 9 Q  Okay, I am going to stop sharing this
10 for legal conclusion, but he can answer. He 10 document and open up another document here.
11 probably knows. 11 Sir, I have just put up another document
12 THE WITNESS: You know, in an official 12 here, which is a letter from FPL to Adam Teitzman, the
13 context you are correct that it does not exist -- |13 commission clerk at the Public Service Commission,
14 or it certainly can exist in a physical sense 14  dated March 12, and I am scrolling down.
15 prior to the articles being filed. 15 Do you see where it says, "Enclosed for
16 BY MR. MCALILEY: 16 filing on behalf of FPL in the above-referenced docket
17 Q What do you mean in a physical sense? 17 is FPL's petition for base rate increase and rate
18 A Well, I mean the parties could get together 18 unification"?
19  and decide to create a corporation and, you know, 19 A I see that.
20 authorize its articles to be filed and review a draft 20 Q Do you see if I go up to the top of the
21 of the articles and, you know, have a physical 21  document, this document was file stamped March 12,
22  expectation and presence but not having filed it at 22 2021?
23 that point. 23 A Yes.
24 Q So Mr. Herndon, earlier I asked you about 24 Q Would you agree with me that the date that
25  whether the board of directors had met, and you 25  the petition was filed by FPL was the date that the
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1 proceeding began? 1  lawful means, whether it's before the commission or the
2 A Yes. 2 legislature or city or county government or other
3 MR. MCALILEY: Okay. Madam court reporter, 3 organization, you know, our view of what behaviors are
4 for the record I would like to mark this as 4  appropriate by regulating utilities in the State of
5 Exhibit 3. This is FPL's Petition to the POC 5 Florida.
6 dated March 12, 2021. 6 Q  Was FAIR created for this specific purpose of
7 (Thereupon, Deposition Exhibit No. 3 7  intervening in this rate case?
8 is marked for identification.) 8 A No.
9 BY MR. MCALILEY: 9 Q Okay. By the way, who prepared FAIR's
10 Q I will take this document down, Mr. Herndon. |10 responses to FPL's written interrogatories?
11 We don't need to be continuing to look at it. 11 A I would assume that it was done by the
12 Mr. Herndon, so you would agree with me that |12 attorneys of Gardner Bist.
13 Floridians Against Increased Rates was incorporated 13 Q0  And the attorneys at Gardner Bist, that is
14 after FPL filed its rate petition, right? 14  your law firm, right?
15 A Yes, four days later. 15 A Well, it's not my law firm, but it's the law
16 0 When did Floridians -- 16 firm that is working on FAIR's behalf.
17 A It's important to make a point here; that is, |17 MR. MCALILEY: Okay, I would like to share
18  that the Articles of Incorporation were filed four days | 18 another document here.
19 later, but that does not mean that they were created 19 I would like to mark this as Exhibit 4. This
20 and drafted at the same day. They were created and 20 is FAIR's Responses to FPL's First Set of
21 drafted prior to the actual filing date of the FPL 21 Interrogatories.
22 petition. 22 And I will just represent to counsel, this is
23 Q Thank you. The corporation isn't recognized | 23 the copy that was provided by counsel for FAIR to
24  1in the State of Florida until the Articles of 24 FPL.
25  Incorporation are filed with the Secretary of State, 25 MR. WRIGHT: Okay. This is just

Page 31 Page 33
1 right? 1 Interrogatory No. 18. I was just going to ask if
2 A I am sure that is true legally. 2 you are submitting -- making an exhibit the whole
3 Q Okay. So Mr. Herndon, when did FAIR first 3 thing, or just 18 for now?
4  consult with potential witnesses for this proceeding? 4 MR. MCALILEY: Counsel, I haven't broken
5 A I don't have any idea. 5 these out into separate documents, so it's a
6 Q Okay. Are you aware that FAIR responded to 6 single document. So when I send in an exhibit to
7 written interrogatories that were propounded by Florida | 7 the court reporter and copy you on it, it will
8 Power & Light? 8 have all the answers there. That way there is
9 A Yes. 9 just the single exhibit here.
10 Q  Have you looked at those interrogatory 10 MR. WRIGHT: That is fine. I just wanted to
11  answers prior to today? 11 know what the exhibit was going to be. Thank you.
12 A No. 12 MR. MCALILEY: You are welcome.
13 Q Have you ever seen those responses to 13 (Thereupon, Deposition Exhibit No. 4
14  interrogatories? 14 is marked for identification.)
15 A I am aware they exist, but I haven't read 15 BY MR. MCALILEY:
16  them. 16 0 So Mr. Herndon, can you see on the screen
17 Q Do you have any reason to believe that those |17 there Interrogatory No. 18? It says, "Question: Was
18  interrogatory answers are incorrect or inaccurate? 18  FAIR created, in whole or in part, for the purpose of
19 A I have no reason to believe one way or the 19 intervention in this proceeding?"
20  other. 20 A I see the question, yes.
21 Q So Mr. Herndon, why was Floridians Against 21 Q  And then you see the response -- I will have
22 Increased Rates, Inc., created? 22 to scroll down --
23 A To try and advocate on behalf of the citizens | 23 A Please do.
24  of Florida against increased and unnecessary rates and | 24 Q The first paragraph is objections, and the
25  to try and put forth as a means of advocacy by any 25  second paragraph is an indented quote from the
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1 commission's intervention order. 1  Power customers or anybody else's customers. We are
2 Do you see the third paragraph where it says, | 2 going to look to the interests of all of the citizens
3 "Yes, in part"? I will highlight that to make it 3 of the State of Florida.
4  easier to see. Can you see it, sir? 4 Q Now, Mr. Herndon, FAIR has members that are
5 A Yes, I can. 5  customers of Tampa Electric Company, doesn't it?
6 Q Would you agree with me that part of the 6 A I believe so, yes.
7 reason that FAIR was created was specifically to 7 Q Are you aware that the Tampa Electric Company
8 intervene in this proceeding? 8 has submitted its own rate petition and currently it is
9 A Yes. 9 an open docket in front of the commission?
10 Q Thank you. 10 A No.
11 A I might add that is not the question you 11 Q Has FAIR intervened or sought to intervene in
12 asked me a few minutes ago. 12 the Tampa Electric rate proceeding?
13 Q Okay. I apologize if I asked a bad question. |13 A No.
14 A I believe you asked me if it was created 14 Q  Why?
15 solely to intervene in this rate case, and I said no. 15 A I am not aware of any rate proceeding, but
16 Q But FAIR was created, in part, for the 16 it's certainly something we will look into.
17  specific purpose of intervening in this FPL rate case; |17 Q You are not even aware that there is another
18  isn't that right? 18  rate proceeding with an open docket?
19 A Yes. 19 A No, I am not.
20 Q And what are the other reasons that FAIR was | 20 Q Mr. Herndon, are the purposes of FAIR set
21 created? 21 forth in the Articles of Incorporation?
22 A As I enumerated a minute ago, it would be to |22 A Yes, as a general comment they are.
23 represent the interests of the citizens of Florida in 23 Q  Are there any purposes of FAIR that are not
24  various activities that are antithetical to the 24  set forth in the Articles of Incorporation?
25 citizens' interests that would be before the 25 A I would have to take a look at the purposes
Page 35 Page 37
1 legislature, before a city counsel, a county 1 that are set forth in the articles and then address
2 commission, a water management district. 2 your question. But, you know, my recollection and
3 There are a variety of places where electric 3 impression is that by and large the purposes set forth
4 utilities -- regulated electric utilities -- could be 4 in the articles are the full gamut of purposes that
5 misbehaving, and it's our intent to be involved in 5  FAIR pursues.
6 those if we see fit. 6 Q Okay. Did you help write the Statement of
7 Q Is FAIR involved in any other proceeding 7  Purposes for the corporation?

8 other than this one that involves FPL? 8 A In a manner of speaking. They were drafted
9 A Not at this time. That does not preclude us 9 by counsel, and the board members looked at them. I
10 from being so in the future. 10 don't recall whether I made any specific additions or

11 Q  Okay. And FAIR, though, was created four 11  deletions or modifications, but it's possible.

12 days after FPL filed its rate petition, right? 12 MR. MCALILEY: Okay. So Mr. Herndon, I try
13 A The Articles of Incorporation were filed four | 13 to always take a break about every hour, for no
14 days after FPL filed its paperwork. 14 other reason than to stretch my legs and also to
15 Q Thank you. And it was -- am I right, by the |15 give the court reporter a break, because she has
16 way, that it was FAIR's board of directors that made 16 the hardest job here of anybody, and I am at a
17  the decision to intervene in this case? 17 natural breaking point.

18 A Yes. 18 Would you be okay if we took, let's say, a
19 Q And none of those members of the board or 19 five-minute break now just so people can stretch
20  directors of FAIR are FPL customers, are they, to your |20 their legs.

21  knowledge? 21 THE WITNESS: Sure.

22 A Not to my knowledge, but that has very little |22 MR. MCALILEY: Madam court reporter, is that
23 to do with the fact that FAIR is designed and created 23 enough time for you?

24 to represent the interests of the citizens of the State | 24 THE REPORTER: That is fine.

25 of Florida, whether they are FPL customers or Gulf 25 (Thereupon, there is a short break.)
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1 BY MR. MCALILEY: 1  documents from FAIR to FPL in response to Request for
2 Q I want to turn now to FAIR's membership, sir. 2 Production. There is more documents in this Exhibit 2,
3 Does FAIR have individuals that it considers 3  and I am going to scroll down.
4  to be members? 4 Now I am on Page 10 of this document. Do you
5 A Yes. 5 see on the screen there it says Bylaws of Floridians
6 Q Is membership addressed in the Articles of 6 Against Increased Rates, Inc.?
7  Incorporation of FAIR? 7 A Yes.
8 A I am not sure I understand what you mean. 8 Q So I want to -- what I would like to do is
9 When you say addressed, what are you trying to say? 9 focus here on Article II - Members. Do you see that on
10 Q  Well, is the -- in the Articles of 10  the screen?
11  Incorporation of FAIR, does it contemplate there will 11 A Yes.
12 Dbe members of the corporation? 12 Q By the way, does this appear to be a true and
13 A Yes. 13 correct copy of FAIR's bylaws?
14 Q So what I would like to do here is go back to | 14 A Without having read every page of it, yes.
15 what I previously marked as Exhibit No. 2, which is the |15 Q Okay. So you see there Article II, Section 1
16  response of FAIR to the FPL's Request for Production, 16 says "Qualifications of Membership". Let me read that
17 and this is No. 3, and this is where we looked at the 17  first paragraph aloud.
18  Articles of Incorporation. 18 It says, "Persons eligible for membership in
19 Can you see that up on the screen there? Can |19 the corporation shall consist of individuals 18 years
20 you see that, Mr. Herndon? 20 of age or older or entities elected to membership by a
21 A Yes. 21 majority vote of the board of directors or committee
22 Q Do you see the first page there the Articles |22 thereof as may be designated by the board of
23 of Incorporation -- and I am going to scroll down -- 23 directors."
24  Article IV, can you see that on the screen where it 24 Did I read that right?
25 says Article IV - Members? 25 A Yes.

Page 39 Page 41
1 A Yes. 1 Q And then you see that the next paragraph has
2 Q  And I want to read this aloud. "Membership 2 three bullets in it. It says, "To be eligible for
3 in the corporation shall be comprised of one or more 3 membership the individual or entity must:" and the
4 classes of membership admitted in such manner as set 4 first bullet says "Be a retail customer of an
5 forth in the bylaws and members shall have all the 5 investor-owned utility in the State of Florida and
6 rights and privileges of members of the corporation as 6 provide the board of directors with the address in
7 outlined in the bylaws." 7  which the individual or entity receives such service."
8 Did I read that right? 8 Second bullet, "Represent to the board of
9 A Yes. 9 directors that they support the proposition that the
10 Q Do you see where it says there in the 10 electric customers of Florida should enjoy the lowest
11  Articles of Incorporation that members have to be 11 possible electric rates so long as such rates are
12 admitted? 12 sufficient to support safe and reliable electrical
13 A Yes. 13 service."
14 Q0  So am I right that in order to become a 14 Then there is a third bullet, "Agree that the
15  member of FAIR, the organization has to admit a person |15 corporation can represent them through its board of
16  to be a member? 16 directors in the quest for the lowest possible electric
17 A Yes, that is what the word says. 17 rates, provided that such rates will support safe and
18 Q Okay. And so am I right that it's the board |18 reliable electrical service."
19  of directors that decides which persons will be 19 Did I read that right?
20 admitted as members? 20 A Yes.
21 A I would have to go back and look at the form |21 Q So am I right then in the bylaws Article II,
22 that is submitted by individuals, but I think as a 22 Section 1, describes who is eligible to become a member
23 general comment that is still correct. 23  of FAIR, and then the board of directors votes to
24 Q  Okay. Sir, in this document which is -- 24 decide who is admitted into membership?
25 which I have marked as Exhibit 2, this was responsive 25 A Yes.
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1 0] So am I right in reading this that any adult 1 they choose. 1In this case they signed what amounts to
2 or entity who is a customer of an investor-owned 2 a petition asking FAIR to represent them.
3 utility is potentially eligible to become a member of 3 Q Okay, but my question was a little different.
4  FAIR? 4 Did the board of directors ask FAIR's members
5 A Assuming they are 18 years of age or older, 5 what they thought about whether there should be --
6 yes. 6 whether the organization should file a petition to
7 Q So somebody who is younger than 18, they are 7  intervene?
8 not even eligible to be a member of FAIR, right? 8 A I would have to go back and look at the form,
9 A That is the way I read it. 9 but my recollection is that by agreeing to become a
10 Q  And you are on the board of directors of 10 member they authorized the board to pursue intervention
11  FAIR, right? 11  as it sees fit.
12 Yes. 12 0 But is there some kind of -- was there some
13 Q0  And the board of directors voted and approved | 13  kind of vote by the membership whether to intervene in
14  these bylaws, right? 14  this case?
15 A Yes. 15 A By the membership, no, except to the extent
16 Q So do you believe that FAIR represents the 16  that they signed the form authorizing the board to act
17  interests of all FPL rate bearers? 17 on their behalf.
18 A I am not sure how to answer that question. I |18 Q Okay. Do the members of FAIR have any right
19  believe that FAIR intends to represent the interests of | 19 to decide the corporation's litigation strategy in this
20 all citizens of the State of Florida 18 years or older |20 proceeding?
21  who are members of or -- I shouldn't say members -- who |21 A You used the word to decide. The answer is
22 are retail customers of investor-owned utilities. 22 no. If they wish to express an opinion, they are
23 Q Okay, fair enough. 23 certainly entitled to do that and may very well at some
24 So Mr. Herndon, what roles do members play in |24 point express an opinion and it may be adopted by
25  the operation of FAIR? 25  FAIR's counsel or board of directors. But to decide,
Page 43 Page 45
1 A I am not sure how to answer your question. I 1 no.
2 don't know what you mean by what roles. 2 Q How would -- so how does FAIR communicate
3 Q Well, let me break it down. Are members of 3 with its members?
4  FAIR shareholders of the corporation? 4 A E-mail.
5 A No. 5 Q Okay. FAIR doesn't have an e-mail address
6 Q Do members have the right to select their 6 though, right? Remember I asked you those questions
7  board of directors? 7  before the break?
8 A No. 8 A Sure.
9 Q Do -- by the way, who chooses the board of 9 Q So if I am a member and I want to figure out
10  directors? 10 how to contact FAIR, how do I contact FAIR?
11 A Board of directors. 11 A Probably by going to the web address and to
12 Q So you choose yourself? 12 reach out to us through that means.
13 A To a certain extent, yes, that is true. Yes. |13 0 How does one go on the web address and reach
14 Q Do FAIR's members have a right to decide 14 out to FAIR other than just to fill out that form that
15  whether the organization will file a petition to 15 you have on the website?
16  intervene -- 16 A Well, in the process of filling out the form
17 A No. 17 I would say can somebody please give me a call, I would
18 Q -- in this proceeding? 18 like to talk to somebody at FAIR's office. You can do
19 So am I right that FAIR's members had no role |19  that.
20 in the decision to file the petition to intervene in 20 Q Okay. I would like to go back to what I
21  this rate proceeding? 21  previously marked as Exhibit No. 1., which was a copy
22 A Only to the extent that FAIR's members are 22 of the website.
23 identified and are represented to the Public Service 23 Do you see that up on the screen?
24 Commission as customers of in this case FPL and 24 Yes.
25 therefore are entitled to representation by whomever 25 Q Can I ask where on the website somebody could
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1 put in a note or a message to say somebody please give 1 Q So let's talk about e-mail correspondence

2 me a call or here is what I think you should argue in 2 here. Has FAIR e-mailed any of its members?

3 the case or anything? 3 A Yes.

4 A Well, quite frankly since there are lots of 4 Q How many times has FAIR e-mailed its members?

5 places that are blank that you can put some sort of 5 A To the best of my recollection once. That

6 request for contact, you know. And if you need me to 6 was to all the members that were current at that

7 do it on an individual line-by-line basis -- I mean, 7  time -- so weeks ago -- and we have another e-mail in

8 there is a lot of blank spaces. You have to 8  the works.

9  acknowledge that, that somebody could write in please 9 Q Okay. So just to make sure I have got this
10 give me a call. 10 straight, there has been -- to your knowledge there has
11 Q No, I think -- I would like to ask questions |11 been one e-mail sent to FAIR'S members to date?

12 to have a clear record. 12 A Yes.

13 So where are the blanks that you would be 13 0 And am I right that -- and can you tell me

14 able to put up a question or statement give me a call? |14 about that e-mail? What was the occasion for that

15  Where would you write it there? 15 e-mail to the members?

16 A The first one where it says your name, Tom 16 A I am not aware of any particular occasion.

17 Herndon, by the way somebody give me a call. Select 17 It wasn't celebrating anybody's birthday or anything

18  your electric utility, FPL, will somebody give me a 18 like that, it was just a notice to the members that we

19  call. 19 were acting as representatives in the petition and --

20 Same thing for the address, somebody give me |20 Q Okay. So -- and did you see that e-mail

21 a call. Same thing with the city line or e-mail that 21  communication to the members before it went out?

22 they are providing to us, can you give me a shout out. |22 A I did, but frankly I don't remember much of

23 I mean, you can put it in every single one of |23  what was in it.

24  those spaces as near as I can sell. 24 MR. MCALILEY: Okay. So what I would like to

25 Q Okay. So in other words, somebody would 25 do is share my screen again for another exhibit.
Page 47 Page 49

1 write in on the fields in the website different 1 T will put up on the screen here what I will mark

2 information than it asks for on the website, and that 2 as Exhibit 5, which is FAIR's Response to FPL's

3 would be a way to communicate with FAIR? 3 Request for Production No. 4.

4 A Well, it is one way. The other way I guess 4 (Thereupon, Deposition Exhibit No. d5

5 would be to, you know, address a letter or what have 5 is marked for identification.)

6 you to the address that is listed on the second page. 6 BY MR. MCALILEY:

7 Q So somebody could send a letter to the 7 Q So this was provided by your counsel, and I

8 organization at that street address, right? 8 am going to scroll down here.

9 A Yes. 9 There is a number of different documents --
10 Q0  And am I right that people can't call FAIR 10 not a number -- there is several different documents
11  because FAIR doesn't have a phone number? 11  attached in here. I am going to go down to a document
12 A FAIR does not have a phone number at the 12 I think may be that communication.

13 present time. 13 Sir, I have up on the screen there -- this is
14 Q  Would you agree with me, by the way, that the |14 Page 12 of the PDF I just marked as Exhibit 5. This is
15  website is the primary way FAIR communicates with its 15 FAIR's Response to FPL's Request for Production No. 4.

16  members? 16 This is some kind of communication to members of FAIR.

17 A I think the primary way FAIR communicates is |17 Do you see that on the screen?

18 via e-mail to the members whose names we have and 18 A Yes, I do.

19 e-mails that we have in terms of a two-way 19 Q Does this appear to be the substance of that

20  communication process. 20  e-mail communication to FAIR's members that you just

21 Q There is no obvious way to do a two-way 21 testified about?

22 communication by e-mail based on the FAIR's website, 22 A Yes.

23 right? 23 0 So what caused FAIR to send this e-mail

24 A You are correct in that sense, there is no 24  communication?

25 obvious way, and that is something we need to address. |25 A I think the most obvious fact was that we
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1 were notifying the membership that these public 1 over the telephone?

2 hearings were going to take place as hosted by the PSC 2 A Not that I am aware of. I know that we did

3 and make them aware of it and encourage them to speak 3 corroborate the data submitted by the members via phone

4 up if they were comfortable doing so. 4 call, but I don't think that was all of them. I think

5 Q And to the best of your knowledge this 5 it was a sample of them.

6 communication was sent by e-mail as opposed to by 6 Q  Am I right that is the work that Ms. Watkins

7  regular U.S. mail, right? 7 did?

8 A That is my understanding. 8 A That is my understanding, vyes.

9 Q So this document doesn't look like a typical 9 0 Okay. So I know that she is also a witness,
10 e-mail I see printed. There is no from, there is no 10 and I am going to take her deposition in a few weeks so
11  to, no date stamp or anything. Do you know why that 11 I will save those questions for her.

12 is? 12 A Okay.
13 A No, I hadn't noticed it until you pointed it |13 0 Has FAIR had any in-person meetings with its
14 out. 14  members?
15 6] What e-mail account was this e-mail sent 15 A No.
16 from? 16 Q Do FAIR's members pay dues?
17 A I am not sure. It might have been from 17 A No.
18 Mr. Sowinski's account, the media consultant, but I am |18 Q Are FAIR's members required to make any kind
19 not sure about that. 19 of financial contribution to the corporation?
20 Q What date was this sent? 20 A No.
21 A Can you show up some more? 21 Q Am I right in understanding FAIR is designed
22 Q I am at the top of the document. 22 to operate without any kind of monetary contribution
23 A 2And the e-mail -- it indicates that sign-up 23 from its members?
24  starts at 9:00 a.m. tomorrow, Thursday, June 10. So it |24 A I am not sure what you mean by that. I
25  was probably send on Wednesday, June 9. 25  thought I just answered that question, but --
Page 51 Page 53

1 0 Okay. But you are reaching that conclusion 1 0 Well, does FAIR need financial contribution

2 just based on reading this document, right? 2 from its members to operate?

3 A Well, yes. How else would I -- I mean, if it | 3 A We have no plans to ever ask for

4 had a date stamp on it, that would tell me something; 4 contributions from our members.

5 but yes, I am reading the document, and that seems to 5 Q And FAIR has sufficient funds to operate

6 be what it says. 6 without asking its members for money, right?

7 Q But you have no independent recollection as 7 A I guess that remains to be seen, but we don't

8 you sit here today that that was the date it was sent, 8 plan to do it.

9 right? 9 Q  Well, am I right -- am I right that FAIR has
10 A No. 10 never issued any written request to any person
11 Q  Am I right that other than -- that this 11  soliciting funds?

12 June 9, 2021, e-mail, FAIR has not sent any other 12 A Yes, I am not aware of any solicitation

13 e-mails to its members? 13 effort on the part of FAIR to our members.

14 A That is correct. Although as I indicated 14 Q  Well, my question was more general. Am I
15 before, there is -- I know there is another one in 15 right that FAIR has never made any request for

16  progress. 16 contribution to any person?

17 Q Okay. Has FAIR ever sent any communications |17 THE WITNESS: Can I ask you a question?

18  to its members by U.S. mail, the old-fashioned kind of |18 MR. WRIGHT: Not really.

19 mail? 19 THE WITNESS: Is a person a corporation?

20 A Not that I am aware of. 20 BY MR. MCALILEY:

21 Q Does FAIR communicate with its members by 21 Q Sure. I mean, if you are saying the person
22 telephone? 22 asked. Yes, that would include in a person a

23 A No, that would be a little arduous since 23 corporation.

24  there is over 700 of them. 24 A But are you speaking because that is in your
25 Q So FAIR has never called its members, right, |25 best interests, or is that the best answer you can
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1 give? 1 record here, you have instructed the witness not
2 Q No, I am just trying to get the answer. I am | 2 to answer. Is there any evidentiary privilege or

3 trying to understand whether I am correct in my 3 court order that is the basis of your instruction
4 understanding that FAIR has never made any kind of 4 to the witness not to answer?

5 written solicitation for funds to anybody. Not just 5 MR. WRIGHT: I am not asserting it on the

6 members, but anybody. 6 grounds of privilege, I am asserting it on the

7 MR. WRIGHT: I object to the question on the 7 grounds it's completely irrelevant to any issue in

8 grounds of relevance. Not relevant to any 8 this case and there is no legal requirement that

9 standing criteria and in Florida law. 9 we disclose it.

10 You can answer the question as far as you 10 MR. MCALILEY: Counsel, I would just remind
11 have asked it. 11 you that I litigate all the time. Lawyers don't
12 THE WITNESS: I am not aware of any request 12 instruct witnesses not to answer unless there is a
13 for donation or contributions aimed at an 13 privilege or there is a court order that says they
14 individual. 14 don't have to answer.
15 BY MR. MCALILEY: 15 Just to be clear, you are still instructing
16 Q Okay. Have there been any requests or 16 your witness not to answer this question, right?
17 solicitations of funds to anybody in a group to support | 17 MR. WRIGHT: That is correct.
18  FAIR? 18 BY MR. MCALILEY:
19 MR. WRIGHT: Same cbjection. Object to 19 Q  Mr. Herndon, so it's fair to say based upon
20 relevance. 20  this last question and answer here that FAIR is funded
21 You can answer the question as asked if you 21 by individuals or organizations that you are unwilling
22 are able. 22 to identify; is that right?
23 THE WITNESS: I don't know of any such 23 MR. WRIGHT: Object to relevance.
24 request to individuals in a group, no. 24 THE WITNESS: Can you repeat the question?
25 25

Page 55 Page 57

1 BY MR. MCALILEY: 1 BY MR. MCALILEY:

2 0 And you are one of three members of the 2 0 Yes. FAIR is funded by individuals or

3 board, right? 3 corporations that you are unwilling to identify, right?

4 A Yes. 4 A I am not aware of any obligation that we have

5 Q And you are the secretary of the corporation, | 5 to disclose our donors. If you can point it out to me,

6 right? 6 Counselor, maybe I would be willing to answer your

7 A Yes. 7 question, but until then I am not aware of any

8 Q So if Floridians Against Rate Increase, Inc., | 8 obligation that we have to disclose.

9 solicits money to support its involvement in this 9 Q But my question is different. I asked you a
10  docket, you are the kind of person that should know 10 moment ago who is funding FAIR behind the scenes. Your
11  about it, right? 11  lawyer said don't answer the question. Now I am asking
12 A Yes. 12 a different question.

13 Q Have any members of FAIR actually contributed | 13 The different question is -- just to

14  money to the corporation? 14 confirm -- FAIR is funded by organizations that you are
15 A Not that I know of, no. We make it very 15 refusing to disclose, right?

16 clear in our application that we don't intend to ever 16 MR. WRIGHT: Objection, relevance. I have

17 ask for it. 17 instructed him not to answer.

18 Q So FAIR's finances operate completely 18 If you want to -- you can go ahead and ask

19  independent of its membership, right? 19 your question and he can answer it.

20 A Yes. 20 MR. MCALILEY: I just did ask the question,
21 Q  So can I ask you who is funding FAIR if it's |21 Counsel. Let me ask it again, and I ask you not
22 not the members? 22 to coach the witness. You are telling him not to
23 MR. WRIGHT: Objection, relevance. It's 23 answer in violation of rules. You can do that and
24 irrelevant, and I instruct him not to answer. 24 we can take whatever action we think appropriate
25 MR. MCALILEY: Counsel, just so we make a 25 with the commission in the conduct of a
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1 deposition. So you have made your objection. I 1 Q Okay. And --

2 am just trying to get this clear. 2 A There was -- let me finish. I am sorry.

3 BY MR. MCALILEY: 3 There was discussion about running up some
4 Q Sir, you are unwilling to identify in this 4 gocial media sites. I don't know off the top of my

5 deposition who is funding FAIR, right? 5  head whether that was accomplished or not. It may have

6 A Well, can you tell me what rules might apply 6 been, in which case that would be additive to the

7 in a situation like this? You just mentioned that I 7 website and word of mouth, but I just don't know the

8 was unwilling, and therefore I am not in compliance 8 answer.

9 with the rules or words to that effect. I am not aware | 9 Q  Okay. So just to make sure I got it straight
10 of any rules that require me to answer. If you can 10 how FAIR recruits its members, it recruits it through
11  tell me, I might consider it. 11  the website and through word of mouth, and what other
12 Q Sir, I mean -- by the way, my statements 12 method? Maybe social media, maybe not? Do I have that
13 about the rules are directed to your counsel. As 13 right?

14  lawyers we have rules that guide us. You are the 14 A Yes, if there are websites and so forth

15 witness. So that was not directed to you. 15  through social media that have been turned on, then

16 I am -- we are here in a deposition. We ask |16 they are also recruitment tools.

17 questions and we try to gather information in 17 Q But you have never been to the Facebook page

18  depositions. So -- and discovery is broad. 18  for FAIR, have you?

19 So we are just -- I am just trying to 19 A I have not. I don't do Facebook, period.

20  understand who is funding FAIR if it's not the members. | 20 Q  And you never have been to the Twitter page

21 Your counsel told you don't answer that. Fine. I just |21 for FAIR, have you?

22 want to confirm you are not saying today who is funding | 22 A I don't do Twitter either, ever.

23 FAIR, right? 23 0] Good for you. I don't either.

24 A I am not saying today who is funding FAIR. 24 A It saves me a lot of angst.

25 Q0  And FAIR does not publically disclose who its | 25 Q  When you say people were recruited by the
Page 59 Page 61

1 donors are, correct? 1 website, am I right that people just happen upon your

2 A That is correct. 2 website and just decide to fill out the form? Is that

3 Q I can't go to the FAIR website and figure out | 3  what you mean by recruiting through the website?

4  who is giving you all the money for your organization, 4 A T am sure that probably happens from time to

5 right? 5 time, but I doubt that is the primary way people get to

6 A Right. 6 it. T suspect it's word of mouth from a member to a

7 Q  And there is no filing that FAIR does with 7  nonmember, and they go to the website and, you know --

8 the State of Florida that says here is who our donors 8 nobody likes utility rate increases, so it's not hard

9 are behind the scenes, right? 9 to figure it out.

10 A To the best of my knowledge, that is correct. |10 Q Okay. In FAIR's Response to FPL's
11 Q By the way, FAIR is paying you for your 11  Interrogatories, it indicated that the person
12 expert testimony, right? 12 responsible for recruitment of new members is John
13 A Yes. 13 Sowinski, who was the person you mentioned a little
14 Q  And FAIR is paying Ms. Watkins for her 14 while ago. Does that sound right to you?

15 services? 15 A Yes.

16 A Yes. 16 0 Who is Mr. Sowinski?

17 Q  And FAIR is paying its two other witnesses in | 17 A It's Sowinski I think. He is the media
18  this case? 18  adviser that we have contracted out of central Florida.
19 A Yes. 19 Q Is he an employee of FAIR?

20 Q FAIR has money, right? 20 A No.

21 A Yes. Just like FPL, by the way. 21 Q And why is he the person responsible for
22 Q  Ckay. So I want to turn now to the 22 recruiting new members?

23  recruiting of members, Mr. Herndon. 23 A Because that is his forte.

24 How does FAIR recruit its members? 24 Q  Am I right that FAIR has not made any
25 A Through the website, word of mouth. 25 publications, you know -- publications in a trade
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1 journal or news outlet or any other kind of publication | 1 in a massive scale along the lines that you suggest.
2 about itself? 2 Q  Are you aware of any handing out of copies of
3 A That is correct. Again, my understanding is 3 membership applications on any scale?
4 that that was to be done, but I am not aware that it 4 A No, but it wouldn't surprise me if somebody
5 has been accomplished at this point. But it was 5 out of 700-plus people didn't do that. It's certainly
6 discussed. 6 plausible.
7 Q Okay. So sir, in your direct testimony you 7 Q  When people sign up to become members of
8 testified that a copy of FAIR's basic membership 8 FAIR, are they given copies of a PDF of this
9 applications included, and you attached a copy of a 9 application or hard copy they can give to their
10 membership application in your direct testimony. Do 10 friends?
11 you remember that? 11 A I am not aware of any effort along those
12 A Yes. 12 lines. I mean, they print them out themselves.
13 Q Okay. I would like to do is -- let me see if | 13 Q Okay. Just help me understand this document
14 T can find that. 14  here, this application. How is this used?
15 I am going to share -- I don't know if you 15 A I don't understand your question.
16 can see it on the screen here, but this is a copy of 16 Q Is this membership application that is
17  your direct testimony. Do you see that there? 17 attached to your direct testimony, is this just a
18 A Yes. 18 printout of what is on the website?
19 MR. MCALILEY: All right. Madam court 19 A Essentially, yes.
20 reporter, if we can mark it as Exhibit 6. 20 Q Okay. So -- and there is no effort by FAIR
21 (Thereupon, Deposition Exhibit No. 6 21  to circulate this membership application any
22 is marked for identification.) 22 differently than what we just described, that people
23 BY MR. MCALILEY: 23 would go to the website and sign up there; am I
24 Q I want to scroll down to the back of your 24  understanding that right?
25 direct testimony, and you have some attachments. Let 25 A Yes. Although, again -- let me go back for a
Page 63 Page 65
1 me just scroll down to get to that application. 1 second. As we discussed previously, there was
2 Okay. So I am now on Page 54 of 55 of the 2 discussion about bringing up this application on
3 PDF which I just marked as Exhibit 6, which is your 3 various social media platforms as well as in trade
4 direct testimony in this proceeding. 4 publications and so forth. That might have happened.
5 Can you see that on the screen where it says 5 If it did, then I am just not aware of it. With that
6 FAIR, and in the upper right-hand corner it has the 6 caveat, the answer to your question is yes.
7  docket number and says FAIR Membership Application? 7 Q  Okay. So you don't know that this has been
8 A Yes. 8 circulated on social media, do you?
9 Q So am I right that this membership 9 A No, I don't.
10 application is substantially the same as the form on 10 Q Okay. 2And you don't know whether this has
11  the FAIR website? 11  been put in any kind of written publication or trade
12 A Yes. 12 publication, do you?
13 Q So how is this membership application 13 A No, I just said that.
14 provided to potential members? 14 Q Okay. All right. So am I right that the
15 A Go on the website and print a copy. 15 primary way that FAIR gathers information about its
16 Q Is that all this is, is a printed-out version |16 members is based upon the fields of information that
17  of what is on the website? 17 are requested on the website which are also shown here
18 A That is my understanding. I mean, it's 18 on this membership application?
19  certainly possible that somebody might have printed out | 19 A Yes.
20  some copies and handed them around to people, I don't 20 Q So does FAIR get -- I am sorry. I didn't
21 know, but yes. 21 mean to interrupt you.
22 Q  Has FAIR had any programs or efforts to hand |22 A That is all right. I didn't mean to
23 out copies of membership applications to people, like 23 interrupt you. I was going to say to a certain extent
24 hard copies of them like you just described? 24 as corroborated by Ms. Watkins in her own sampling.
25 A I am not aware of anything that is organized |25 Q  Okay. I will ask Ms. Watkins questions
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1 later. That is for another day. 1 Q And FAIR doesn't ask its members what they
2 Am I right, though, that when FAIR asked 2 think about any potential settlement of the
3 people to become members, the information that they get | 3  proceedings, does it?
4 about the person is the information that is requested 4 A Not that I am aware of, no.
5 on this application? 5 Q Does FAIR ask its members whether they
6 A That is correct. 6  support paying more in electric rates in exchange for
7 Q  And it's the same information that is on the 7  building more solar power plants?
8 website, right? 8 A Not that I am aware of, no.
9 A As far as I know. 9 0 So FAIR doesn't know whether its membership
10 Q Okay. So am I right that FAIR asks potential |10 would be willing to pay higher rates if they were to
11  members for their full name; is that right? 11 get more solar power plants as an example?
12 A Yes. 12 A Nor do we know that they would be willing to
13 0 It asks for their business name if it's a 13 get wind turbines. That is correct.
14  business? 14 0 Is it true FAIR does not collect information
15 A Yes. 15 about the utility bills?
16 Q  And it asks for their physical address? 16 A That is correct.
17 A Yes. 17 Q Because FAIR has not surveyed its members or
18 Q It asks for the city that they live? 18 collected specific information regarding their specific
19 A Yes. 19 rate schedules under which they take service from FPL,
20 Q It asks for the zip code where they live? 20  right?
21 A Yes. 21 A That is correct. I am not sure why that
22 Q It asks for the e-mail where they live? I am |22 would matter.
23 sorry, they don't live in their e-mails. It asks for 23 0 Well, this case is about the rates, FPL's
24 their e-mail, right? 24  rates, isn't it?
25 A Yes. 25 A It's about FPL's rate increase.

Page 67 Page 69
1 0 It asks for the name of their utility? 1 0 Am I right that FAIR doesn't ask on its
2 A Yes. 2 website or in this application for membership how much
3 Q So am I right that FAIR asks for no other 3 a respective member pays in its monthly bills for the
4  information from prospective members other than those 4 utility?
5 categories of information? 5 A That is my understanding.
6 A That is my understanding. 6 Q  Am I right that FAIR doesn't know how much an
7 Q  All right. And you are the secretary of the 7  individual member's electricity bills will increase as
8  corporation, so you would know, right? 8 a result of FPL's proposals?
9 A Well, you have Ms. Watkins and her folks have | 9 A I am sorry. Are you saying FAIR doesn't know
10  been sampling. They may very well have gotten 10 or --
11 additional information. I don't know that to be the 11 0 Yes.
12 case, but T am saying it's possible. At which case, 12 A We have not calculated what the increase will
13 you know, I will have to -- 13 be for each and every one of our members, but as you
14 Q0  So am I right that FAIR does not ask for 14  know there is a standard in the industry of a thousand
15 potential members their age? 15 KW customer or thereabouts that is used as a proxy for
16 A Correct. 16  that kind of calculation often, and so that is
17 Q  Am I right that FAIR doesn't ask its members |17 certainly possible that it's out there somewhere.
18  what they think about the arguments that the 18 Q But I am just trying to understand whether
19  corporation will be making in this proceeding? 19  you know how much people's bills will go up as a result
20 A By the corporation you mean FAIR? 20 of FPL's proposed rate increase. That is what I am
21 Q Yes. 21  trying to ask. I understand the concept of rates.
22 A That we don't ask them what they think 22 I also know in my house, for instance, how
23 about -- 23 much I am going to pay is a function of my rate times
24 Q Your arguments, legal arguments in this case? |24 my amount of electrical usage, right, then I get a
25 Okay. Yes, we don't ask that. 25  bill.
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1 So FAIR doesn't know what -- how much its 1 approximation of what the impact will be.
2 members' bills are going to go up as a result of this 2 Q Okay. So just to make sure -- to wrap up and
3 rate increase, right? 3 make sure I understand, FAIR doesn't know what is going
4 A FAIR does not know how much an individual 4 to happen to any person's bills. All you are able to
5 member's rates are going to go up. They do know they 5 do is extrapolate based on sort of average numbers; is
6 are going up substantially when you think about the 6  that right?
7 $6.2 billion over the next four years. 7 A That is correct.
8 And also I might add, as I indicated a moment | 8 Q Because FAIR has not asked its members how
9 ago, there has been an additional proxy within the 9 much they pay to their power utility, right?
10 industry -- and I am sure even the FPL people will 10 A That is correct. That is correct.
11  agree to this -- of using an average customer who 11 Q Does FAIR have members in the panhandle, by
12 consumes a thousand KWH per month or thereabouts, and 12 the way, in the Gulf Power territory?
13 that has always been used as a calculation factor. 13 A I don't know off the top of my head. My
14 So, I mean, I can see your point. We don't 14  guess is probably, but I don't know that for a fact.
15 understand exactly how much each and every one of our 15 Q FAIR just has one website for everybody in
16  customers rates will go up. I imagine FPL could 16 Florida. There is not a separate website for people in
17 calculate that. But we do know probably within the 17  the panhandle, right?
18  right ballpark how much the average customer's rates 18 A Not that I am aware of.
19 are going to go up. The point is we are against 19 Q Okay. So you know on the FAIR website it
20  increased rates, and we do know they are going up. 20 says FPL is proposing to increase your power rates,
21 Q Okay. But I am now focused not so much on 21 right?
22 the rates, but the bills, how much is the check I am 22 A I would have to look at the wording, but that
23 sending to my power utility. 23 is probably correct.
24 So the average residential customers in 24 Q  But in fact if you live in the panhandle, FPL
25  Miami-Dade County, how much are the bills going to go 25 1is proposing to reduce your rates, right?

Page 71 Page 73
1 up under FPL's proposal? 1 A I think that is the representation that
2 A Well, again, I can't tell you how much an 2 Mr. Silagy put forward.
3 individual Miami-Dade resident's customer rates will go | 3 Q Well, what is your understanding of the facts
4 up or bills would go up. I am using rates and bills 4  as a board member of Floridians Against Increased
5  synonymously. 5 Rates?
6 Q But I am -- 6 A My understanding is that extrapolating from
7 A You are not? 7  the average customer, a $6.2 billion increase on the
8 Q  Just to be clear, I am talking bills now. 8 part of FPL is inevitably going to spill over into Gulf
9 That is what matters to me, what is in my check that I 9 Power, and those rates will go up at some point in the
10 am sending out for my service. 10 near future.
11 Let me ask you this. If I am somebody and I |11 But if you are asking me whether I can tell
12 live in the Gulf Power territory -- so I am up in the 12 you whether Joe Smith's rates are going up or Mary
13 panhandle -- what are my bills going to look like if 13 Jones' rates are going up, I can't answer that
14 FPL's proposal is adopted? Are they going to go up or |14 question.
15 are they going to go down? 15 0 So Mr. Herndon, how are the interests
16 A Well, I think the representation by your 16  represented by FAIR different than the interests
17 witnesses, including Mr. Silagy, is that they are going | 17 represented by other parties in this case? And I guess
18  to go down, but I don't know the specifics of that 18  in particular I am focused on the Office of Public
19  argument. 19 Counsel.
20 Q Okay. Well, does FAIR know what is going to |20 A Well, I think in the broad sense our
21  happen to the rates of the people in the panhandle? 21  interests are aligned, and if you look at our positions
22 A I don't think we know individually what is 22 as a matter of policy and conclusions based on FPL's
23 going to happen to the bills or the rates of the people | 23  submissions we are very much aligned. However, we each
24 in the panhandle. Again, you can extrapolate using 24 have different points of view that in some cases are
25  that average 1,000 KWH customer and get a fair 25 not exactly the same. We have different witnesses with
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1 different levels of expertise. We have different 1 such a suggestion, right?

2 production of documents and exhibits that are aligned 2 A T do not.

3 in the broad sense but not necessarily identical 3 Q You can't say that FAIR would have paid
4  interests. That is my answer. 4 attention to it if it didn't happen? It's a

5 Q So I guess I want to distinguish here between | 5 hypothetical, right?

6 what your positions may be in this rate proceeding, 6 A Well, I think all the people that work with

7  like positions of lawyers and witnesses, distinguishing | 7 FAIR are reasonable people and we listen to suggestions

8 that and the interests that you are seeking to 8 and they can draw conclusions.

9 represent. So let me ask some questions to try to 9 Q So, sir, in your direct testimony you
10 piece out the difference here. 10 indicated that you -- even though you retired, you
11 Am I right that what the interests that FAIR |11 continue to serve as a director or board member for
12 purports to represent is the interest in its member 12 various organizations; is that right?

13 rate payers in not having their rates go up? Am I 13 A Yes.

14  saying that right? 14 Q  What organizations do you currently serve as

15 A I believe you are. 15 director or board member on other than FAIR?

16 Q Okay. So that interest is also represented 16 A Claude Pepper Foundation, Lawton Chiles

17 Dby the Office of Public Counsel, isn't it? 17 Foundation, Capital Health Plan, Helios Education

18 A Well, I think the Office of Public Counsel is |18 Foundation.

19 interested in fair, just, reasonable rates, just like 19 Q  Anything else?

20 FAIR is. That doesn't necessarily mean that they would | 20 A No.

21  always oppose a rate increase. In the past there have |21 Q You are a member of the board of an

22 been settlement agreements reached that Office of 22 organization called Citizens for Lower Electric Rate,

23 Public Counsel signed off on that increased rates. So |23 1Inc., aren't you?

24  our interests are similar, but not identical. 24 A Yes. Sorry, I forgot about that. Yes.

25 Q Okay. But it sounds like your interest 25 Q Tell me what is Citizens for Lower Electric
Page 75 Page 77

1 though -- it sounds like you are talking about your 1 Rate, Inc.?

2 positions are different. I mean, the interest of the 2 A It's an organization that was created along

3 people that you claim to represent are just interests 3 with the membership of Mr. Hightower and myself to

4 in lower rates. You may have a different legal 4  represent the interests of people who want lower

5 argument or position to take in the proceeding, but you | 5 electric rates.

6 are still -- both you and the OPC are representing the 6 Q  Am I right that Citizens for Lower Electric

7  interests of rate payers not paying more than they have | 7 Rates has substantially the same purpose as FAIR?

8 to. Do I understand the distinction here right? 8 A Yes.

9 A I would hope that that is the case. 9 Q  Am I right that the board of directors for
10 Q  Okay. By the way, FAIR's members have no say | 10 FAIR is identical to the board of directors of Citizens
11  in what witnesses will be called by FAIR in this 11  for Lower Electric Rates, Inc.?

12 proceeding, right? 12 A Yes.

13 A Well, they are not decision makers, no. 13 Q0  And am I right that Citizens for Lower

14 Q Right. So they have no say? They don't get |14 Electric Rates, Inc., was created in 2020 before FAIR
15  to decide who the witnesses are at this point? 15 was created?

16 A As we talked about earlier, I mean, I feel 16 A I am not sure the exact date, but that sounds
17 certain that if a member contacted the address in 17  right.

18 Orlando and said why don't you guys, you know, hire 18 Q So FAIR and Citizens for Lower Electric

19 so-and-so as a witness, we would listen, and it might 19 Rates, Inc., basically represent the same interests,
20 be that that is a reasonable suggestion, but they have |20 right?

21  no say in who is our witnesses. 21 A T am not sure what you mean by represent the
22 Q Okay. Has anybody ever contacted FAIR at the | 22 same interests.

23  address in Orlando and made any suggestions? 23 Q  Well, they both represent pecple who don't
24 A I don't know. 24  want to have higher electric rates, right?

25 Q So you don't know whether somebody has made 25 A Yes.
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1 0 I mean, the name of Citizens for Lower 1 A Yes. Difficult, but we manage.

2 Electric Rates indicates that it's made up of people 2 MR. MCALILEY: So we are at the next hour

3 who want lower electric rates, right? 3 mark, and if I could ask that we take a five or

4 A Yes. 4 ten-minute break here again to stretch our legs.

5 Q So how did your -- the three members of the 5 Does that work for you, Mr. Herndon?

6 boards of both FAIR and CLER decide it would be FAIR 6 THE WITNESS: Sure.

7  intervening in this proceeding and not CLER? 7 (Thereupon, there is a short break.)

8 A The proposition that we discussed was to have | 8 BY MR. MCALILEY:

9 FAIR represent the interests. It was never -- it was 9 0 Mr. Herndon, has there ever been a specific
10 never represented or concluded that CLER would be a 10 meeting of the board of directors of FAIR in which the
11 party to the suit. It was always something that FAIR 11  board has admitted people as members of the
12 should pursue. 12 organization?

13 0 Why didn't Citizens for Lower Electric Rates |13 A In the sense that we voted on a motion to

14 move to intervene in this case other than FAIR or 14  admit the members who had submitted applications, no.

15 instead of FAIR? 15 MR. MCALILEY: Thank you. I have no further

16 MR. WRIGHT: Object to this question and to 16 questions. Thank you very much for your time.

17 all questions relating to Citizens on the grounds |17 Maybe other counsel have questions, but that is

18 of relevance to the extent they are seeking 18 all I have.

19 discovery regarding a nonparty. 19 THE WITNESS: Thank you.

20 You asked Mr. Herndon is he a board member, 20 MR. WRIGHT: This is Schef Wright. No one

21 and that is okay, but asking about Citizens' 21 else cross-noticed as far as I am aware, but with

22 activities is outside the scope of this case. 22 the collegial nature of our practice if anyone

23 You can answer the question, but I object to |23 wants to ask Mr. Herndon some questions, I won't

24 the relevance. 24 object as long as you won't go too long.

25 25 MS. BROWNLESS: Schef, this is Suzamne. We
Page 79 Page 81

1 BY MR. MCALILEY: 1 don't have any questions. Thank you so much,

2 Q Do you remember the question, sir? 2 though, for giving us the opportunity.

3 A No, I don't. 3 MS. CHRISTENSEN: OPC doesn't have any

4 Q  Why did you, Mr. Hightower, and Mr. Bryant 4 questions. Thank you.

5 decide to have FAIR intervene in this proceeding and 5 MR. WRIGHT: This is Schef. I just have just

6 not have Citizens for Lower Electric Rates intervene in | 6 a couple of clean-up questions to get the record

7  this proceeding? 7 clear.

8 A To be perfectly honest with you, I don't 8 CROSS-EXAMINATION

9  remember what the actual concluding decision was, but I | 9 BY MR. WRIGHT:

10 mean obviously it was for FAIR do it. I don't remember | 10 Q  Early in your deposition, Mr. Herndon,

11  what the factors were that we chose FAIR over CLER, but | 11 ~ Mr. McAliley asked you what the address of FAIR is, and
12 we did and moved on. 12 I think you responded that it was the address of a law
13 Q Why did your small group that is in control 13 firm known as Gardner Bist that happens to be where

14  of both of these corporations decide to create this new | 14 our -- where I work.

15 organization FAIR to intervene in this proceeding 15 Have you had a chance to reconsider that

16  rather than just have Citizens for Lower Electric Rates | 16  answer?

17  intervene in this proceeding? 17 A Yes, and the correct answer is the law firm
18 A Seemed like the right thing to do at the 18  Gray Robinson's address in Orlando.

19 time. 19 Q You were asked about an interrogatory

20 Q When you all meet at the board meeting, how 20 response, FAIR'S response to No. 18. I want to just
21 do you know it's the FAIR board that is meeting instead | 21 ask you to read the last paragraph of FAIR's answer,
22 of Citizens for Lower Electric Rates board meeting? 22 which is now going to be an exhibit to the deposition.
23 A We announce at the beginning this is a 23 If you can read it out loud so everyone on this

24  meeting of the FAIR board or CLER board. 24  deposition hears it please.

25 Q0  So you have to keep it straight, right? 25 A "Thus, FAIR was formed, in part, for the

U.s.
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1 specific purpose of participating, by intervention, in 1 Q But my question is actually simple. At the
2 proceedings like this rate case, in order to oppose 2 start of the deposition when I asked you where were
3 rate increases like those opposed by FPL." 3 FAIR's offices located, you didn't know whether they
4 Q Couple of questions relating to a few 4 were in Orlando or Tallahassee, right?
5 questions Mr. McAliley asked you just a little while 5 A No, Idon't have a -- I don't know how to
6 ago about the similarity or difference in positions 6 answer that question I guess is the way to answer you.
7  between taken by the Office of Public Counsel and 7  The address of record is the Orlando address.
8 FAIR's witnesses. 8 Q Okay. I guess the record will stand what it
9 Do FAIR's witness and the public counsel's 9 1is in the transcript from the start of deposition.
10 witness on the issue of return on equity have the same |10 My last question is this. And I am sorry if
11  position? 11 I made a mistake about the Citizens for Lower Electric
12 A No. 12 Rates, Inc. You pointed out that Ms. Watkins is a
13 Q Do they have the same position on the equity |13 member of the board of that organization and not
14  ratio? 14 Mr. Bryant; is that right?
15 A No. 15 A Yes.
16 Q You were asked a question regarding the board | 16 Q  Ms. Watkins is an officer of FAIR though,
17  membership of Citizens for Lower Electric Rates. Have |17 right?
18  you had a chance to check your knowledge on the 18 A What do you mean an officer? How are you
19  mempership of the board of Citizens? 19 using that term?
20 A Yes, and I believe Mr. McAliley indicated 20 Q Ms. Watkins is the treasurer of FAIR, right?
21  that Fred Bryant was a board member, but the correct 21 A Correct.
22 answer is that Nancy Watkins is the third board member | 22 Q So it's basically the same group of people
23 and not Mr. Bryant. 23 who are running FAIR and Citizens for Lower Electric
24 MR. WRIGHT: That is all the redirect I 24  Rates, with the possible exception of Mr. Bryant; is
25 have -- or cross-examination in this context. 25  that right?
Page 83 Page 85
1 MR. MCALILEY: I have just a couple of 1 A Yes.
2 follow-up questions just to clarify your answers, 2 MR. MCALILEY: Okay, I have no further
3 sir. 3 questions. Thank you very much for spending a few
4 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 4 hours with all of us on the -- over Webex this
5 BY MR. MCALILEY: 5 afternoon.
6 Q  Am I right when I asked you earlier in the 6 MR. WRIGHT: Thank you. And thank you,
7  deposition where FAIR's offices were located, you 7 Ms. Mazur, for stepping in here. Despite
8 weren't sure whether they are in Tallahassee or 8 Professor Murphy's best efforts, we will read and
9  Orlando? 9 sign. Thank you.
10 A Right. 10 MR. MCALILEY: We will order the transcript.
11 Q And am I correct that even though you just 11  Thank you.
12 read the answer from the interrogatory about FAIR was 12 (Thereupon, at 4:20 p.m., the deposition
13 formed for the purpose of participating by intervention | 13 concluded.)
14  in proceedings like this rate case, this is the only 14 ¥ ok ok
15 rate case that FAIR has intervened in, right? 15
16 A At this time and up to this point. 16
17 Let me be clear in response to your first 17
18  question. Yes, you asked me if -- where the offices of |18
19  FAIR were, and I said right, meaning yes you did ask 19
20  that question, not that my answer was an incorrect one. | 20
21 I think I enumerated both addresses; the Orlando 21
22 office, which is where the Articles of Incorporation 22
23  were filed by one of the attorneys of record there, but |23
24  the Gardner Bist office is also where counsel works. 24
25 25
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1 CERTIFICATE OF OATH 1 CERTIFICATE AND JURAT
2 2
3 State of Florida ) 3
4 County of Dade ) 4 State of Florida
5 5  County of Dade )
6 6
7 I the undersigned authority, certify that the 7 I hereby certify that I have read the
8 witness, JOHN T. HERNDON, appeared remotely before me 8 foregoing deposition given by me, and that the
9 statements contained therein are true and correct
9 and was duly sworn.
10 10 to the best of my knowledge and belief, with the
. .. . 11 exception of attached corrections, if any.
11 Witness my hand and official seal this P Y
12
12 22nd day of July, 2021.
13 Dated this day of , 2021.
13
14
QM 14
15
15 Laurel A. Mazur
JOHN T. HERNDON
Notary Public, State of Florida 16
16 Commission No. GG 352516 17
Expires: 7/28/23 . s
b /28/ 18 The foregoing certificate was subscribed to
17 .
19 before me this day of , 2021, by
18 20 JOHN T. HERNDON.
19 21
20
21 22 Notary Public, State of Florida
22 My Commission Expires:
23 23
24 24
25 25
Page 87 Page 89
1 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE 1 ERRATA SHEET
2 State of Florida ) 2 DO NOT WRITE ON TRANSCRIPT
County of Dade ) S ENTER CHANGES ON THIS PAGE
3 4 RE: FPL PETITION FOR RATE INCREASE
4 I, Laurel A. Mazur, Court Reporter and Notary DEPOSITION OF JOHN T. HERNDON
Public, State of Florida, do hereby certify that I was 5 MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021
5 authorized to and did stenographically report the 6 U.S. LEGAL JOB NO. 2490571
} o ) ) T e e e
foregoing deposition in stenotype, that the foregoing PAGE LINE: CHANGE REASON :
6 pages, numbered from 1 to 85, inclusive, are a true and 8
correct transcription of my shorthand notes of said
7 deposition, and that the witness did request review of 9
the transcript.
10
8
I further certify that I am not a relative, 11
9 employee, attorney, or counsel of any of the parties,
nor am I a relative or employee of any of the parties' 12
10 attorneys or counsels connected with the action, nor am 13
I financially interested in the action.
11 14
The foregoing certification of this transcript
12 does not apply to any reproduction of the same by any 15
means unless under the direct control and/or direction 16
13 of the certifying reporter.
14 Dated tlyd day of, J , 2021, 17
» auuuj
16 ‘,“J& 18
Laurel A. Mazur 19
17 Notary Public, State of Florida
Commission No. GG 352516 20
18 Expires: 7/28/23
19 21
20 22
21 Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have read
22 23 the foregoing document and that the facts stated in it
23 are true.
24
24
25 25 DATE JOHN T. HERNDON
U.S. LEGAL SUPPORT, INC
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WITNESS NOTIFICATION LETTER

July 22, 2021

JOHN T. HERNDON

c/o ROBERT S. WRIGHT, Esqg.
1300 Thomaswood Drive
Tallahassee, FL 32308

IN RE: FPL Petition for Rate Increase

Deposition taken on 7/19/21

U.S. LEGAL SUPPORT JOB NO. 2490571

The transcript of the above proceeding is now available

for your review.

Please call (305)937-3880 to schedule an appointment
between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m., Monday
through Friday, at a U.S. Legal Support office located
nearest you.

Please complete your review within 30 days.
Sincerely,

Laurel A. Mazur

U.S. Legal Support, Inc.

700 East Dania Beach Boulevard

First Floor

Dania Beach, Florida 33004

CC via transcript:
Carlton Fields

Office of Public Counsel

U.s.

LEGAL SUPPORT,

713-653-7100

INC
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FLORIDIANS AGAINST INCREASED RATES

FPL wants to hike your electric rates — a lot.

You can help us stop them by filling out this form today. Sign Below.

| hereby request to become a member of Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc. (FAIR). | confirm that | am a customer of the
Florida electric utility identified below. | support FAIR’s purposes of
(a) advocating by all lawful means for the lowest possible electric
rates that are consistent with my utility providing safe and reliable
electric service, and (b) opposing by all lawful means utility S I G N U P TO TAKE A STAN D-
proposals for rates and rate increases that are greater than
necessary for my utility to provide safe and reliable service. | request ?
and authorize FAIR to represent my interests in having the lowest WE LL DO TH E R EST‘
possible rates for my electric service that are consistent with my
utility providing safe and reliable service. | understand that no
payment of dues is required for my membership in FAIR. By typing
my name below, | am signing this application electronically. |
consent to FAIR's collection and use of my personal information
provided below for the purposes associated with my membership as
described in my application.

About Floridians Against Increased
Rates

I'm Joining As... *

. 2 - —'_‘5" ro i N r\} - +~ inin EA VN 1 o }
O A Residential Electric Customer I nere 1S no cnarge 1o join FAIR. You'll never be

; ; asked for a donation. We are simply recruiting

(O A Business Electric Customer Y
Vour Name members so that we can be your voice opposing
unfair electric rate increases that FPL and other

Select Your Electric Utility utilities are asking the PSC to approve, and

) supporting the lowest possible rates consisten
Home Address Where You are an Electric Customer
with safe and reliable service

Address Line 2

The current situation...

City

FPL has asked the PSC to approve the largest rate
ZIP Code

hike in Florida history: FPLs filings with the PSC
Email indicate that, if approved, its proposed increases

would add over $6.2 billion to customer bills over
Phone (Optional)

https://fairfl.org 112
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- the next 4 years. You can help us fight this increase
Submit

by joining FAIR today.

Our state suffered massive unemployment and
business closures last year. But FPL and its parent
company, NextEra Energy, thrived. NextEra recently
posted large adjusted profits for 2020 and

announced increased stock dividends for its

shareholders. They do not need to drain more
) . money from our struggling residents and
(*) Please note: We respect your privacy. We will not send you hard copy mail. We need your address in case FAIR is required to prove
that its members are customers of one of the utilities listed above in phi&b’&ﬁ@%%fore the Florida Public Service Commission (PSC),
including cases before the PSC where your utility is seeking to increase your rates. As unlikely as this may sound, we have to recognize
that when FAIR challenges a utility’s proposed rate increases, the utility may try to keep FAIR from intervening to represent the

customers’ interests. We also represent that FAIR will not share your information with others unless FAIR is required by law, rule, or
order to do so, and if we are required to provide such information in legal proceedings before the PSC, FAIR will seek to protect the

confidentiality of your information.

Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc.
301 East Pine Street, Suite 1400
Orlando, Florida 32801

Background

On March 12,2021 FPL formally requested that the Florida Public Service Commission (PSC) approve a series of rate increases,
every year for the next four years. These rate hikes — if granted — would result in $6.2 billion in increased customer bills over the next
four years, more than $1 billion in 2022 alone, making it the largest electric rate hike in Florida history. FPL and its parent company,
NextEra, are already highly profitable, and if this rate hike goes through, FPL's Return on Equity (ROE) would be 20% higher than the

national average approved in 2020 by other public service commissions in the United States.

© 2021 Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Sponsored by Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc. | Privacy
Policy | Terms of Use

f v ©

https://fairfl.org 212
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REQUEST:

Floridians AgainSoR{&tSed G2ARR] Prfe!
APttt N 2292 P60a'seR

Florida Power & Light Company’s

First Request for Production of Documents
Request for Production of Documents No. 3
Page 1 of 1

Please produce all materials and documents that reflect FAIR’s mandate and/or authorization to

participate in this docket.

RESPONSE:

Please see responsive document.
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Docket No 20210015-EI
Petition by FPL for Base Rate Increase and Rate Unification
Index of Documents

Page 1 of 4
PETITION. DIRECT TESTIMONY AND EXHIBITS
Document
Number Title/Description
1 Petition by Florida Power & Light Company for Base Rate Increase and Rate Unification
2 Direct Testimony of Eric Silagy and Exhibits ES-1 through ES-5
3 Direct Testimony of Robert E. Barrett and Exhibits REB-1 through REB-12
4 Direct Testimony of Scott R. Bores and Exhibits SRB-1 through SRB-11
5 Direct Testimony of Liz Fuentes and Exhibits LF-1 through LF-9
6 Direct Testimony of James M. Coyne and Exhibits JMC-1 through IMC-11
7 Direct Testimony of Michael Spoor and Exhibits MS-1 through MS-6
8 Direct Testimony of Thomas Broad and Exhibits TB-1 through TB-9
9 Direct Testimony of Christopher Chapel and Exhibits CC-1 through CC-6
10 Direct Testimony of Robert Coffey and Exhibits RC-1 through RC-6
11 Direct Testimony of Sam Forrest and Exhibits SAF-1 and SAF-2
12 Direct Testimony of Matthew Valle and Exhibits MV-1 through MV-8
13 Direct Testimony of Steven R. Sim and Exhibits SRS-1 through SRS-13
14 Direct Testimony of John J. Reed and Exhibits JJR-1 through JJR-15
15 Direct Testimony of Jun K. Park and Exhibits JKP-1 through JKP-5
16 Direct Testimony of Kathleen Slattery and Exhibits KS-1 through KS-9
17 Direct Testimony of Tiffany C. Cohen and Exhibits TCC-1 through TCC-9
18 Direct Testimony of Tara B. DuBose and Exhibits TBD-1 through TBD-8
19 Direct Testimony of Keith Ferguson and Exhibits KF-1 through KF-8
20 Direct Testimony of Ned W. Allis and Exhibits NWA-1 (Depreciation Study) through NWA-9
21 Direct Testimony of Jeffrey T. Kopp and Exhibits JTK-1 (Dismantlement Study) and JTK-2
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BEFORE THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Docket No. 20210015-EI
Filed: March 12, 2021

In re: Petition by Florida Power & Light Company
for Base Rate Increase and Rate Unification

PETITION BY FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY
FOR BASE RATE INCREASE AND RATE UNIFICATION

Florida Power & Light Company (“FPL or the “Company”), pursuant to the provisions of
Chapter 366, Florida Statutes (2020), and Rules 25-6.0425 and 25-6.043, Florida Administrative
Code (2021) (“F.A.C.”), representing the merged and consolidated operations of FPL and the
former Gulf Power Company (“Gulf’),! respectfully petitions the Florida Public Service
Commission (“FPSC” or “Commission”) for approval of: (a) base rate increases pursuant to a four-
year rate plan modeled after the series of multi-year plans that have served customers exceptionally
well over the last 22 years and (b) FPL unified rates for all customers, including those currently
served pursuant to the rates and tariffs on file for Gulf, subject to a transition rider and credit
intended to reflect initial but diminishing cost of service differences as the two utility systems are
combined and operated as one.

FPL has achieved industry-leading performance under a series of six Commission-
approved multi-year rate settlements spanning the last 22 years. Each multi-year plan has allowed
the Company to focus on providing and improving upon FPL’s outstanding customer value, while
also maintaining the strong credit rating and balance sheet that are essential to ensuring customer
needs can be met even during periods of capital market volatility. FPL’s proposal in this case is

designed to meet the same objectives and to enable the Company to continue to improve operations

''On January 11, 2021, pursuant to Rule 25-9.044, F.A.C., FPL submitted a notice of the change
in ownership of Gulf effective January 1, 2021 and FPL’s adoption and ratification of Gulf’s
existing rates and tariff on file with the Commission. The former Gulf service area is referred to
herein as “Northwest Florida.”
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and service.

Specifically, FPL proposes a four-year rate plan to run from 2022 through 2025, consisting
of: (i) an increase in rates and charges sufficient to generate additional total annual revenues of
$1,108 million to be effective January 1, 2022; (ii) a subsequent year adjustment of $607 million
to be effective January 1, 2023 (“2023 SYA™); (iii) a Solar Base Rate Adjustment (“SoBRA”)
mechanism that authorizes FPL to recover costs associated with the installation and operation of
up to an aggregate of 1,788 megawatts® (“MW”) of cost-effective solar generation in 2024 and
2025; (iv) a mechanism to address the possibility that changes to corporate tax laws might be
enacted under the new presidential administration; (v) the continuation of the reserve surplus
amortization mechanism (“RSAM?”) that has been an integral part of FPL’s last three multi-year
rate plans; (vi) the continuation of the storm cost recovery mechanism approved as part of FPL’s
2016 rate settlement; and (vii) the authority to accelerate amortization of unprotected excess
accumulated deferred income taxes resulting from the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”). The
elements of this multi-year plan are described below in more detail and in the direct testimony of
FPL witnesses.

FPL also proposes to maintain its long-standing equity ratio and requests approval of a
return on common equity (“ROE”) range of 200 basis points based on an 11.50% midpoint to set
rates and for all other purposes. The 11.50% midpoint consists of a base cost of equity of 11.0%
and a one-half percent performance incentive that recognizes FPL’s history of delivering superior
customer value and encourages continued improvements in the delivery of safe, clean, reliable and

affordable electric service.

2 All references to solar capacity in this Petition are measured in alternating current.
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Customers have benefitted from a sustained period of low bills during the period in which
FPL has operated under multi-year settlements. FPL’s four-year plan will allow the Company to
continue focusing on ways to deliver low-cost electricity. FPL estimates that, through 2025,
typical residential customer bills would remain approximately 20% below the projected national
average. And, indicative of the value that FPL provides to customers, the typical residential bill
in Northwest Florida is projected to decrease by the end of the four-year term.

The testimony and exhibits of FPL’s witnesses and the minimum filing requirements
(“MFR”) and schedules accompanying this Petition, which are incorporated herein by reference,
describe the need for rate relief and detail how the consolidation of FPL and Gulf has benefitted
and will continue to benefit all customers. In further support of this Petition, FPL states as follows:

Introduction of Petitioners

Any pleading, motion, notice, order or other document required to be served upon

FPL or filed by any party to this proceeding should be served upon the following individuals:

R. Wade Litchfield Kenneth A. Hoffman

Vice President and General Counsel, FPL Vice President Regulatory Affairs
wade.litchfield@fpl.com ken.hoffman@fpl.com

Russell Badders Florida Power & Light Company
Vice President and Associate General Counsel, Gulf 134 West Jefferson Street
russell.badders@nexteraenergy.com Tallahassee, Florida 32301

John T. Burnett (850) 521-3901

Vice President and Deputy General Counsel, FPL (850) 521-3939 (fax)
john.t.burnett@fpl.com

Maria Jose Moncada

Senior Attorney, FPL

maria.moncada@fpl.com

Florida Power & Light Company

700 Universe Boulevard

Juno Beach, Florida 33408-0420

(561) 691-7101

(561) 691-7135 (fax)
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This Petition seeks to initiate proceedings that may involve disputed issues of
material fact. This case does not involve reversal or modification of an agency decision or an
agency’s proposed action. Therefore, paragraph (c) and portions of paragraphs (e), (f) and (g) of
Rule 28-106.201(2), F.A.C., are not applicable to this Petition. It is not known which, if any, of
the material facts set forth in the body of this Petition, or in the testimony, exhibits, MFRs or
schedules filed herewith, may be disputed by others planning to participate in the proceeding
initiated by this Petition. All other requirements for petitions filed under Rule 25-106.201, F.A.C.,
have been met in the body of this Petition.

FPL is a corporation with its headquarters located at 700 Universe Boulevard, Juno
Beach, Florida, 33408-0420. A wholly owned subsidiary of NextEra Energy, Inc. (“NextEra”),
FPL is an investor-owned utility operating under the jurisdiction of this Commission pursuant to
the provisions of Chapter 366, Florida Statutes (2020). FPL serves customers throughout much of
peninsular Florida and now also serves a significant portion of Northwest Florida. As the provider
of electric service in much of the state, FPL represents a major component of Florida’s economy.
FPL provides electric service to more than 5.6 million customer accounts, or more than half of
Florida’s homes and businesses.

Gulf was acquired by NextEra on January 1, 2019. Gulf was subsequently merged
into FPL on January 1, 2021. Following the acquisition, and prior to the legal combination of FPL
and Gulf, the two companies began to consolidate their operations. In the 2022 Test Year, FPL
and Gulf will be operationally and legally combined and will function as one company in all
respects. They will have a common set of generation resources, common operational support for

customer service and power delivery, common back office support for accounting, finance,
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regulatory, legal and other functions and a common management structure. The cost of service
and rates proposed in this filing reflect this consolidation.

The terms “FPL” and “Gulf” will be used throughout this Petition and in the
accompanying testimony of FPL witnesses. Unless otherwise specifically stated or dictated by
context, those references will mean the following:

e In discussing operations or time periods prior to NextEra Energy’s January 1,

2019 acquisition of Gulf, “FPL” and “Gulf” will refer to their pre-acquisition
status, when they were legally and operationally separate companies.

e In discussing operations or time periods between the January 1, 2019
acquisition and January 1, 2022 (when consolidation will be essentially
complete), “FPL” and “Gulf” will refer to their status as separate ratemaking
entities, recognizing that they were merged legally on January 1, 2021 and that
consolidation proceeded throughout this period.

¢ Indiscussing operations and time periods after January 1, 2022, most references
will be only to “FPL” because Gulf will be consolidated into FPL, and FPL is
proposing unified rates for the consolidated company. References to “Gulf”
thereafter will primarily be to address any rate differentiation between
customers in the former FPL and Gulf service areas (also referred to as
peninsular and Northwest Florida throughout this Petition).

FPL Consistently Delivers Superior Value to Customers

FPL has a long history and strong record of making strategic, forward-looking
investments that provide its customers long-term savings and superior reliability. Creating this

exceptional value is a function of innovative and responsible decision-making. The core strategy



Docket No. 20210015-El
Bopkatida, PAYEESI6-P14

Florida Power & Light Company
Petition

that FPL has executed consistently is comprised of four key elements: (i) a relentless focus on
efficiency and productivity; (ii) smart investments that contribute to lower operations and
maintenance (“O&M?”) expenses, lower fuel costs, lower emissions, better reliability, or otherwise
improve customer value; (iii) sound financial policies including a strong balance sheet; and (iv) a
willingness to innovate and embrace new ideas, technologies and programs. Today, as a result of
executing its core strategy effectively over many years, facilitated by the series of multi-year rate
agreements approved by this Commission, FPL provides the best energy value in the nation. FPL
continuously performs at an overall level far exceeding that of its peers, ranking as best-in-class
or top decile nationally across numerous categories, despite facing a demonstrably greater than
average set of challenges.

Transmission and distribution. FPL consistently has been the top performer among
Florida investor-owned utilities in terms of reliability, with the best Transmission and Distribution
System Average Interruption Duration Index (“SAIDI”) for the last 15 years. If FPL had been
simply an average performer rather than an exceptional one, over the last five years FPL’s
customers would have experienced an average interruption duration of 107 minutes — double FPL’s
actual average service interruption duration of 54 minutes. Notably, in the two years following
the acquisition of Gulf by NextEra, Gulf’s SAIDI improved by 50% compared to its pre-
acquisition level.

Fossil/Solar fleet. FPL’s strong fossil/solar fleet performance continues to produce
significant customer savings. The average heat rate of FPL’s non-nuclear generation fleet in 2019
was 7,070 Btu/kWh compared to an industry average of 9,476 Btu/kWh. This means that the
industry’s generation on average is 34% less efficient than FPL’s fleet, a fact that has translated

into substantial savings for FPL customers. Indeed, FPL’s heat rate improvements since 2001
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have saved customers approximately $11 billion cumulatively in fuel costs. Additionally, FPL’s
generation fleet performance has been best-in-class in terms of forced outages in nine of the last
10 years and has ranked in the top decile in availability in six of those years. This means that FPL
customers receive power more often from highly efficient generation, thereby compounding the
fuel savings while also reducing emissions. Already, with improvements to the generation
resources in Northwest Florida, Gulf customers are benefitting from an improved heat rate that is
10% lower than when Gulf was acquired in 2019.

Nuclear performance. FPL’s nuclear generation has produced over $20 billion in
fuel savings over the past 20 years when compared to the natural gas/fuel oil cost equivalent. These
cost savings are passed directly to FPL customers through lower Fuel and Purchased Power Cost
Recovery Clause charges. FPL’s nuclear fleet also has shown steady improvements in capacity
factor and availability measures since 2013 and remains a key element in FPL achieving a
favorable air emissions profile. Also, in late 2019, FPL became the first utility ever to receive a
subsequent nuclear license renewal from the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

Clean energy. With a generating fleet that produces over 95% of its electric power
from natural gas combined-cycle, solar, and nuclear resources, FPL is a clean-energy company.
In fact, FPL has one of the lowest emission profiles among major U.S. utilities, having reduced its
air emission rates since 1990 by 45% for carbon dioxide, 98% for nitrogen oxides, and nearly
100% for sulfur dioxides. With the Commission’s support of FPL’s SOBRA mechanism and the
recently approved SolarTogether Program, FPL now leads the industry as the utility owner and
operator having the most large-scale solar in the United States. Gulf likewise has been improving
its emissions profile since being acquired by NextEra. The coal-to-gas fuel conversion at the Gulf

Clean Energy Center (formerly Plant Crist) reduces the plant’s carbon dioxide emission rates by
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over 40%. And, Gulf’s first owned and operated large-scale solar energy center went into service
April 1, 2020, with two additional sites in development for commercial operation in 2021.

Customer Service. FPL has been recognized for outstanding customer satisfaction
in several independent national surveys. In 2020, FPL was ranked first in residential and second
in business electric utility customer satisfaction among peer utilities in the U.S. south region by
J.D. Power,’ and it was ranked No. 1 in customer experience compared to the top 25 U.S. electric
providers based on customer service, reliability and price. In 2019, FPL was designated a
“Customer Champion” for the sixth consecutive year, a recognition of service satisfaction based
on a survey of utility customers by Escalent, a leading nationwide research firm. In 2018, FPL
was recognized as delivering the best customer experience in the utility industry, according to a
cross-industry customer experience benchmark study. Gulf’s customer service since acquisition
has improved markedly, with a 70% improvement in the average time it takes for a customer to
speak to a representative.

Low, stable rates. FPL’s residential, commercial and industrial bills have been
among the lowest bills in the state and the nation for over a decade. Compared to the 20 largest
investor-owned utilities in the country, by number of customers, FPL’s typical 1,000 kWh
residential bill is the lowest and is more than 40% below the group’s average. Even with the rate
increases requested in this proceeding, FPL’s typical residential bill will remain significantly
below the projected national average. In fact, the typical residential bill in Northwest Florida will

be lower by the end of the four-year rate plan.

3 https://www.jdpower.com/business/press-releases/2020-electric-utility-residential-customer-
satisfaction-study; https://www.jdpower.com/business/press-releases/2020-electric-utility-
business-customer-satisfaction-study
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The value and importance of FPL’s core strategy and long-term planning has
become especially apparent in recent months, when other areas of the country are facing daunting
infrastructure problems and a shortage of reliable generation capacity. Even during market
disruptions and economic downturns, FPL has maintained its long-term perspective, continuing to
make smart investments in our infrastructure and building a system that will provide long-term
benefits to customers in terms of both reliability and low bills. A couple of key examples include
(i) FPL’s investments in grid modernization that have resulted in a highly resilient grid that
significantly enhanced storm restoration during a record-breaking 2020 storm season, and
(i) FPL’s ongoing investment in solar energy, which improves fuel diversity and mitigates the

impact of supply shortages and disruptions.

Gulf’s Integration into the FPL Family

From the day it joined the FPL family, Gulf began integrating into its operations
the management philosophies and investment practices that have resulted in FPL’s industry-
leading value. Execution of this business plan at Gulf in the two years since acquisition already
has resulted in improved reliability and customer service, reduced emission rates and significant
cost savings for customers in Northwest Florida.

Gulf also has achieved substantial reliability improvements in the two years
following its acquisition by NextEra Energy. In 2020, Gulf achieved its best-ever FPSC
Transmission and Distribution SAIDI and FPSC Distribution Momentary Average Interruption
Frequency Event Index, with scores that are 50% and 30%, respectively, better than in 2018.

Also, since the acquisition, Gulf has realized a 90% improvement in its generation

Equivalent Forced Outage Rate and an 18% reduction in carbon emissions.
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The North Florida Resiliency Connection (“NFRC”), a 176-mile transmission line
that will connect peninsular and Northwest Florida electrically, will strengthen Florida’s
transmission system and will allow FPL to optimize for all its customers the dispatch of a broader
array of resources available throughout the state. This optimization will allow for increased siting
flexibility with an opportunity to improve firm capacity values of solar, increase fuel diversity,
reduce emissions, and reduce the resources necessary to maintain a combined 20% reserve margin
requirement. FPL projects system benefits of approximately $1.53 billion as a result of generation
upgrades already underway, the NFRC, and the ability to plan for and dispatch from a common
fleet of generation resources.

Prior to 2019, Gulf had performed at average or below-average cost efficiency
levels compared to its peers. In the two years since being acquired by NextEra, Gulf already has
made significant strides forward in its cost efficiency metrics for customer expense, distribution
O&M expense, non-fuel production O&M expense and total non-fuel O&M expense.
Continuation of this improved level of performance is expected to reduce Gulf’s annual O&M
expense in 2022 by $86 million, a 33% reduction compared to Gulf’s pre-acquisition costs and
savings that are reflected in the revenue requirement calculations submitted in this case.

The merger and consolidation of FPL and Gulf operations are producing substantial
benefits. Altogether, the merger and consolidation are projected to produce more than $2.8 billion
in savings (cumulative present value revenue requirements, “CPVRR”) that will benefit all
customers, in addition to the improvements in reliability, customer service and lower emissions

that directly benefit customers in Northwest Florida.
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Rate Unification

To reflect the common set of operations from a single utility system, FPL requests
authority to cancel the existing Gulf tariffs that FPL has adopted and to unify the rates and tariffs
applicable to all customers in peninsular and Northwest Florida. Through a combined financial
forecast and a common cost of service, FPL’s proposal will appropriately allocate costs and
benefits for all customers of the combined system. Unified rates will reflect the reality that
customers are receiving service from one functionally integrated company and from a common set
of assets and employees, without geographical distinction between former FPL and Gulf service
areas.*

Customers also will benefit from the efficiency and simplified rate administration
that can be achieved only through a unified rate structure. Where FPL and Gulf otherwise would
require separate regulatory proceedings, a single company with unified rates will require only one.
For example, rate unification will eliminate the need for each company to have separate base rate
and cost recovery clause proceedings, demand side management goals and plans, earnings
surveillance reports, securities applications, annual reports, and other requirements. Rate
unification also will eliminate the need to record intercompany charges, affiliate transactions, and
the associated intercompany agreements and audits.

In connection with rate unification, FPL proposes a transition rider that will be

charged to Northwest Florida customers and credited to peninsular Florida customers under a

4 Combined clause structures also follow logically from consolidation and a common cost of
service. In the 2021 clause proceedings, FPL will request approval of new unified clauses and
factors so that, subject to the Commission’s decision on unified rates, peninsular and Northwest
Florida customers will have the same base rates and the same clause rates effective January 1,
2022.

11
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consolidated rate structure. Calculated based on the system average rate differential in 2021, the
temporary transition rider/credit is designed to avoid undue or unreasonable preference of one
locality over another while also considering initial historical differences in the cost to serve
peninsular and Northwest Florida.> The transition rider/credit would decline to zero ratably over
a five-year period, reflecting the diminishing ability to reach objectively defined allocations of
costs among customers located in one part of the state versus another, who are served by one
functionally integrated company and from a common set of assets and employees, without
geographical distinction.

FPL’s Cost Control Activities Have Mitigated the Requested Base Rate Increase

FPL’s productive efficiency is second to none, consistently ranking best-in-class
for at least the past 10 years compared to all Florida utilities, large utilities nationally, and the
Straight Electric Group.® FPL has been particularly strong in controlling its total non-fuel O&M
expenses, a category that covers all four primary operating functions (generation, transmission,
distribution, and customer service) and includes all administrative and general functions. In 2019,
FPL’s annual non-fuel O&M expense was $2.6 billion less than an “average” utility, which means
an average FPL residential customer saved nearly $300 per year compared to customers of an

average performing utility.

> The storm restoration costs associated with Hurricanes Michael and Sally will be excluded from
the 5-year transition rider and retained by the customers in Northwest Florida until the costs are
fully recovered. Additionally, any potential hurricane expenses incurred in 2021 during which
time FPL and Gulf remain separate ratemaking entities will be retained by customers in the original
service territory.

® As employed in the analysis performed by FPL witness Reed, “large utilities” consist of 10 large
electric utility holding companies with at least two million electric customers and net generation
comprising 45% or more of total energy sales. The “Straight Electric Group” is a peer group of
companies with electric-only utility operations that have at least 450,000 customers and which
Oown generating resources.

12
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Based on FPL’s long-standing superior O&M performance, FPL projects a further
reduction in O&M-related revenue requirements in 2022 of $224 million compared to its 2018
actual base O&M benchmark, adjusted for inflation and customer growth. Project Accelerate —
FPL’s efficiency identification program — has been an important catalyst in driving lower operating

costs.

FPL’s Four-Year Plan

FPL proposes a four-year plan that will serve as a platform for continued superior
performance that meets the increasing expectations of its customers for high reliability, low bills,
clean energy leadership, and overall outstanding service. The plan is modeled after several
Commission-approved multi-year rate settlements that have provided FPL customers with a long-
standing framework for rate stability and certainty, while at the same time enabling FPL to
maintain a strong credit rating and balance sheet necessary for the Company to consistently raise
capital on attractive terms. This financial stability has allowed FPL to focus on executing its
strategy of making smart, long-term investments and identifying cost control measures, all while
successfully weathering multiple major storms, global financial crises and the COVID-19
pandemic.

By Order No. PSC-16-0560-AS-EI, the Commission approved FPL’s most recent
multi-year rate plan (“FPL’s 2016 Rate Settlement”), acknowledging that FPL was providing
excellent service and concluding that the settlement “will allow FPL to maintain the financial
integrity necessary to make the capital investments over the next four years required to sustain this

level of service while providing rate stability and predictability for FPL’s customers.” Order No.
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PSC-16-0560-AS-El, at 4. Following the Commission’s approval of the 2016 Rate Settlement,’
FPL continued its philosophy of continuous improvement and has been able to surpass its prior
performance by, among other things: (i) further lowering O&M costs; (ii) making important
infrastructure investments to support growth; (iii) reducing future costs by retiring interests in
uneconomic contracts; (iv) lowering emissions below 2016 levels; (v) improving system fuel
efficiency; and (vi) continuing to strengthen the system to improve reliability and to better
withstand and restore service due to bad weather. Financial strength, stability, flexibility and the
ability to focus on identifying customer-benefitting investments over the settlement period made
these achievements possible.

FPL’s four-year rate plan is largely a continuation of key elements featured in its
last three multi-year settlements, with additional components that support long-term rate stability.
The proposal consists of unified rates that provide an increase in total annual revenues of $1,108
million beginning January 1, 2022 and $607 million beginning January 1, 2023. FPL’s four-year
rate plan includes a SOBRA mechanism that would allow FPL to adjust rates in 2024 and 2025 for
the limited purpose of recovering the reasonable costs associated with 894 MW of cost-effective
solar in each of those years, and it includes a mechanism to address a potential change in tax law.
To defer additional general base rate increases until 2026, FPL requests continuation of its RSAM
and approval of the associated RSAM-adjusted depreciation rates and approval of accelerated

amortization of unprotected excess accumulated deferred income taxes. The four-year plan also

7 The minimum term of the 2016 Rate Settlement was four years. However, by aggressively
controlling expenses and by utilizing the current agreement’s Reserve Surplus Amortization
Mechanism, FPL was able to continue operating under that multi-year Settlement for a fifth year
(i.e., through the end of December 2021).

14
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requests continuation of the storm cost recovery mechanism adjusted to reflect the consolidation
of FPL and Gulf.

Foundationally, FPL also requests the continuation of the well-established financial
policies that have served as the foundation for FPL’s successful strategy that delivers exceptional
customer value. Specifically, FPL requests continued use of its historical capital structure and an
ROE of 11.5% which is comprised of an 11.0% midpoint to reflect market conditions and a one-
half percent performance incentive to recognize FPL’s superior management performance and

encourage FPL to maintain excellent customer value for years to come.

FPL Consistently Has Delivered Low Customer Bills

FPL’s residential, commercial and industrial bills have been among the lowest in
the state and the nation for over a decade. FPL’s typical residential bill is 10% lower today than
it was fifteen years ago and is currently approximately 10% below the state average and
approximately 30% below the national average. Additionally, based on the 20 largest investor-
owned utilities in the country, ranked by number of customers, FPL has the lowest residential bill
and 1s more than 40% below the average.

FPL’s commercial and industrial (“CI”’) customers and small business customers
also have benefitted from low bills. Over the past 15 years, typical CI bills have decreased by a
range of 14% to 19%, currently ranking 7% to 24% below the state average and 18% to 45% below
the national average.

FPL will be positioned to remain a superior value provider under the proposed four-
year plan. The five-year compound annual growth rate of the typical residential bill from January
1, 2021, through the end of the four-year rate proposal on December 31, 2025, is projected to be

approximately 3.4% for peninsular Florida customers. For customers in Northwest Florida, the
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current typical residential bill will decrease by an annual average of about 0.9% over that same
time frame, even with the transition rider. Assuming other utilities experience bill increases at
only their historical rates of increase, typical residential bills for customers in peninsular and
Northwest Florida would remain below the projected national average by 20% and 15%,

respectively.

Test Years and Supporting MFRs

Test years. FPL has provided its forecasts of 2022 and 2023 for use in this
proceeding. The Company proposes that new unified rates be effective January 1, 2022, at a level
sufficient to cover the Company’s projected revenue requirements in 2022. Accordingly, 2022
should be the test year for FPL’s 2022 Base Rate Increase in order to best reflect the revenues,
costs and investment during the year in which those new rates are proposed to go into effect.

Pursuant to Section 366.076(2), Florida Statutes and Rule 25-6.0425, F.A.C., the
Commission “may in a full revenue requirements proceeding approve incremental adjustments in
rates for periods subsequent to the initial period in which the new rates will be in effect.” FPL
proposes that the rates resulting from the 2023 SYA be effective January 1, 2023. Accordingly,
2023 should be the test year for the 2023 SYA.

Use of the 2022 and 2023 Test Years is fully consistent with Commission rule,
Commission precedent, and Florida law. Rule 25-6.140(1)(a), F.A.C., requires that a company
notify the Commission of its selected test year and expressly contemplates that a utility may use a
projected test year. Moreover, the Commission has long held that the use of projected test years
is appropriate, and the Supreme Court of Florida has recognized that the Commission has the
authority to do so. See, e.g., Southern Bell Tel & Tel. Co. v. Public Serv. Comm’n, 443 So.2d 92,

97 (Fla. 1983). The Court “long ago recognized that rates are fixed for the future and that it is
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appropriate for [the Commission] to recognize factors which affect future rates and to grant
prospective rate increases based on these factors.” Citizens v. Fla. Pub. Serv. Comm’'n, 146 So. 3d
1143, 1157 n.7 (Fla. 2014) (quoting Floridians United for Safe Energy, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n,
475 So. 2d 241, 242 (Fla. 1985)).

Minimum filing requirements. The MFRs that FPL submits herewith for both the
2022 and 2023 test years reflect full consolidation of operations of the two formerly separate
utilities. In addition to the 2022 and 2023 Test Years, this filing includes the MFRs that provide
forecasted information for 2021 as the Prior Year and 2020 as the Historical Year consistent with
the Commission’s filing requirements and as approved by Order No. 2020-0312-PAA-EI in
Docket No. 20200182 (consummating Order No. PSC-2020-0351-CO-EI).

Preparation of the MFRs and the budgets that underlie them involved a forecasting
and planning process that was subject to a level of scrutiny necessary to ensure reliability for use
in setting rates. Internal and external subject matter experts provided inputs and processed data
through financial models widely used in the industry.

2022 Base Rate Increase

FPL’s proposed 2022 base rate increase is needed to address increased revenue

requirements since 2018, the test year last used for establishing base rates, due to the factors

detailed below.
A. Major Factors Necessitating a Rate Increase and Estimate of Revenue
Requirements

The primary drivers of the change in revenue requirements are: (i) capital
investment initiatives that support system growth, increased reliability, storm hardening not

included as part of the Storm Protection Plan Cost Recovery Clause and generation investments
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which provide long-term economic benefits to customers; (ii) the change in the weighted average
cost of capital (“WACC?”); (iii) the impact of inflation and customer growth; (iv) the impact of the
amortization of the Reserve Amount authorized by the 2016 Rate Settlement that partially offsets
the growth in base revenue requirements; (v) productivity gains that also partially offset the growth
in base revenue requirements; (vi) adoption of RSAM-adjusted depreciation rates that also
partially offset the growth in base revenue requirements; and (vii) revenue growth that also
partially offsets the growth in base revenue requirements. Each of these drivers will be discussed
individually, and they are summarized as follows:

Capital initiatives. The projected increase in FPL’s 2022 retail rate base compared
to FPL’s and Gulf’s 2018 rate base is primarily a result of capital investments that support
reliability improvements, generation upgrades, system growth and regulatory compliance. The
importance of these investments to the state of Florida has been underscored by the challenges
from COVID-19, another historic hurricane season and the near catastrophic failures that occurred
recently in Texas.

a. Power Delivery reliability. FPL plans to deploy innovative smart grid
technology to prevent outages and reduce restoration time. Additionally, to ensure the
continued reliable performance of the electric system in Florida, FPL is rebuilding its
500kV transmission structures, the majority of which were originally built in the 1970s and
1980s, with stronger, more durable galvanized steel poles.

b. Generation upgrades. FPL is undertaking several generation projects, each
one providing long-term benefits in the form of lower costs and improved reliability for

customers, including but not limited to:
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1. Solar. Building upon the successes facilitated by this Commission’s
constructive approach to solar, FPL continues its industry leading solar
development in both peninsular and Northwest Florida. In addition to the solar
constructed through the SOBRA Mechanism approved as part of FPL’s 2016 Rate
Settlement and the Commission-approved SolarTogether program, FPL will have
invested in the construction of three cost-effective 74.5 MW solar facilities in
Northwest Florida, one that entered service in December 2020 and two that are
estimated to enter service at the end of 2021. Six additional cost-effective 74.5
MW solar facilities located in peninsular Florida are projected to enter service by
January 2022, all advancing FPL’s clean energy initiatives and providing
significant long-term system savings for customers including immediate fuel
savings when the units enter service;

ii. Dania Beach. In mid-2022, FPL will place in service its Dania
Beach Clean Energy Center, a 1,160 MW combined cycle unit that will provide
necessary and efficient baseload generation in the critical South Florida load
pocket, as recognized by the Commission in its order® approving the need for
construction of the unit.

iil. Manatee (solar+battery). FPL is retiring its two steam-based
generating units at the Manatee facility and constructing the world’s largest

integrated solar-powered battery storage system, continuing its successful strategy

8 Order No. PSC-2018-0150-FOF-EI, issued March 19, 2018.
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of replacing older plants that are expensive to maintain with clean and efficient new

generation that produces significant customer savings.

1v. Northwest combustion turbines. FPL also is installing four
combustion turbine (“CT”) units in Northwest Florida to meet reliability needs.

The CTs will allow for unanticipated system peaks and for quick start generation

in the Northwest load pocket.

c. Capital requirements for growth. From 2018 through 2022, FPL estimates
that it will have added nearly 292,000 new customers and consequently will invest in
distribution and transmission infrastructure to support system growth, changing load
patterns and the addition of new service accounts.

d. Storm hardening. FPL has made significant base rate investments in storm
hardening since its last test year. Capital expenditures for storm protection assets incurred
after January 1, 2021 will be recovered through the Storm Protection Plan Cost Recovery
Clause, but the storm hardening investments made in 2019 and 2020 will continue to be
recovered through base rates.

e. Regulatory compliance. FPL will incur regulatory compliance costs
associated with increased North American Electric Reliability Corporation (“NERC”) and
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) reliability requirements, NERC
cybersecurity requirements, Nuclear Regulatory Commission requirements, and facility
relocations required by state agencies and local municipalities.

Change in weighted average cost of capital. The 2022 requested rate of return is

slightly higher than the rate of return earned in 2018, largely due to a reduction in the proportion

of deferred income tax balances as a result of the 2017 TCJA.
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Inflation and customer growth (O&M). Based on changes to the Consumer Price
Index (“CPI”), inflation will have added 6.3% to the cost of goods and services in 2022 relative to
2018. Additionally, FPL’s customer base is projected to grow 5.4% cumulatively during that
period, calling for additional O&M expenditures to support this growth.

The following factors reduce FPL’s costs, thereby reducing the 2022 Test Year

revenue requirements:

a. Reserve Amortization. The 2016 Rate Settlement allowed FPL to amortize
up to $1.25 billion of the Reserve Amount, allowing the Company to offset variability in
operating costs and revenues while continuing to invest in capital projects that provide
long-term customer benefits and maintaining an appropriate earned ROE. Flexible
amortization of the Reserve Amount in 2018 resulted in higher depreciation expense
compared to the 2022 Test Year, thereby reducing the 2022 Test Year revenue
requirements in comparison.

b. O&M Productivity. FPL is projecting a reduction in base O&M in 2022
compared to its 2018 benchmark level. As described above, FPL’s non-fuel O&M per
kWh cost position already was best-in-class at the time of FPL’s last rate case in 2016. The
improvements made through FPL’s Project Accelerate program resulted in further
improvements, and, through its four-year rate plan, FPL expects to retain its best-in-class
standing. Ongoing productivity improvements enable FPL to mitigate inflation-related
increases and help keep FPL’s costs among the lowest in the industry, a benefit that flows
to customers.

c. RSAM depreciation parameters. FPL’s four-year rate plan includes the

adoption of the RSAM, which is facilitated by changes to depreciation parameters.
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Application of the RSAM-adjusted depreciation rates reduce the 2022 revenue
requirements compared to the revenue requirements derived from the application of

depreciation rates that are not adjusted for RSAM.

d. Revenue growth. FPL is projected to have higher retail sales in 2022 than
in 2018, resulting in an increase in retail base revenues. Other base revenues also are
projected to increase. This revenue growth results in a corresponding decrease to revenue

requirements.

B. Resulting Revenue Deficiency

FPL’s requested 2022 Base Rate Increase is $1,108 million. Absent a rate increase
in 2022, FPL’s projected earned ROE falls to 8.4%, which is well below the bottom end of the
existing authorized range for ROE and the ROE proposed by FPL.

2023 Subsequent Year Adjustment

A 2023 base rate adjustment is needed to address increased revenue requirements
primarily due to additional investments in projects that will not have been completed by the end
of 2022 and thus not fully reflected in the 2022 test year.

A. Major Factors Necessitating a Rate Increase and Estimate of Revenue
Requirements

FPL’s proposed 2023 SY A reflects the increase in revenue requirements from 2022
to 2023. The primary drivers of the increase in revenue requirements in 2023 are: (i) capital
investment initiatives for solar generating facilities, system growth, increased reliability and
enhancements to our combined cycle fleet; (i1) the impact of inflation and customer growth; (iii) an
increase in the weighted average cost of capital; and (iv) revenue growth that partially offsets the

increase in revenue requirements.
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Capital initiatives. FPL continues to invest in projects that support system growth
and provide long-term customer benefits such as O&M cost savings, increased system efficiency,
fuel and emissions savings, and improved system reliability. Included within these initiatives are:

a. Solar. In 2023, FPL will install 10 cost-effective 74.5 MW solar facilities.

b. Capital power delivery infrastructure for growth. FPL will invest in
transmission and distribution infrastructure needed to support the addition of 68,000 new
customers during 2023.

c. Reliability improvements. FPL will continue to make capital investments
necessary to provide superior reliable service to customers through the continued rebuild
of the 500kV transmission system, further deployment of smart grid technology and system
reliability initiatives that reduce outages and restoration time.

d. Combined cycle fleet enhancements. The 2023 SY A revenue requirements
include the remaining five months of the first-year revenue requirement for the Dania
Beach Clean Energy Center, as well as the costs for upgrades to the combined cycle fleet
designed to further improve the system heat rate, which provides long-term economic
benefits to customers.

Inflation and customer growth. The CPI projection indicates that goods and
services will cost 0.8% more in 2023 compared to 2022. In addition, as noted above, the Company
projects to add an additional 68,000 customers in 2023, again requiring additional O&M
expenditures to support the 2023 growth.

Change in weighted average cost of capital. The 2023 WACC is slightly higher

than the 2022 weighted average cost of capital. The difference is attributable primarily to the

23



Docket No. 20210015-El
Bopkatida., PAYEEBIS-P14

Florida Power & Light Company
Petition

continued amortization of excess deferred income taxes and an increase in the long-term cost of
debt.

Revenue growth. FPL projects a modest growth in sales in 2023, which will
partially offset the increase in revenue requirements.
B. Resulting Revenue Deficiency

FPL’s requested base revenue increase for 2023 is $607 million after fully
accounting for the requested $1,108 million in 2022. This amount reflects RSAM-adjusted
depreciation rates, consistent with FPL’s four-year rate plan. Absent both the 2022 Test Year and
2023 Subsequent Year requested base rate relief, the 2023 jurisdictional adjusted ROE is projected
to be 7.03%. With FPL’s requested base relief for 2022 but absent rate relief for 2023, the 2023
ROE is projected to be 157 basis points below the requested ROE.

Transition Rider and Credit

As explained above, consolidating FPL and Gulf produces approximately $2.8
billion (CPVRR) in incremental savings that will be reflected in the combined cost of service
beginning in 2022. However, to address initial cost of service differences between FPL and Gulf,
FPL proposes a five-year declining transition rider that would be applied to customers in
Northwest Florida with an offsetting declining transition credit that would be applied to peninsular
Florida customers.

The transition rider, which would decline to zero ratably over a five-year period,
represents the difference in the overall system average costs between FPL and Gulf for base rates
and all clauses including fuel, capacity, environmental, conservation, and storm protection in 2021,
the year before proposed rate unification. For 2021, the retail system average rate (“Average

Rate”), defined as total operating revenue per MWh, is projected to be $91.36 for FPL, $111.32
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for Gulf, and $93.12 for the consolidated system. All else equal, this means FPL’s Average Rate
would increase $1.76 per MWh, which when multiplied by the forecasted 2021 sales yields a
transition rider of $197.3 million that will be charged to Northwest Florida customers and credited
to peninsular FPL customers under unified rates. Both the transition rider and credit will step
down ratably as set forth in MFR E-14 Attachment 1. The relative bill impacts of the transition
rider and credit are referenced in Exhibits TCC-3 and TCC-4 filed with the testimony of FPL
witness Tiffany C. Cohen, which include projected bill impacts for the typical residential 1000
kWh bill in peninsular and Northwest Florida over the term of the multi-year rate plan.

The proposed five-year step-down period for the transition rider and credit is
reasonable taking into consideration the overall system benefits of consolidation that will bring
value to all customers as well as the increasing difficulty in identifying cost of service differences
and objectively allocating costs among customers served by the same combined utility system.
Accordingly, any rationale or methodology for allocating “historic” costs would be inherently
subjective, particularly as time passes, and thus tenuous at best. The diminishing transition rider
and credit will reflect the reality that customers are receiving service from one functionally
integrated company and from a common set of assets and employees, without geographical
distinction (in the same way FPL customers in communities with varying degrees of cost to serve
across disparate parts of the state are treated today) through payment of consolidated, equally
applicable rates.

Solar Base Rate Adjustments

The SoBRA mechanism proposed as an essential part of FPL’s four-year plan is
largely an extension of the provision approved in its 2016 Rate Settlement, which allowed the

installation of approximately 1,200 MW of cost-effective solar in Florida that generate $172
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million in projected customer savings and will avoid millions of tons of emissions for years to
come. Recovery of the incremental base revenue requirements for new cost-effective solar
generation in 2024 and 2025 is essential to defer the need for a general base rate increase in those
years. The application of the SOBRA mechanism is set forth in detail in FPL witness Barrett’s
Exhibit REB-12.

FPL requests authority to seek cost recovery for up to 894 MW of solar placed in
service in 2024 and an additional 894 MW placed in service in 2025.° The cost of the components,
engineering and construction to be recovered for any solar project constructed pursuant to the
SoBRA mechanism during these years must be reasonable, and the total cost eligible for SOBRA
recovery will be capped at $1,250 per kW. This cost cap is 30% lower than the maximum cost
allowed under FPL’s 2016 Rate Settlement.

Implementation of SOBRAs requested under FPL’s current proposal would be the
same as the process approved as part of its 2016 Rate Settlement. FPL will file its request in the
Fuel and Purchased Power Costs Recovery Clause Docket, where it must demonstrate cost-
effectiveness, that the project is below the cost cap, and appropriately calculate the revenue
requirement and associated increase in base rates. FPL might also have the ability to deploy some
of the 2024 and 2025 SoBRA projects with battery storage, subject to demonstrating that the total
project cost cap was not exceeded and that solar plus storage was cost effective compared to solar
without storage. Like the SOBRA mechanism and generation base rate mechanisms of the past,

FPL will provide customers a true-up refund and prospective base rate reduction if the actual

? To the extent that FPL receives approval for SOBRA recovery of less than 894 MW in 2024, the

surplus capacity can be carried over to the following year. For example, if FPL seeks approval for
850 MW in 2024, then it may seek approval for up to 938 MW (894 + 44) in 2025.
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capital expenditures are less than the projected costs used to develop the initial SOBRA factor. The
SoBRA mechanism is described in greater detail in the accompanying testimony and in Exhibit
REB-12 filed with the testimony of FPL witness Robert E. Barrett.
Tax Reform

The Biden administration has proposed tax reform. If new tax laws are passed, FPL
requests that the impact of tax reform be handled through subsequent base rate adjustments.
Specifically, within 90 days of the enactment of the new tax law, FPL would submit the calculation
of the required change in base rates to the Commission for review.!? In no instance will FPL defer
incremental income tax expense for 2021 or request the tax-related base rate adjustment be
implemented before January 1, 2022.

For both 2022 and 2023, the impact of the tax law change would be measured as
the difference in revenue requirements calculated using current tax laws and revenue requirements
calculated under the new tax law. If the new tax law were not enacted until after 2023, FPL would
use the 2023 calculation to determine the amount of the one-time base rate adjustment.

For the time period between the effective date of the new tax law (but no earlier
than January 1, 2022) and the implementation of new base rates, FPL would defer the impact of
new tax law to the balance sheet for collection through the Capacity Cost Recovery Clause in the
subsequent year. Any difference between actual income tax expense and the amount on which the
tax-related base rate adjustment was based would be recorded in net operating income and reflected

in FPL’s earnings surveillance reports for all periods.

19 If timing permits, FPL will submit a revised revenue requirement calculation for Commission
consideration as part of FPL’s base rate request.
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FPL also proposes to address deficient or excess deferred income taxes that may
arise from a change in tax law by deferring them to a regulatory asset or liability on the balance
sheet and included within FPL’s capital structure. If the new tax law continued to prescribe the
use of the Average Rate Assumption Method, FPL would flow back or collect the protected
deferred income taxes over the underlying assets’ remaining life to ensure compliance with
Internal Revenue Service normalization rules. Ifthe tax law did not specify any required treatment,
however, FPL proposes to flow back or collect the unprotected deferred income taxes over a 10-

year period, consistent with the Commission’s Order No. PSC-2019-0225-FOF-EI.

Capital Structure and ROE

For more than 15 years, FPL has employed a set of core financial policies that have
emphasized financial strength and discipline for the benefit of customers. FPL’s financial strength,
made possible by support from this Commission, has enabled its ability to make strategic
investments to improve customer value, while delivering competitive returns that encourage
investors to continue to provide the capital needed to further improve the customer value
proposition.

Maintaining a strong financial position under all market conditions, good and bad,
is especially important for an essential service provider with an obligation to serve. The pandemic-
driven recession following the outbreak of COVID-19 as well as recent events in Texas have
underscored the critical role that utilities play in all aspects of daily life, commerce and
government. FPL’s liquidity and appropriate capital structure supported FPL’s ability not only to
keep the lights on, but also to offer assistance to customers when they needed it the most, to access
capital under terms that benefit customers and to continue making investments that modernize its

fleet and provide customers with sufficient, highly reliable, clean, low-cost power. FPL seeks to
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continue those financial policies, updated to reflect today’s market conditions, so that FPL’s ability
to continue delivering exceptional value remains in place over the next four years.

The Supreme Court of the United States has determined that a reasonable and
adequate ROE is one that is commensurate with returns that would be earned on investments with
corresponding risks and “should be sufficient to assure confidence in the financial integrity of the
enterprise, so as to maintain and attract capital.” Federal Power Comm’n v. Hope Natural Gas
Co., 320 U.S. 591, 603 (1944). Absent rate relief, the Company projects that it would earn a
substandard ROE that falls well below the level needed to “assure confidence in [FPL’s] financial
integrity . . . so as to maintain and attract capital” and thus fail the test prescribed in Hope.

Capital structure. FPL requests the continuation of FPL’s regulatory capital
structure that includes a 59.6% equity ratio based on investor sources (48.03% based on all
sources). FPL has maintained its equity ratio generally around the 59-60% level for more than
two decades, and this has been vital to sustaining the overall financial strength that has served
customers well.

FPL’s proposed capital structure also is consistent with Commission precedent,
which provides that the capital structure used for ratemaking purposes should bear an appropriate
relationship to the utility’s actual sources of capital. See e.g., Order No. PSC-10-0153-FOF-EI,
Petition for Increase in Rates by Florida Power & Light Company (Mar. 17, 2010) (approving
FPL’s requested equity ratio, noting that it was “consistent with the relative level of equity FPL
has maintained, on an adjusted basis, over the past decade”); Order No. 850246-EIl, Petition of
Tampa Electric Company for Authority to Increase its Rates and Charges.

Return on equity. FPL proposes to set the Company’s approved return on equity

midpoint at 11.5%, which reflects an estimated cost of equity of 11.0% and an ROE performance
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incentive of one-half percent. The authorized range would include the typical 100 basis points on
either side of the 11.5% midpoint. The 11.0% estimated cost of equity reflects capital market
expectations looking forward during the term of the proposed four-year rate plan and will enable
FPL to continue to access capital on competitive terms through 2025, ensuring the Company can
continue to meet customer needs and expectations essentially at all times in all financial climates

and is able to bring additional value to customers through smart, innovative investments.

ROE incentive. FPL’s request for a one-half percent incentive reflects FPL’s
achievements as a top overall performer in the industry, which has produced and continues to
produce exceptional savings and value for customers and is designed to incentivize further efforts
to improve service efficiency, reliability and overall value. FPL’s proposal for an ROE incentive
is within the Commission’s authority and consistent with past policy and practice. In setting rates,
the Commission may “give consideration, among other things, to the efficiency, sufficiency, and
adequacy of the facilities provided and the services rendered; the cost of providing such service
and the value of such service to the public.” Section 366.041(1), Florida Statutes (emphasis
added). In Docket No. 010949-EI, for example, the Commission rewarded Gulf with a 25 basis
point adder to the midpoint ROE in recognition of Gulf’s past performance and as an incentive for
Gulf’s future performance. Similarly, consideration of the statutory factors and FPL’s
performance supports adding one-half percent to FPL’s ROE midpoint and range.

FPL customers enjoy superior value as a result of our strong overall performance:
FPL’s generating fossil/solar fleet performance has exhibited best-in-class performance across key
metrics such as heat rate, availability and avoided non-fuel O&M, which has resulted in
approximately $11 billion in customer fuel savings since 2001. In terms of reliable electric service,

FPL’s SAIDI for more than a decade has been, and remains, best among the Florida investor-
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owned utilities. And, FPL has achieved further improvements on top of its already exceptional
non-fuel O&M performance. Consistently the best performer in this category, FPL’s annual non-
fuel O&M expense is $2.6 billion less than an “average” utility, which means an average FPL
residential customer saves nearly $300 per year compared to customers of an average performing
utility. In consideration of this extraordinary value being created for customers, to incentivize top-
tier performance and to encourage continuation of, and even improvement on, this performance,
the Commission should authorize a performance incentive of one-half percent, added to the
authorized ROE midpoint and range.
Weighted average cost of capital. For the 2022 test year, FPL projects a long-term
debt cost of 3.61% and a short-term debt cost of 0.94%. When combined with the requested 11.5%
ROE and other, smaller components of the capital structure (customer deposits, etc.), FPL’s total
WACC would be 6.84%. This overall WACC represents the actual cost of financing FPL’s rate
base and is the cost of capital reflected in the calculation of revenue requirements. It is reasonable
and slightly lower than the average WACC of 6.90% for U.S. electric utilities for ratemaking
purposes over the last three years, reflecting a benefit to FPL’s customers.

Reserve Surplus Amortization Mechanism

FPL proposes an RSAM that follows the same framework as the mechanism
approved in its 2016 Rate Settlement, updated for the assumptions and projections reflected in the
current filing. As with the three prior multi-year settlements, FPL will use the RSAM to respond
to changes in its underlying revenues and expenses in order to maintain an FPSC Adjusted ROE
within the authorized range. The application of the RSAM is set forth in detail in FPL witness

Barrett’s Exhibit REB-11.
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Amortization of the reserve. In each earnings surveillance reporting period,
consistent with how the RSAM has been structured and used over the last 10 years, FPL would be
allowed to record increases to expense (debits) to its depreciation reserve or decreases to expense
(credits) to its depreciation reserve such that the overall resulting ROE stays within the authorized
range. In connection with its four-year rate plan, FPL proposes a depreciation reserve amount of
$1.48 billion be available for use in the RSAM until base rates are reset following FPL’s next
general base rate proceeding which, under the four-year rate plan, would be expected to occur in
2025 with new base rates in January 2026. Like the existing RSAM, decisions regarding whether
to amortize and in what amounts would fall within FPL’s discretion, provided that FPL would be
required to amortize at least the amount necessary to keep it from falling below the bottom of the
authorized ROE range and to use amortization in a way that avoids exceeding the top of authorized
ROE range.

Amortization of capital recovery schedules. In addition, under its proposal, FPL
would be required to debit depreciation expense and credit the cost of removal component of
depreciation reserve in an amount to cause FPL not to exceed the top of the authorized ROE range
unless such credit to the cost of removal component of depreciation reserve would result in FPL
exceeding the Reserve Amount of $1.48 billion. If, however, a debit to depreciation expense is
required to keep FPL from exceeding the top of the authorized ROE range, and such debit would
result in the Reserve Amount exceeding $1.48 billion, FPL would (i) first record a debit to
depreciation expense and a credit to the cost of removal component of depreciation reserve such
that the Reserve Amount is $1.48 billion; and (ii) the remaining debit amount would be recorded
to amortize the regulatory assets that are the subject of FPL’s request for capital recovery schedules

described in this Petition and in the accompanying testimony and exhibits. In subsequent annual
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periods, FPL would adjust the prospective amortization of the capital recovery schedules noted
above, such that the total amortization over the four-year period ended December 31, 2025 would
equal the sum of the amortization expense requested for those years (reflected in FPL witness
Ferguson’s Exhibit KF-4).

RSAM-adjusted depreciation. Pursuant to Rule 25-6.0436, F.A.C., FPL prepared
and is filing contemporaneous with this Petition a 2021 Depreciation Study and calculated accruals
resulting from the parameters identified in that Study. FPL also calculated alternative depreciation
parameters that, while different from those presented in the Company’s 2021 Depreciation Study,
are reasonable to support continued use of the RSAM and therefore support the Company’s four-
year rate plan. The RSAM-adjusted depreciation rates developed from these alternative
parameters result in the $1.48 billion Reserve Amount and reduce the annual revenue requirements
by approximately $200 million, amounting to nearly $800 million in customer savings over the
four-year term of FPL’s proposed plan. FPL requests approval of the RSAM-adjusted depreciation
rates as part of its four-year rate plan.

Company adjustments have been made reflecting these effects. Exhibit KF-3(B)
sets forth the depreciation adjustments that result from RSAM-adjusted rates. FPL requests that
the RSAM-adjusted rates be approved.

Dismantlement

FPL’s current dismantlement accrual reflects what was approved by the
Commission in Order No. PSC-16-0560-AS-EI for FPL assets and Order No. PSC-17-0178-S-EI
for Gulf assets. FPL has filed an updated dismantlement study contemporaneous with this filing,

and it has made a company adjustment reflecting the updated results. If the Commission makes
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any adjustments to FPL’s updated dismantlement study, it should recognize the effects of any

adjustments on the rate relief granted.

Capital Recovery Schedules

FPL has retired certain assets that are not yet fully depreciated. Pursuant to Rule
25-6.0436, F.A.C. and consistent with Commission practice, FPL requests approval of capital
recovery schedules that would recover the remaining investment for those specific assets over a
10-year period.'!

Exhibit KF-4 to the testimony of FPL witness Ferguson provides a detailed list of
the assets for which FPL seeks capital recovery, along with the associated amortization. A few
examples include Lauderdale Units 4 & 5, which were retired in 2018 as part of the construction
associated with Dania Beach, and the coal-related components of former Plant Crist Units 4-7,
which were retired in 2020 as a result of its conversion to natural gas.

Storm Cost Recovery Mechanism

FPL requests approval to continue to recover prudently incurred storm costs under
the framework prescribed by the 2010 Rate Settlement and continued in both the 2012 and 2016
Rate Settlement, adjusted to reflect the consolidation of Gulf and FPL into one company and one
utility system. The application of the proposed Storm Cost Recovery Mechanism is set forth in
detail in FPL witness Barrett’s Exhibit REB-10.

Under the proposed storm cost recovery mechanism, if FPL incurs storm costs

related to a named storm, it may begin collecting a charge based on an amount up to $4 per 1,000

' The Commission in Order No. PSC-2019-0045-PAA-EI and at the March 2, 2021 agenda vote
in Docket Nos. 20200242-EI and 20200007-EI approved the deferral and establishment of
regulatory assets for recovery to be addressed in this base rate case.
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kWh on monthly residential bills (roughly $430 million annually) beginning 60 days after filing a
petition for recovery with the FPSC. This interim recovery period will last up to 12 months. If
costs related to named storms exceed $800 million in any one year, the Company also may request
that the Commission increase the $4 per 1,000 kWh accordingly.

Like its predecessors, the storm cost recovery mechanism proposed here also would
be used to replenish the Company’s storm reserve in the event it was fully depleted by storm costs.
The Company’s storm reserve replenishment amount under this proposal is $150 million,
representing approximately the amount of reserves reflected in the existing FPL settlement
agreement ($112.3 million) and the Gulf settlement agreement ($40.8 million). Any cost not
recovered under this mechanism would be deferred on the balance sheet and recovered beyond the
initial 12 months in a manner determined by the Commission. If the Commission approves the
Company’s petition to combine rates, the current Gulf surcharge for Hurricane Sally, applicable
to customers in Northwest Florida, will cease when all approved deferred storm costs have been
recovered exclusive of any replenishment of Gulf’s storm reserve.

Amortization of Excess Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes

FPL also requests authority to accelerate the amortization of excess unprotected
accumulated deferred income taxes. FPL is currently amortizing unprotected excess accumulated
deferred income taxes generated by the 2017 TCJA over a 10-year period pursuant to the
settlement approved in Order No. PSC-2019-0225-FOF-EI. FPL began amortizing unprotected
excess accumulated deferred income taxes in 2018, meaning there will be two years of
amortization remaining at the end of the 2022-2025 period contained in FPL’s four-year rate plan.

Under the four-year rate plan, FPL requests authority to accelerate the amortization

of the remaining amount of unprotected excess deferred income taxes that would be amortized in
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2026 and 2027 such that those amounts would instead be amortized in 2024 and 2025. This would
result in the acceleration of up to $163 million of unprotected excess accumulated deferred income
tax amortization, or approximately $81 million both in 2024 and 2025. The authority for this
acceleration is necessary under the four-year plan to support FPL’s ability to manage the

uncertainty over that length of time given the deferral of a cash rate increase in 2024 and 2025.

Asset Optimization Program

The Asset Optimization Program that was originally approved by Order No. PSC-
13-0023-S-EI and approved for continuation in Order No. PSC-16-0560-AS-EI has provided
significant benefits to FPL’s customers. FPL requests authority to implement the Asset
Optimization Program as ongoing and, following the four-year term of FPL’s base rate request, to
move review of certain parameters of the Program to the annual Fuel and Purchased Power Cost
Recovery Clause docket.

The testimony of FPL witness Forrest describes in detail proposed updates to
simplify the structure of the Asset Optimization Program and to reflect the modernization and
transformation of FPL’s fleet. FPL also proposes to change the per-MWh rate for variable power
plant O&M based from $0.65/MWh to $0.48/MWh. FPL’s proposal will help ensure that the
Program remains successful as FPL continues identifying and acting upon opportunities for gains
that create substantial value for customers.

Customer Bills Under FPL’s Four-Year Plan Will Remain Low

As explained above, the RSAM-adjusted depreciation rates under FPL’s four-year
proposal reduce the annual revenue requirements by approximately $200 million, amounting to

nearly $800 million in customer savings over the four-year term of FPL’s proposed plan and result
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in typical bills for residential, small business, commercial and industrial customers in peninsular
and Northwest Florida that fall below the projected national average.

Under FPL’s proposed four-year rate plan, the projected 2025 typical residential
bill — which includes the 2022 base rate increase, 2023 SYA, SoBRA approval for 894 MW in
2024 and 894 MW in 2025 and the declining transition rider/credit — is projected to remain
approximately 20% and 15% below the projected national average for peninsular and Northwest
Florida customers, respectively, assuming other utilities experience bill increases at only their
historical rates of increase. The typical residential bill for customers in peninsular Florida will
increase from January 1, 2021 through the end of the four-year rate proposal on December 31,
2025 at an average of about 3.4%, while the 2025 typical residential bill in Northwest Florida is
projected to decrease compared to 2021 bills.

The CI rate classes in peninsular Florida will experience varying increases in
January 2022 depending on the current rate of return for each class as compared to the system
average rate of return for each respective class. Under the four-year plan, CI typical bills are
projected to increase about 4% to 5%. CI customers in Northwest Florida will see bills ranging
from a slight decrease to a 2.5% increase over the same four-year rate proposal, providing excellent
value for these customers as well.

Two-Year Unified Rate Relief

If the Commission declines to approve the RSAM or any other element of FPL’s
four-year plan, FPL requests that the Commission nevertheless unify the FPL and Gulf rates and
grant the now combined company rate relief for the 2022 Test Year and 2023 Subsequent Year.
FPL’s alternative rate request consists of unified rates that provide an increase in total annual

revenues of $1,311 million beginning January 1, 2022 and $601 million beginning January 1, 2023.
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The total revenue requirements over the two-year period of alternative relief are $197 million
higher compared to the 2022 Test Year and 2023 SYA revenue requirements under FPL’s four-
year rate plan.

FPL’s alternative revenue requirements are premised on the same forecast data used
to calculate the revenue increase for the 2022 Test Year and 2023 Subsequent Year under FPL’s
four-year rate plan, except that the RSAM-adjusted depreciation rates, and related investment tax
credit and excess accumulated deferred income taxes amortization adjustments, were replaced with
the depreciation rates resulting from the 2021 Depreciation Study. These modifications led to the
higher revenue requirements compared to the four-year plan.

Under this alternative unified rate relief, FPL requests continued use of its historical
capital structure and an authorized ROE range based on a midpoint of 11.5% comprised of 11.0%
to reflect market conditions and a one-half percent performance incentive, along with the authority
to continue its storm cost recovery mechanism adjusted to reflect the consolidation of FPL and
Gulf, and approval of the above-described mechanism to recover the impacts of a potential change
in tax law.

Because no RSAM would be authorized under this alternative rate relief, in
connection therewith FPL requests approval of its 2021 Depreciation Study filed contemporaneous
with this Petition, and the resulting depreciation rates. Company adjustments have been calculated

reflecting the effects of this updated depreciation study. If the Commission grants only two years

of relief, FPL requests approval of the rates without RSAM adjustment.
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FPL would not need authority to accelerate amortization of unprotected excess
accumulated deferred income taxes because this alternative rate relief request does not include the
years 2024 and 2025.
If the Commission approves unified rates but does not approve the proposed four-
year rate plan, FPL would expect to need to seek additional changes in rates effective January

2024, rather than January 2026 under the four-year rate plan.

Separate Ratemaking Entities (Two Years)

In 2022, all customers in Northwest and peninsular Florida will be receiving their
electric service from the same utility system with a common set of assets that will be jointly
dispatched, and with the same management team and back office support. FPL is requesting
approval of unified rates that would reflect this reality. If, however, the Commission declines to
unify rates and instead requires FPL and Gulf to remain separate ratemaking entities, each
ratemaking entity still requires rate relief. Support for the separate entities’ revenue requirements
is found in supplemental schedules attached to the MFRs filed with this Petition. If the
Commission does not approve unified rates, but instead approves rates for FPL and Gulf as
separate ratemaking entities for 2022 and 2023, FPL and Gulf each would expect to need to seek
additional changes in rates effective January 2024 rather than January 2026 under the four-year
rate plan.'?

In the absence of unified rates, FPL as a separate ratemaking entity requests an
increase in total annual revenues of $1,115 million beginning January 1, 2022 and $529 million

beginning January 1, 2023. Absent rate relief in the 2022 Test Year and 2023 Subsequent Year,

12 In addition, FPL may again seek rate unification at the time new rates are requested.
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the jurisdictional adjusted ROE for FPL as a separate ratemaking entity is projected to be 7.98%
and 6.67%, respectively. With the requested rate relief in 2022, but with no rate relief in 2023, the
adjusted ROE for FPL as a separate ratemaking entity in 2023 is projected to decline by more than

150 basis points.

In the absence of unified rates, Gulf as a separate ratemaking entity requests an
increase in total annual revenues of $177 million beginning January 1, 2022 and $78 million
beginning January 1, 2023. Absent rate relief, the 2022 Test Year and 2023 Subsequent Year
jurisdictional adjusted ROE for Gulf as a separate ratemaking entity is projected to be 5.33% and
3.79%, respectively. With the requested rate relief in 2022, but with no rate relief in 2023, the
adjusted ROE for Gulf as a separate ratemaking entity is projected to decline by more than 230
basis points.

For the same reasons described above in the context of unified rates, and because
they are financed and viewed by investors as a single financial entity, FPL and Gulf as separate
ratemaking entities each require a 59.6% equity ratio and an ROE range based on a midpoint of
11.5% which is comprised of 11.0% to reflect market conditions and a one-half percent
performance incentive to reflect FPL’s superior performance and Gulf’s marked improvement
since joining the FPL family.

A full description of the rate relief required by FPL and Gulf as separate entities is

detailed in Exhibit TCC-9 to the testimony of FPL witness Tiffany Cohen, filed with this Petition

and incorporated herein.
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Supporting Documents

Simultaneous with the filing of this Petition, FPL files and hereby incorporates by
reference: (i) the supporting direct testimony and exhibits of FPL’s witnesses; and (i1) MFRs for
the 2022 Test Year and the 2023 Subsequent Year containing the information required by Rule
25-6.043(1)(b), F.A.C. (with and without the effect of the RSAM) and in the format approved by
Order No. PSC-2020-0312-PAA-EI. FPL compiled the MFRs by following the policies,
procedures and guidelines prescribed by the Commission in relevant rules or in the Company’s
last rate case.

Attached to MFR E-14 are appropriate tariff sheets, including new rate schedules
designed to produce the additional revenue sought by this Petition and needed to give the Company
a fair opportunity to earn a reasonable rate of return beginning January 2022 and January 2023.
FPL respectfully requests that the Commission consent to these rate schedules going into operation
beginning on the first billing cycle of January 2022 and January 2023.

This filing also includes 2022 and 2023 standalone MFRs for FPL and Gulf as
separate ratemaking entities, which are relevant only for purposes of demonstrating the financial
position of those companies in the event the Commission declines or postpones rate unification.
These standalone schedules for separate FPL and Gulf are attached to the unified MFRs (described
in the preceding two paragraphs) as Supplement 1 and Supplement 2, respectively. Appropriate

tariff sheets for separate FPL and Gulf are attached to standalone MFR E-14 for each entity.
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WHEREFORE, for the above and foregoing reasons, FPL respectfully petitions the Florida

Public Service Commission to:

(1

2

3)

4

)

(6)

(7
®)

Accept this filing for final agency action;

Set a hearing, in-person to the extent possible, as early as possible in order to reduce
the risk of possible delays that may be occasioned by hurricane season;

Enter a final decision approving rates on or before November 12, 2021, i.e., within
eight months of the filing of this Petition, so as to render the final decision in time
to make rates effective by January 1, 2022 following 30 days’ notice to customers;
Determine that effective, January 1, 2022, Gulf’s existing tariffs shall be canceled,
and the customers located in peninsular and Northwest Florida shall have unified
rates under the FPL tariffs as described herein and filed together with this Petition;
Authorize FPL to apply a transition rider to the bills of customers located in
Northwest Florida and a corresponding transition credit to the bills of customers
located in peninsular Florida, which rider and credit will step down ratably and
reach zero over five years as set forth in MFR E-14 Attachment 1;

Approve an authorized ROE range based on a rate of return of 11.5% on common
equity which includes a one-half percent ROE performance incentive to reflect
FPL’s current superior performance and to serve as an incentive for continued
superior performance;

Approve an equity ratio of 59.6% based on investor sources;

Approve the continued use of FPL’s storm cost recovery mechanism as set forth in
Exhibit REB-10 and described herein, with a $150 million reserve replenishment

amount, representing approximately the sum of the reserves reflected in FPL’s
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existing settlement agreement ($112.3 million) and Gulf’s existing settlement
agreement ($40.8 million);

Approve FPL’s 2021 dismantlement study and associated adjustments;

Approve the capital recovery schedules identified on Exhibit KF-4, and

commencement of the associated amortization;

Approve FPL’s mechanism to address potential tax reform such that FPL will

change base rates based upon the impact of a change in tax law that occurs from

2022-2025;

Approve FPL’s proposed Asset Optimization Program as ongoing with the updates

described herein and in the testimony of FPL witness Forrest;

Approve FPL’s four-year rate plan, encompassing 2022 through 2025, including

FPL’s commitment not to request any permanent general base rate increases for

2024 and 2025, such that in addition to Paragraphs (1) through (11) above the

Commission:

(a) Finds and determines that the rates under the current tariffs are insufficient
to yield a fair rate of return for FPL beginning January 1, 2022;

(b) Authorizes FPL to revise and increase its unified base rates and charges to
generate additional revenues of $1,108 million on an annual basis beginning
January 1, 2022;

(c) Determines that FPL’s 2022 rates, as proposed, are insufficient to yield a
fair rate of return beginning January 1, 2023;

(d) Authorizes FPL to revise and increase its base rates and charges to generate

additional revenues of $607 million on an annual basis beginning January
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1, 2023 incremental to the base rates and charges approved beginning
January 1, 2022;

(e) Approves the SOBRA mechanism as set forth in Exhibit REB-12 and
described herein such that FPL will be permitted to adjust base rates to
recover the cost of 1,788 MW of new solar facilities that enter commercial
operation in 2024 and 2025;

6y} Approves FPL’s proposed RSAM as described herein and detailed in
Exhibit REB-11 filed with this Petition;

(g)  Approves FPL’s 2021 depreciation study, with the associated RSAM
adjustments;

(h) Authorizes FPL to accelerate unprotected excess accumulated deferred
income tax amortization in the incremental amounts of $81 million in 2024
and $81 million in 2025;

(1) Approves the adjustments set forth in the FPL’s MFRs B-02 (with RSAM)
and C-03 (with RSAM) submitted with this Petition; and

) Approves the FPL tariff sheets and rate schedules submitted with this
Petition, which are based on FPL’s consolidated cost of service study and
are applicable to the four-year rate plan (i.e., “with RSAM”) to apply
throughout peninsular and Northwest Florida;

Alternatively, if the Commission does not accept FPL’s four-year rate plan

described in this Petition, FPL respectfully requests that in addition to Paragraphs

(1) through (11) the Commission:
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Find and determine that the rates under the current tariffs are insufficient to
yield a fair rate of return for FPL beginning January 1, 2022;
Authorize FPL to revise and increase its unified base rates and charges to
generate additional revenues of $1,311 million on an annual basis beginning
January 1, 2022;
Determine that FPL’s 2022 rates, as proposed, are insufficient to yield a fair
rate of return beginning January 1, 2023;
Authorize FPL to revise and increase its base rates and charges to generate
additional revenues of $601 million on an annual basis beginning January
1, 2023 incremental to the base rates and charges approved beginning
January 1, 2022;
Approve FPL’s 2021 depreciation study, the adjustments set forth in the
FPL’s MFRs B-02 (without RSAM) and C-03 (without RSAM) submitted
with this Petition;
Approve the FPL tariff sheets and rate schedules submitted with this
Petition, which are based on FPL’s consolidated cost of service study and
reflect rate relief in 2022 and 2023 (i.e., “without RSAM”) to apply
throughout peninsular and Northwest Florida; and
Grant to FPL such other and further relief as the Commission may find to
be reasonable and proper pursuant to the authority granted to the

Commission under Chapter 366 of the Florida Statutes;
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If the Commission requires that FPL maintain separate ratemaking entities for
purposes of service provided in peninsular and Northwest Florida, respectively,
then FPL requests that the Commission approve the rate increase and resulting rate
schedules to take effect beginning January 1, 2022 and subsequent year adjustment
and resulting rate schedules to take effect beginning January 1, 2023, as well as the
adjustments, accounting treatments and other components of rates relief, for those
separate entities that are summarized and supported in Exhibit TCC-9 to the
testimony of FPL witness Cohen; and grant such other and further relief as the
Commission may find to be reasonable and proper for FPL and Gulf as separate

ratemaking entities pursuant to the authority granted to the Commission under

Chapter 366 of the Florida Statutes.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been furnished

by electronic service and hand delivery this _12th day of March 2021 to the following:

Suzanne Brownless

Bianca Lherisson

Shaw Stiller

Florida Public Service Commission
Office of the General Counsel
2540 Shumard Oak Boulevard
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850
sbrownle@psc.state.fl.us
blheriss@psc.state.fl.us
sstiller@psc.state.fl.us

Office of Public Counsel
Richard Gentry

Patricia A. Christensen

Charles Rehwinkel

c/o The Florida Legislature

111 W. Madison St., Rm 812
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1400
gentry.richard@leg.state.fl.us
christensen.patty@leg.state.fl.us
rehwinkel.charles@leg.state.fl.us
Attorneys for the Citizens

of the State of Florida
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QUESTION:
Please identify each consultant, expert, witness, or other person, who has provided testimony,
documents, exhibits, or other materials and/or support on behalf of FAIR in any Public Utility
Commission or Public Service Commission, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or any
other state or federal regulatory body with jurisdiction over the provision of electric power in the
last seven (7) years.
a. For each person identified in response to Interrogatory 1 above, please identify:
I.  The witness’s business address;
ii. Which regulatory or administrative body or court; and
iii. The caption or style of each proceeding or case, and the date of each
appearance, where for purposes of this interrogatory the term “appearance”
shall include the submittal of pre-filed testimony, oral testimony,
documents, exhibits, or other materials and/or support on behalf of FAIR.

RESPONSE:

None.
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Florida Power & Light Company’s
First Set of Interrogatories
Interrogatory No. 2
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QUESTION:

State in detail the subject matter, positions, and opinions on which each person named in answer
to Interrogatory No. 1 above has provided pre-filed testimony, oral testimony, documents,
exhibits, or other materials and/or support on behalf of FAIR.

RESPONSE:

None.
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Please identify each consultant, expert, witness, or other person who has been retained or engaged to provide
testimony, documents, exhibits, or other materials and/or support on behalf of FAIR in this docket.
a. For each such person or entity, identify the date initially consulted, the date of formal retention
or engagement (if any), and describe the terms of the financial arrangements or agreement pursuant
to which that person or entity will be compensated for work and/or services provided in this case.

b. For each witness testifying on behalf of FAIR, please state the amount paid to date and the total
amount contracted for services performed in connection with this docket.

RESPONSE:

FAIR’s Response to FPL’s Interrogatory No. 3

WITNESS/ENTITY | DATE INITIALLY | DATE OF SUMMARY OF TERMS AMOUNT PAID | TOTAL AMOUNT
CONSULTED FORMAL OF ENGAGEMENT TO DATE CONTRACTED
RETENTION

GDS Associates 2/22/2021 3/25/2021 Hourly rates plus out-of- | $20,608.13 Open, no cap or
pocket costs minimum

J.T. Herndon March 2021 5/17/2021 Hourly rates plus out-of- | O Open, no cap or
pocket costs minimum

T.J. Devlin 2/10/2021 5/10/2021 Hourly rates plus out-of- | $4,200.00 Open, no cap or
pocket costs minimum

N.H. Watkins March 2021 3/25/2021 Hourly rates plus out-of- | O Open, no cap or
pocket costs minimum
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Florida Power & Light Company’s
First Set of Interrogatories
Interrogatory No. 4

Page 1 of 1

QUESTION:

With respect to each witness FAIR intends to have testify or provide pre-filed testimony in this
docket of behalf of FAIR, including witnesses who will make public statements at the hearings, and
otherwise, please state the following:

The witness’s business address;

The witness’s qualifications;

The scope of the witness’s employment or retention in the pending matter;

The witness’s general litigation experience, including the percentage of work
performed for regulatory bodies or intervening participants.

cooe

RESPONSE:

a & b. Please refer to the résumés of the witnesses, included in response to FPL’s Request to

Produce No. 4.

c. The scope of each witness’s engagement in this matter is set forth in each respective witness’s
testimony, which will be filed with the Commission and served to FPL on Monday, June 21.

d. Each witness’s testimony and resume’ includes information regarding the witness’s litigation

experience, including specifically any testimony given before a regulatory body.

This subpart is otherwise vague, in that it is not clear whether FPL wants to know percentages of

work done for regulatory bodies or intervenors within the general category of litigation

experience, or whether FPL wants to know about the witness’s total work experience.
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Florida Power & Light Company’s
First Set of Interrogatories
Interrogatory No. 5

Page 1 of 1

QUESTION:

Regarding the answer to Interrogatory No. 4, please identify with specificity the witness’s
appearances before regulatory or administrative bodies or courts of law, specifying which
regulatory or administrative body or court, the caption or style of each proceeding or case, and the
date of each appearance, where for purposes of this interrogatory the term “appearance” shall
include the submittal of pre-filed testimony.

RESPONSE:
This information is provided in each witness’s resume’ and testimony, which will be filed with the

Commission and served to FPL on Monday, June 21, 2021.



Floridians Agaibstcket Nas@dRatsto1nl.
AppeDdicidat Rrge202 8001224 |

Florida Power & Light Company’s
First Set of Interrogatories
Interrogatory No. 6

Page 1 of 1

QUESTION:

Please describe any efforts or activities undertaken by FAIR or their agents and representatives
from 2016 to the present to disseminate fliers, handouts, documents, materials, letters,
presentation materials, videos, and other written or computer generated documents to members,
prospective members, and others that discuss, address, refer to or otherwise mention FPL.
RESPONSE:

The only document responsive to this interrogatory is a letter that was emailed to FAIR’s members
informing them of the customer service hearings planned by the PSC, informing them of how to

sign up, and encouraging them to do so. This letter was emailed to FAIR’s members on June 9,

2021. A copy is provided in response to FPL’s Request to Produce No. 4.
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Florida Power & Light Company’s
First Set of Interrogatories
Interrogatory No. 7

Page 1 of 1

QUESTION:

Please describe the electric bill impact calculations FAIR has performed to assess the impact of FPL’s
proposed base rate increase on its members.

RESPONSE:

FAIR has performed no separate bill impact calculations regarding FPL’s proposed multi-
billion dollar rate increase. For such information, FAIR has referred to FPL’s MFR Schedules A-2,
which present FPL’s estimates of customer bills under present and proposed rates. FPL’s MFR
Schedules A-2 clearly demonstrate that the rates of all of FAIR’s members who are FPL customers
(not necessarily all customers who are currently Gulf Power customers) will experience rate

increases in 2022.
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Florida Power & Light Company’s
First Set of Interrogatories
Interrogatory No. 8

Page 1 of 1

QUESTION:

Please identify all documents provided to FAIR’s members, and the date(s) such documents were
provided, that discuss or refer to the electric bill impact estimated to result from FPL’s proposed
base rate increase which is the subject of this docket.

RESPONSE:

The only document responsive to this interrogatory is a letter that was emailed to FAIR’s
members informing them of the customer service hearings planned by the PSC, informing them of
how to sign up, and encouraging them to do so. This letter was emailed to FAIR’s members on June

9, 2021. A copy was provided in response to FPL’s Request to Produce No. 4.
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Florida Power & Light Company’s
First Set of Interrogatories
Interrogatory No. 9

Page 1 of 1

QUESTION:

Please identify any materials and documents provided to, or communications with, FAIR

members, and the date(s) such documents were provided, or communications occurred, soliciting
funds in connection with FAIR’s participation in this docket.

RESPONSE:

There are no documents that are responsive to this interrogatory.
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QUESTION:

Please describe the circumstances that led to your decision to file a petition to intervene in this
proceeding and identify all individuals who were consulted or who provided input or
recommendations in connection with the decision.

RESPONSE:

Consistent with FAIR’s purposes as set forth in its articles of incorporation, FAIR’s board members
and its counsel monitor developments that might lead to higher electric rates for the customers of
Florida’s public utilities. FAIR’s organizers became aware of FPL’s plans to implement the largest
rate increase in Florida history in January and continued to monitor FPL’s proposals thereafter. The
decision to intervene was made based on FPL’s proposing the largest electric rate increase in Florida
history. The individuals who were consulted and provided input in connection with the decision to

intervene were FAIR’s board of directors, Michael Hightower, John Thomas Herndon, and Fred

Bryant, and FAIR’s counsel, Robert Scheffel Wright.
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QUESTION:

Please describe the circumstances that led to your decision to file a petition to intervene in this
proceeding.

RESPONSE:

Please see FAIR’s response to FPL’s Interrogatory No. 10 above.



Floridians Agaibstcket Nas@dRatsto1nl.
AppeDdicidat RRge2022001224 |

Florida Power & Light Company’s
First Set of Interrogatories
Interrogatory No. 12

Page 1 of 1

QUESTION:

Please provide the following information related to FAIR:

a.

®oo0o

«Q

h.

The current number of active members

The names of active members

The dates that each person became a member

The current number of active members that are residents of the state of Florida
For the members identified in your response to subpart d, the counties and cities
within the state of Florida where those members reside

The current number of active members that are residents of states outside of Florida
For the members identified in your response to subpart f, the states where those
members reside

The number of members that are customers of FPL

The names of members that are customers of FPL

RESPONSE:

a.
b.

o o

The current number of active members — 536 as of June 17, 2021

The names of active members — CONFIDENTIAL, provided on roster in response to
FPL’s Request to Produce No. 4.

The dates that each person became a member — see roster

The current number of active members that are residents of the state of Florida - 536
For the members identified in your response to subpart d, the counties and cities
within the state of Florida where those members reside — see roster

The current number of active members that are residents of states outside of Florida - 0
For the members identified in your response to subpart f, the states where those
members reside — Not applicable

The number of members that are customers of FPL — 436

The names of members that are customers of FPL — CONFIDENTIAL, provided on
roster
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QUESTION:

Please describe the method by which FAIR solicits new members (e.g. via email, internet, phone

solicitation, etc.) and please identify the individuals that are responsible for soliciting new
members.

RESPONSE:

FAIR attempts to recruit new members primarily through advertising on Facebook and
through its website. FAIR’s Board authorized FAIR’s recruitment activities. The person responsible

for this recruitment activity is John Sowinski.
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QUESTION:
If FAIR operates or maintains a website, please provide the address.

RESPONSE:

The address of FAIR’s website is www.fairfl.org.
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QUESTION:

Please identify any publications, trade journals, news outlets, or other publications, whether in written
or electronic form, where FAIR has advertised its organization.

RESPONSE:

There are no publications, trade journals, news outlets, or other publications in which FAIR has

advertised its organization.
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QUESTION:
What person or persons are the founders of FAIR?

RESPONSE:

The incorporator of FAIR is William A. Boyles. The initial directors were Michael

Hightower, John Thomas Herndon, and Frederick M. Bryant.
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Florida Power & Light Company’s
First Set of Interrogatories
Interrogatory No. 17
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QUESTION:
Why did the persons or persons identified in Interrogatory No. 14 above create FAIR?

RESPONSE:

Interrogatory No. 14 above requested FAIR’s website address, which was provided.

The persons identified in response to Interrogatory No. 16 above formed FAIR for the purposes set

forth in FAIR’s articles of incorporation.
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QUESTION:

Was FAIR created, in whole or in part, for the purpose of intervention in this proceeding?
RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. This interrogatory seeks irrelevant information not
reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant admissible information. As set forth in the
Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order
No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be
issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the burden of proof with regard to this issue.”
Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders
and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative
Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1%t DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing
principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental
Requlation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing
may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an
association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in
a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general
scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated

to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific
objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in any
way, FAIR responds as follows:
Yes, in part. FAIR was formed for the specific purposes set forth in its articles of
incorporation, a copy of which are provided herewith. FAIR’s purposes specifically include,

among other things, engaging in all lawful actions opposing and advocating against State of
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Florida governmental policies and regulatory or administrative actions that have the potential

to increase the electric rates charged to the residential, business, institutional, and
governmental customers served by Florida investor-owned electric utilities whose rates are
set by the Florida Public Service Commission. The general rate case proceeding in this
Docket No. 20210015-EI has the potential to increase the rates paid by FPL’s customers by
more than $1.1 billion in 2022 alone, and by more than $6.2 billion over the four years
covered by FPL’s proposals in this case.

Thus, FAIR was formed, in part, for the specific purpose of participating, by
intervention, in proceedings like this rate case, in order to oppose rate increases like those

proposed by FPL.
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QUESTION:

Please identify what member interests FAIR will represent for its members in this proceeding that
are not already represented by the Office of Public Counsel and/or other parties. In your response,
please identify the rate schedules pursuant to which members of FAIR receive service from FPL.

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders
and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative
Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1%t DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing
principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental
Requlation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing
may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an
association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in
a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general
scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in any
way, FAIR responds as follows:

While the interests of FAIR’s members in having the Florida PSC set rates for FPL that are
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as low as possible while ensuring that FPL can provide safe and reliable service coincide to

some degree with the interests represented by other “consumer parties” in this case, FAIR’s
members have specific interests in presenting their evidence and arguments to the PSC in
the manner determined to be in the members’ interests by FAIR’s board of directors,
including all rights set forth in Section 120.57(1)(b), Florida Statutes. FAIR’s witnesses are
likely to take somewhat differing positions on certain issues in this case, and FAIR’s
members have specific rights to present their specific evidence and argument on all issues in
the case.

Further, as FPL is well aware from past actions and decisions, there is a significant
probability that this case will be resolved by a settlement agreement involving some, but not
all, of the parties to the docket. FAIR’s members have specific interests in participating in
any settlement discussions or negotiations involving any parties to this case, because
otherwise, the case is subject to being “settled out from under” FAIR and its members

without their even participating in such negotiations.

Rate Schedules of FAIR Members

FAIR has not surveyed its members or collected specific information regarding the
specific rate schedules under which they take service from FPL. Without waiving its
objections, FAIR states that FAIR has members that are both residential and business
customers of FPL. On information and belief, FAIR believes that these customers are served
under FPL’s residential rate schedules, possibly including time-of-use rates, and under FPL’s
general service schedules, possibly including time-of-use rates and possibly including

demand-metered rates.
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QUESTION:

For any interests identified in Interrogatory No. 19 above, please explain whether and, if so, how
those interests are not adequately represented by the Office of Public Counsel and/or other parties in
this proceeding without FAIR’s participation?

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1%t DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Requlation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in any

way, FAIR responds as follows:
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This Interrogatory is redundant to FPL’s Interrogatory No. 19. Please see FAIR’s response

to Interrogatory No. 19 above.
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QUESTION:

How, if at all, does FAIR believe that its members will be harmed if FAIR is not allowed to
participate in this proceeding?
RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1 DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Requlation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in any

way, FAIR responds as follows:
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If FAIR’s members are not allowed to participate through FAIR’s intervention as a full
party in this proceeding, they would, at a minimum, be harmed in that they would be deprived
of their specific rights guaranteed to them by Section 120.57(1)(b), Florida Statutes, to present
their specific evidence and argument, to conduct their own specific cross-examination of
witnesses, to submit proposed findings of facts, and to file exceptions to any orders as may be
appropriate. This would likely rise to the level of a denial of their fundamental procedural due
process rights under the Florida and United States Constitutions.

Moreover, FAIR’s members would be harmed by being deprived of their statutory
rights to have the Commission hear their specific evidence, which in this case will include the
expert testimony of Timothy J. Devlin, who served for 35 years on the Florida PSC Staff,
including service as Director of Auditing and Finance and as the PSC’s Executive Director; of
John Thomas Herndon, who served as a member of the Florida PSC, who served two Florida
Governors as their Chief of Staff, and who also served as the Executive Director of the Florida
State Board of Administration, which administers the State’s pension funds and other
significant accounts; and of FAIR’s chosen witness on cost of capital and capital structure.

Further, as FPL is well aware from past actions and decisions, there is a significant
probability that this case will be resolved by a settlement agreement involving some, but not
all, of the parties to the docket. FAIR’s members have specific interests in participating in
any settlement discussions or negotiations involving any parties to this case, because
otherwise, the case is subject to being “settled out from under” FAIR and its members

without their even participating in such negotiations.
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QUESTION:

Please identify each issue that FAIR plans to raise in this proceeding that it feels will not be
adequately addressed by other parties in this proceeding.

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order™), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1 DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Regulation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in any

way, FAIR responds as follows:

The suggestion that FAIR’s intervention and standing to intervene depends in any way on
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whether other parties might “adequately address” such issues is irrelevant, spurious, and nonsensical

in that it asks FAIR to predict what the other parties in the case will do over the next three months,
and the interrogatory has no basis in law.

At this time, FAIR has not identified all of the issues that it will raise or litigate in this
proceeding, but even as to those issues that FAIR will litigate, including the specific issues that its
witnesses will address, it is obviously impossible to state with certainty whether any other party will
“adequately address” any issue, from the perspective of FAIR’s members, because FAIR is obviously
without knowledge as to what evidence and cross-examination the other parties will advance either in
their direct testimony or at the hearings in the case, and also without knowledge as to what legal and
policy arguments the other parties will advance.

Further, FAIR’s concerns that it would be excluded from any settlement discussions are
exacerbated and compounded by the fact that FAIR does not know what positions any other parties

might agree to in such discussions or negotiations.
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QUESTION:
Regarding the statement in its Motion to Intervene that “FAIR’s membership is growing,” please
explain what efforts have led to this growth?

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1% DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Regulation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in

any way, FAIR responds as follows:

FAIR has established a website that invites customers of Florida’s investor-owned utilities
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to join FAIR for the purposes of advocating by all lawful means for the lowest possible electric

rates that are consistent with their utilities providing safe and reliable service, and of opposing
by all lawful means utility proposals for rates and rate increases that are greater than necessary
for their utilities to provide safe and reliable service. FAIR has placed advertisements for
FAIR on Facebook that provide the opportunity for customers to connect to the FAIR website
and consider whether to join.

These efforts have led to growth in FAIR’s membership to a total of 536 members,

including 436 FPL customers as FAIR members, as of June 17, 2021.
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QUESTION:
Please provide the following information regarding FAIR’s membership:
a. The current number of active members

The names of active members

The dates that each person became a member

The current number of active members that are residents of the State of Florida
For the members identified in your response to subpart d, the counties and cities
within the State of Florida where those members reside

The current number of active members that are residents of states outside of Florida
For the members identified in your response to subpart f, the states where those
members reside

h. The number of members that are customers of FPL

i. The names of members that are customers of FPL

®oo0o

«Q

RESPONSE:

See response to Interrogatory No. 12.
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QUESTION:

Please provide the following information for any FAIR members that are FPL customers:
a. The dates they became members of FAIR
b. Their addresses
c. Alist of every issue they would like to have or believe should be addressed in this
proceeding that is unique to FAIR members
d. The reason or reasons why they believe the issues identified in your response to
subpart ¢ cannot be adequately addressed by other parties to this proceeding
e. The reason or reasons why they believe the issues identified in your response to
subpart ¢ cannot be adequately addressed through their individual intervention in
this proceeding
RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders
and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative
Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1% DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing
principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental
Regulation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing
may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an
association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in
a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general
scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific
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objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in

any way, FAIR responds as follows:

The information requested in subparts a and b is provided in the membership roster

that FAIR is providing in response to Interrogatory No. 12.

Regarding subparts c, d, and e, please see FAIR’s responses to Interrogatories Nos.
19, 20, 21, and 22.
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QUESTION:
Does FAIR receive financial support or funding from any person or persons other than its
members? If so, please identify this/these person or persons.

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1% DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Regulation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in

any way, FAIR responds as follows:

FAIR will not respond to this interrogatory. FAIR’s funding is not an issue nor related to
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any issue in this case.
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QUESTION:
Please explain why FAIR selected the Gray Robinson law firm in Orlando to be its
organizational headquarters.

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1% DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Regulation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in

any way, FAIR responds as follows:
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FAIR selected the Gray Robinson law firm to be its organizational headquarters

because Gray Robinson is FAIR’s corporate counsel.
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Please provide the following information for all persons that have executed the Confidentiality Agreement
and/or acknowledged the Electronic Data Room Procedures on behalf of FAIR in this proceeding:

o0 o

RESPONSE:

a.

c,de.

Their names, addresses, occupations, and business addresses

Their relationship to FAIR (e.g. officer, employee, attorney, consultant, etc.)

A summary of their background and qualifications

Whether they will provide fact or expert opinions in this proceeding

If they are expected to provide fact or expert opinions, a list of the issues they plan to address

FAIR has previously furnished to FPL its roster for access to the electronic data room. The
business address for Wright, LaVia, and Hill is 1300 Thomaswood Drive, Tallahassee, Florida
32308. The business address for the GDS Associates personnel is 1850 Parkway Place, Suite
800, Marietta, Georgia 30067. The business address for Herndon is 9062 Eagles Ridge Drive,
Tallahassee, Florida 32312. The business address for Devlin is 21 Equine Drive,

Crawfordville, Florida 32327.

Wright and LaVia are attorneys, and Hill is their legal assistant. The others are consultants.

The background and qualifications of the three persons on the data room roster who will
testify in the case (Mac Mathuna, Herndon, and Devlin) will be provided in their direct
testimony submitted on Monday, June 21, 2021. They will provide expert opinions and some
fact testimony in this proceeding. The issues that they will address will be set forth clearly and

specifically in their direct testimony that will be filed and served on Monday, June 21, 2021.
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REQUEST:

Please produce documents identified in your response to FPL’s First Set of Interrogatories Nos.
(1-28) to FAIR or that support those responses.

RESPONSE:

Interrogatory No. 4: The resumes of FAIR’s witnesses are attached.
Interrogatory No. 6 and No. 8: Please see the responsive document.

Interrogatory No. 12: A redacted roster of FAIR’s members as of June 17, 2021 is attached. The
unredacted membership roster is being produced subject to FAIR’s First Request for
Confidential Classification.
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First Name Last Name Address City State Zip Utility Business Name Source
Punta Horda Florida 33950 FPL online
Melbourne Florida 32940 FPL online
Boca Raton Florida 33434 FPL online
Keystone Hgts Florida 32656 FPL online

Homestead Florida 33030-6255 FPL online
Immokalee Florida 34142 FPL online
Miami Florida 33193 FPL online
Malabar Florida 32950 FPL online
Melbourne Florida 32935 FPL online
Sebastian Florida 32976 FPL online
Naples Florida 34114 FPL online
Palm Bay Florida 32907 FPL online
Fort Myers Florida 33919 FPL online
Palm Coast Florida 32137 FPL online
Hialeah Florida 33016 FPL online
St. Augustine Florida 32086 FPL online
Ormond Beach fl Florida 32174 FPL online
Groveland Florida 34736 FPL online
Lauderhill Florida 33319 FPL online
Vero Beach Florida 32967 FPL online
Ormond Beach Florida 32174 FPL online
Port Charlotte Florida 33948 FPL online
Lake Worth Florida 33467 FPL online
Port St. Lucie Florida 34986 FPL online
Boynton Beach Florida 33436 FPL online
Cutler Bay Florida 33189 FPL online
Delray Beach Florida 33484 FPL online
Ormond Beach Florida 32174 FPL online
Hollywood FL 33021 FPL pdf

Vero Beach Florida 32963 FPL online
Boca Raton Florida 33498 FPL online
Jacksonville Florida 32225 FPL online
Ormond Beach Florida 32174 FPL online
Fort Lauderdale Florida 33316 FPL online
Palm Beach Gardens  Florida 33418 FPL online
plantation Florida 33322 FPL online
Yulee Florida 32097 FPL online
Melbourne Florida 32940 FPL online
Indialantic Florida 32903 FPL online
Indialantic Florida 32903 FPL online
Port Charlotte Florida 33953 FPL online
Lehigh Acres Florida 33936 FPL online
Palm Bay Florida 32905 FPL online
Titusville Florida 32780 FPL online
Stuart Florida 34997 FPL online
Titusville FL 32780 FPL pdf

Mims Florida 32754 FPL online
Palm Bay Florida 32907 FPL online
Port Saint Lucie Florida 34952 FPL online
Davie Florida 33328 FPL online
Bonita Springs Florida 34135 FPL online
Jensen Beach Florida 34957 FPL online
West Palm beach Florida 33404 FPL online
NORTH PALM BEACH  Florida 334085561 FPL online
Port St Lucie Florida 34986 FPL online
Pory St Lucie Florida 34986 FPL online
Port St Lucie Florida 34986 FPL online
Oviedo FL 32766 FPL PDF

Palm Bay Florida 32905 FPL online
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Fort Lauderdale Florida online
Cooper City FlI Florida online
Tamarac Florida online
Melbourne Florida online
St Augustine Florida online
palm coast Florida online
Deltona Florida online
Fort Myers Florida online
Miami Florida online
Miami Florida online
Port Charlotte Florida online
ft. Mccoy Florida online
Merritt Island Florida online
Port Orange Florida online
Miami Florida online
Vero Beach Florida online
Titusville FL pdf

St. Augustine Florida online
Vero Beach FL PDF

Miami Florida online
Daytona Beach Florida online
Stuart Florida online
Stuart Florida online
Port Orange Florida online
Geneva FL PDF

Pompano Beach Florida online
Palm Beach Gardens Florida online
Rockledge FI Florida online
Bonita Springs Florida online
Port Saint Lucie Florida online
Fort Pierce Florida online
Vero Beach Florida online
Melbourne Florida online
Fort Myers Florida online
Pomona Park Florida online
Jupiter Florida online
LAKE WORTH Florida online
Ormond Beach Florida online
North Port Florida online
Orange Park Florida online
Palm Coast Florida online
tamarac Florida online
Englewood Florida online
Fort Myers Florida online
Coral Springs Florida online
Tavernier Florida online
Port St. Lucie Florida online
Port Saint Lucie Florida online
Cocoa Florida online
Sunrise Florida online
Naples Florida online
Daytona Beach Florida online
Geneva Florida online
Naples Florida online
Naples Florida online
Daytona Beach Florida online
Port orange Florida online
Pembroke pines Florida online
Cocoa Beach FL online
Boca Raton Florida online
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Delray Beah
Boynton Beach
Cocoa

Miami

Palm coast
Wellington
Merritt Island
Palm Coast
Deltina
Boynton Beach
Ormond Beach
Pembroke Pines
Parrish
Middleburg
Naples

Fort Myers
Boynton Beach
Coconut Creek
Miami

Delray Beach
Hollywood
Boynton Beach
Delray Beach
Pembroke Pines
lake city

Port Charlotte
Boca raton
Palm City
Hollywood
Lake Worth
Ocala

Vero Beach
Yulee
PEMBROKE PINES
Delray Beach
Fort Pierce
Fort Pierce
Palatka
Coconut Creek
Stuart

Miami

Miami

Miami

Miami

St Augustine
Ormond Beach
Ormond Beach
Ft. Pierce
Homestead
Mims

Cape Canaveral
Ormond beach
Ormond beach
Palm Coast
The Villages
Port Orange
Tamarac

Fort Pierce
Palm Bay

palm coast

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
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33484
33473
32923
33162
32137
33414
32952
32164
32738
33435
32174
33029
34219
32068
34108
33916
33437
33066
33193-2474
33446
33019
33472
33445
33026
32024
33948
11709
34990
33027
33467
34482
32960
32097
33028
33445
34982
34982
32177
33066
34997
33133
33186
33186
33186
32092
32174
32174
34951
33032
32754
32920
32174
32174
32137
32159
32128
33321
34982
32905
32137
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Plantation
Holly Hill
Charlotte Harbor
Palm Coast
Viera

Fort Myers
Delray Beach
Palm Bay

Palm Bay

Palm Bay
Burnsville

Port saint Lucie
West Melbourne
Ormond beach
Tequesta
Pembroke Pines
Daytona Beach, florida
Naples

Naples

Delray Beach
Vero Beach
Tamarac

PALM COAST
Delray beach, FL
Palm Coast
Vero Beach
Vero Beach
Vero Beach
Cape Canaveral
Ft Lauderdale
Sarasota
Sarasota
Rotonda West
Palm Coast
Hollywood
Hollywood
Aventura

KEY WEST

KEY WEST
Satsuma

Palm Coast
Florida

Palm coast
Palm Coast
Palm Bay

S Palm Beach
Holly Hill
Ormond beach
Melbourne
Davie

Ormond Beach
Daytona Beach
FortMyers
Stuart

Palm Coast
Boynton beach
Vero Beach
Boynton Beach
Cocoa

Delray Beach

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL

Fl

FL
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL

FL

FL
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL
Florida
Florida
Florida
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Port St. John Florida 32927 online
West Palm Beach Florida 33411 online
Mims Florida 32754 online
Coral Springs, FL Florida 33076 online
Port St Lucie Florida 34953 online
Miramar Florida 33027 online
Hialeah Florida 33015 online
Macclenny Florida 32063 online
South Daytona Florida 32119 online
St Augustine Florida 32095 online
Titusville Florida 32780 online
daytona beach Florida 32129 online
Naples Florida 34113 online
Daytona beach Florida 32119 online
Melbourne Florida 32934 online
ESTERO Florida 33928 online
Miami Florida 33165 online
Deerfield Beach Florida 33443 online
Miami Florida 33186 online
Punta Gorda Florida 33950 online
Hobe Sound Florida 33455 online
Miami FL 33176 pdf

Melrose Florida 32666 online
Palm Coast Florida 32164 online
Cutler Bay Florida 33190 online
delray beach Florida 33446 online
Bonita Springs Florida 34135 online
Port St. Lucie Florida 34983 online
PaLm bay Florida 32907 online
Port Saint Lucie Florida 34952 online
Miami Florida 36176 online
Palm Bay Florida 32907 online
Vero Beach FL 32966 pdf

Vero Beach FL 32966 pdf

Arcadia Florida 34266 online
Ormond Beach Florida 32174 online
Melbourne Florida 32940 online
Jupiter Florida 33478 online
Boynton Beach Florida 33437 online
Chuluota Florida 32766 online
St. augustine Florida 32092 online
Naples Florida 34120 online
Palm Coast Florida 32164 online
Punta Gorda Florida 33982 online
Port St. Lucie Florida 34952 online
Naples Florida 34112-7239 online
Plantation Florida 33322-4806 online
Port St. Lucie Florida 34984 online
west palm beach Florida 33411 online
Port St. Lucie Florida 34983 online
Lake Worth Florida 33467 online
W.P.B. Florida 33413 online
Hialeah FL Florida 33018 online
Miami Florida 33174-1880 online
Punta GORDA Florida 33950 online
Cape Coral Florida 33914 online
North Port Florida 34288 online
Lehigh Acres Florida 33936 online
Ormond Beach Florida 32174 online
Merritt Island Florida 32953 online
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Port Saint Lucie
Vero Beach
Cocoa, Fl

Delray Beach
JUPITER

cocoa

Port Charlottte
Port Charlottte
Lake Worth
West Palm Beach
Fort Myers, FL
Orlando
Sanford
Rotonda West
Micco
Pompano Beach
Titusville
Oakland Park
Davie

Palm Coast
Boca Raton,
Boca Raton, Fl
BUNNELL

Fort Pierce
Miami

Miami, Fl
Hollywood
Naples

Boynton Beach
Fort Lauderdale
Hollywood
Vero Beach
Merritt Island
Coral springs
Pembroke Pines
Boynton Beach
Davie

Barefoot Bay
Palm bay
Greenacres
Palm coast
Titusville

Palm Bay

Port St Lucie
Pembroke Pines
Port Saint Lucie
DAYTONA BEACH
Palm Coast
Crescent city

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida

Fort LauderdaleLauderh Florida

Melbourne fl
Deerfield Beach
Palm Bay
Merritt Island
Jensen Beach
Cooper City
Miami

Ft Myers

Port st Lucie
Ormond Beach

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida

EXHIBIT D

34987
32963
32926
33484
33458
32926
33981
33981
33467
33417
33901
32832
32771
33947
32976
33060
32796
33309
33324
32137
33496
33496
32110
34982
33187
33174
33021
34116
33436
33321
33024
32968
32952
33065
33029
33437-7541
33324
32976
32907
33463
32164
32780
32909
34987
33029
34953
32114
32164
32112
33313
32935
33441
32909-5576
32953
34957
33328
33174
33913
34986
32176
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Vero Bech
Melbourne
Fort Lauderdale
Stuart

Ormond Beach
North Miami
Vero Beach
Vero Beach
Miami

Ft Myers
Miami

Ormond Beach
Pompano beach
merritt island
Rockledge, FL
Ormond Beach
Sebastian
Edgewater
Melbourne
Vero Beach
arcadia

Vero Beach
Hollywood
Lake Worth
Naples

PORT ST. LUCIE
Punta Gorda
FT. MYERS, FL.
Bunnell

Port Charlotte
Melbourne
Tavenier

Port St. Lucie
Fort Myers
Stuart

Vero Beach
Vero Beach
Hobe Sound
Vero Beach
Vero Beach
Vero Beach
Palm bay

Cape Canaveral
Daytona Beach
Boynton beach
Palm Bay
pompano beach
Edgewater

St. Augustine
Coral Springs
Fernandina Beach
Port saint Lucie
Daytona Beach
Cocoa Beach
Fort Myers
LANTANA
Pompano Beach
Vero Beach
Greenacres
Viera

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL

Florida
Florida
FL

FL

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
FL

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
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32960
32940
33309
34997
32176
33161
32963
32966
33138
33967
33175
32174
33064
32953
32955
32174
32958
32141
32940
32960
34266
32968
33026
33463
34114
34983
33955
33912
32110
33981
32901
33070
34962
33905
34997
32963
32963
33455
32963
32963
32960
32907
32920
32114
33426
32907
33060
32141
32084
33065-4506
32034
34983
32124
32931
33913
33462
33062
32966
33463
32940
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Fort pierce
Palm coast

Fort Lauderdale
Jacksonville
Bonita Springs
Arcadia

Cocoa

South Daytona
Bonita Springs
Sebastian Fla

Ft Myers
Port Saint Lucie
Punta Gorda
Elkton

cocoa

Ormond Beach
Bonita Springs

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida

EXHIBIT D

34951
32164
33304
32258
34135
34269
32936

34134
32976
33912
34952
33983
3.2034E+20
32922
32174
34134
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First Name Last Name Address State Zip Utility Business Name Source
Deltona Florida 32725-9624 Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Orlando Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
The Villages Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Ocklawaha Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Summerfield Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Fort Pierce Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Tampa Florida 33609-1219 Tampa Electric Company (TECO) ONLINE
Meritt Island Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Deland Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Pierson Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Mount Dora Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Jacksonville Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Belleview Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Apopka Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
WINTER GARDEN Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Umatilla Florida 32784-7118 Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Kissimmee fl Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duk ONLINE
Altamonte Springs, FL Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duk ONLINE
Kissimmee, Fl. Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duk ONLINE
Oviedo Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duk ONLINE
Longwood Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Summerfield Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Fort Myers Beach Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
DeBary Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
DeBary Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Lake Worth Beach Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Orlando Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Casselberry, Fl. Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
tampa Florida Tampa Electric Company (TECO) ONLINE
Umatilla Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Mount Dora Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Cape Coral Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Clermont Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Bushnell Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Fernandina Beach Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Davenport FL Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Orlando Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Orange City Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Oakland Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
POINCIANA FLORIDA Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Mt. Dora Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duk ONLINE
Oviedo Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
The Villages Florida Tampa Electric Company (TECO) ONLINE
FL Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE

Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Eustis Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Davenport Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Orlando Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Lady Lake Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
OCALA Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Jacksonville Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Longwood Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
St. Cloud Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
LEESBURG Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Longwood Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Oviedo Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duk ONLINE
Orlando Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke| ONLINE
Winter Springs Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Saint Cloud Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Dunnellon Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Ocala Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Lady Lake Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Ocala Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Orlando Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Reddick Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Ocala Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
st. cloud Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Pensacola Florida Gulf Power Company (Gulf) ONLINE
eutis Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Summerfield Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Windermere Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Ocala Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Orlando Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Fernandina beach Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Ocala Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Ocala Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
Belleview, fl Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Ocala Florida Duke Energy Florida (Duke) ONLINE
Saint Johns Florida Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC) ONLINE
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Dunnellon
Hernando
Eustis

Cape Coral
Winter Springs
Jacksonville
mt dora
Cape Coral
Orlando
Deland
Mount Dora
Ocala
Mount Dora
Jacksonville
Florida
Casselberry
Lady Lake
Orlando
Sorrento
Belleview
The Villages

Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida

EXHIBIT D

Duke Energy Florida (Duke|
Duke Energy Florida (Duke|
(
(

Duke Energy Florida (Duk

Duke Energy Florida (Duke|

Duke Energy Florida (Duke)

Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC)
Duke Energy Florida (Duke)

Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC)
Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC)
Duke Energy Florida (Duke)

Duke Energy Florida (Duke)

Duke Energy Florida (Duke)

Duke Energy Florida (Duke)

Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC)
Duke Energy Florida (Duke)

Duke Energy Florida (Duke|

Duke Energy Florida (Duke|

Duke Energy Florida (Duke|

Duke Energy Florida (Duke|

Duke Energy Florida (Duke)

Florida Public Utilities Company (FPUC)
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BEFORE THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

DOCKET NO: 20210015-ET
Date: July 15, 2021

In re: Petition by Florida Power & Light
Company for Rate Unification and for Base
Rate Increase

/

DEPOSITION OF:
NANCY WATKINS
July 29th, 2021
1:35 p.m. - 3:20 p.m.

WEBEX

Reported By: DANIA ALEN, FPR
Florida Professional Reporter
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Nancy Watkins

Docket No. 20210015-El
Appendix B, Page 2 of 117

July 15, 2021

Page 2 Page 4
1 APPEARANCES 1 INDEX OF PROCEEDINGS
2 On behalf of Florida Power & Light Company: 2 Page
3 Florida Power & Light Company
4200 West Flagler Street 3 D}IEPOSITION QF NANCY WATKINS
a Law/SCS-2nd Floor 4 Direct Examination By MR. MCALILEY............. 6
Miami, FL 33134 Cross-Examination By MR. Wright................ 71
5 Tel: 305-442-5190 ) 5 Redirect Examination By MR. MCALILEY........... 75
By: JASON HIGGINBOTHAM, Esquire Certificate of Reporter ) 77
6 e
Outside counsel for FP&L: 6 Certificate of Oath...........cooiiiiiiiiiinns, 78
7 Errata Sheet.........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii 79
Carlton Fields. P.A. 7  Witness Notification Letter.................... 80
8 2 Miami Central - 700 N.W. 1 Avenue 8
Suite 1200 9 FPL EXHIBITS
o D,ﬁ;i”fu ; 02:33}2339 10 Number Description Page
10 nmealiley@carltonfields . com 1 1 Letter dated June 21, 2021 and ....... 9
By: THOMAS NEAL MCALILEY, ESQUIRE attached Direct Testimony
11 12
On behalf of Florida Industrial Power Users Group: 2 Florida Power & Light Company's ...... 10
12 ) 13 Amended Notice of Taking Deposition
Moyle Law Firm, P.A. Du T
13 118 North Gadsden Street ces lecum
Tallahassee, FL 32301-1599 14
14 Tel: 950-681-3828 3 Floridians Against Increased Rates, .. 11
jmoyle@moylelaw.com 15 Inc. Minutes of Board of Directors
15 By: JON MOYLE, JR., ESQUIRE Meeting
16 On behalf of the Citizens of the State of Florida: 16
17 Office of Public Counsel . .
111 West Madison Street, Room 812 4 Resolut}or} of thelBoard of Directors . 12
18 Tallahassee, FL 32399-6588 17 of Floridians Against Increased
Tel: 850-488-9330 Rates, Inc.
19 christensen.patty@leg.state.fl.us 18
wessling.maryeleg.state.fl.us .
20 pirrello.anastaciaeleg.state.£1.us 5 Answers to Interrogatories ........... 49
rehwinkel.charleseleg.state.fl.us 19
21 gentry.richardeleg.state.fl.us 6 ROSEEY i e 53
By: PATRICIA CHRISTENSEN, ESQUIRE 20
22 MARY WESSLING, ESQUIRE 21
ANASTACIA PIRRELLO, ESQUIRE 2
23 CHARLES REHWINKEL, ESQUIRE 2
RICHARD GENTRY, ESQUIRE
25 25
Page 3 Page 5
1 . ) 1 Deposition taken before Dania Alen, FPR, and
On behalf of Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc.:
2 2 Notary Public, in and for the State of Florida at
Gardner, Bist, Bowden, et al. ,
3 1300 Thomaswood Drive 3 Large in the above cause.
Tallahassee, FL 32308-7914 /U
4 Tel: 850-385-0070
schefegbwlegal . com 5 THE COURT REPORTER: The attorneys
5 By: ROBERT S. WRIGHT, ESQUIRE
6 6 participating in this deposition acknowledge that I
On behalf of Florida Rising, Inc., League of United Latin . , Lo
7 American Citizens of Florida, Environmental Confederation 7 am not phyS1cally present in the dePOSlthH room and
f Southwest Florida, Inc. . , . .
g ooumhmest Fhoxida, me 8 that I will be reporting this deposition remotely.
Barthjustice 9  They further acknowledge that in lieu of an cath
9 111 South Martin Luther King Jr Boulevard
Tallahassee, FL 32301-1451 10  administered in person, I will administer the oath
10 Tel: 850-681-0031 ) }
pmarshalleearthjustice.org 11  remotely. This arrangement is pursuant to the
11 jluebkemanneearthjustice.org . s .
BY: BRADLEY MARSHALL, ESQUIRE 12 Florida Supreme Court Administrative Order No.
12 JORDAN LUEBKEMANN, ESQUIRE o 13 A0SC-20-16. The parties and their counsel consent to
13 On behalf of the Florida Public Service Commission:
14 Florida Public Service Commission 14  this arrangement and waive any objections to this
2540 Shumard Oak Boulevard . L
15 Tallahassee, FL 32399-7019 15 mamner of reporting. Please indicate your agreement
Tel: 850-413-6199 .
16 blherissepsc.state.fl.us 16 Dby stating your name and your agreement on the
sbrownle@psc.state.fl.u 17 record.
17 By: BIANCA LHERISSON, ESQUIRE
SUZANNE BROWNLESS, ESQUIRE 18 THE WITNESS: Nancy Watkins, agree.
18
19 19 MR. WRIGHT: This is Robert Scheffel Wright
20 .
ALSO PRESENT: 20 representing FAIR. We agree.
21 . 21 MR. MCALILEY: This is Neal McAliley
(Name Appearing on Zoom)
22 EMILY OAKLEY 22  representing FP&L, and we agree.
JAY BREW )
23 KATERINA KRAMARCHUK 23 THE COURT REPORTER: Do you swear the testimony
B.L. HERISS ) .
24 MARSHATT, WILLIS 24  you are about to give will be the truth, the whole
) SARAH LEWIS 25  truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

U.S. Legal Support | www.uslegalsupport.com
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Page 6 Page 8

1 THE WITNESS: I do. 1 I also like to take breaks periodically. I

2 THEREUPCN, 2 think it's good for everybody to stretch their legs, and

3 NANCY WATKINS, 3 it doesn't have to be a marathon. So what I try to do is
4  having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified 4 aim for about every hour, when I'm at a logical breaking

5 as follows: 5 point in my questions, to take a break. But if you want

6 DIRECT EXAMINATION 6 to take a break at any point for whatever reason, just

7 BY MR. MCALILEY: 7 please let me know and we're happy to sort of, you know,

8 Q. Okay. Ma'am, could you please state your full 8 step away for a few minutes for all of us, and then we

9 name for the record and spell your last name, please? 9 can pick up.

10 A. Nancy Hemmingway Watkins, W-A-T-K-I-N-S. 10 Does that make sense?

11 Q.  Thank you. 11 A. Yes.

12 Ms. Watkins, my name is Neal McAliley. I'm 12 Q. Okay. Do you have any questions for me before

13 outside counsel for Florida Power & Light, and I'm going |13 we start?

14  to be taking your deposition today. And I just -- before | 14 A. No.

15 we get into the main questioning, I want to ask, have you |15 Q. Okay. Thank you. Okay.

16  ever had your deposition taken before? 16 So, Ms. Watkins, you are a witness in this

17 A. Yes. 17 proceeding for Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc.;

18 Q. Have you ever had it done on a remote platform |18 is that right?

19  like today on Webex? 19 A.  Yes.

20 A. No. 20 Q. And am I right that your counsel submitted your

21 Q. Okay. So let me just explain how this works 21 direct testimony to the Public Service Commission on or

22 from my perspective, just for the purpose of trying to 22 around June 21st of this year?

23 make this a little bit easier. 23 A. Yes.

24 So this is a deposition like any other 24 Q. So what I'd like to do is I want to mark some

25 deposition. You've sworn an oath. I ask questions. You |25 things as exhibits, and what I do is I put them up on the
Page 7 Page 9

1 give -- you answer questions. If your counsel objects, 1 screen. So what I'd like to do is start out by showing

2 that's what counsel does and -- but you still answer the 2 what I've marked as Exhibit Number 1.

3 questions unless he directs you otherwise. 3 So I've just put on the screen -- at least I

4 Do you understand that so far? 4 tried to put up on the screen what I marked as FPL

5 A. Yes. 5 Exhibit Number 1. Are you able to see that, ma'am, on

6 Q. Also, it's my job as a lawyer to ask a question | 6 the screen?

7  that you can -- that you can understand, and this is 7 A. Yes. I can't read it, but I see that it is on

8 where the doing depositions over virtual platform gets 8  the screen.

9 more challenging 'cause it can both be that I ask a bad 9 Q. All right. Does it appear to be a letter dated
10 question and it could also be that we have some technical |10 June 21st, 2021, from the law firm of Gardner, Bist, et
11  glitch. I've been in depositions where there is a 11  cetera?

12 thunderstorm outside and people lose power in their 12 A. Yes.

13 houses, or suddenly you'll hear the voice sounds like 13 Q. And you see as I'm scrolling down here, does
14  Donald Duck for a few seconds. 14  this appear to be the cover letter indicating that this
15 If there's any point in which you don't 15 1is the direct testimony and exhibits of yourself in this
16 understand my question or I cut out or you need me to 16  proceeding?

17 repeat it, please ask me to repeat it. I'll be happy to |17 A.  Yes.

18 do that. 18 Q. Okay. So -- and I won't scroll through all of
19 Does that make sense? 19 it now, but I'll just represent that this is the copy of
20 A. Yes. 20 your direct testimony. So I just want to mark this

21 Q. Okay. And I may do the same thing for you. So |21 Exhibit number 1 for today so we have it for reference.
22 it may be that you cut out at some point in your answer, 22 (The document referred to was subsequently

23 and I may ask you at that point, "Ma'am, could you say 23 marked as FPL Exhibit 1 for I.D.)

24 that again?" or "I missed something," and just so you 24 BY MR. MCALILEY:

25  understand what I'm trying to do. 25 Q. Let me -- I'll stop sharing that, and I'd like
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1 to show the next document. So, Ms. Watkins, you're 1 marked as Exhibit 3, to be a true and correct copy of the
2 testifying in this deposition here today pursuant to a 2 minutes of that board meeting?

3 notice of deposition; isn't that right? 3 A. Yes.

4 A.  Yes. 4 Q. Okay. Thank you.

5 Q. Okay. So what I'd like to do now is show you 5 I'm going to exit out of this document and --
6 what I've marked as Exhibit 2 for the deposition. 6 and show the next document here.

7 (The document referred to was subsequently 7 Ms. Watkins, I've just -- I've now put up on
8 marked as FPL Exhibit 2 for I.D.) 8  the screen what I've marked as FPL Exhibit Number 4.

9 BY MR. MCALILEY: 9 (The document referred to was subsequently

10 Q. Can you see the amended notice of taking 10 marked as FPL Exhibit 4 for I.D.)

11  deposition duces tecum for you -- 11 BY MR. MCALILEY:

12 A. Yes. 12 Q. Do you see a document that's entitled

13 0 -- on the screen? 13 "Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Floridians
14 A. Yes. 14 Against Increased Rates, Inc., in Lieu of Meeting"?

15 Q Okay. Thank you. 15 A. Yes.

16 Now, and you understand that this amended 16 Q. I'mgoing to scroll down. Do you see that

17 notice of deposition asked you to bring to the deposition |17 there's a memorandum dated July 26th, 2021, to various
18  certain documents; right? 18 people including yourself from a Janine Callovi at

19 A. Yes. 19 Consensus Communication?
20 Q. And your counsel -- are you aware that your 20 A. Yes.
21  counsel provided to me yesterday two documents pursuant 21 Q. Okay. So can you tell me what this document
22 to this amended notice of deposition? 22 1s? Let's start with the resolution.
23 A. Yes. 23 A. It adopts the motion to admit individuals who
24 Q. Okay. So what I'd like to do is I'd like to 24 have requested to be members of Floridians Against
25  show those documents and mark them as exhibits. So I'm 25 Increased Rates, Inc.

Page 11 Page 13

1 going to exit out of this, out of Exhibit 2, and show you | 1 Q. Okay. Does that appear to be a true and

2 what I've marked as Exhibit 3 -- I'm sorry. Are you able | 2 correct copy of that resolution, Ms. Watkins?

3 to see that on the screen? 3 A. Yes.

4 A.  Yes. 4 Q. And can you tell me what this attached

5 Q. A document that Floridians Against Increased 5 memorandum is from Ms. Callovi?

6 Rates, Inc., minutes of board of directors meeting? 6 A. It's the background explanation of the adopted
7 A. Yes. 7  resolution.

8 (The document referred to was subsequently 8 Q. And does this appear to be a true and correct
9 marked as FPL Exhibit 3 for I.D.) 9 copy of the memorandum that was sent to you on -- looks
10 BY MR. MCALILEY: 10 like on Monday?

11 Q. Am I right that these are the minutes of the 11 A. Yes.

12 board of directors meeting for Floridians Against 12 Q.  Thank you.

13 Increased Rates that was held on March 25th of 20217 13 Okay. I'm going to exit out of these

14 A. Yes. 14  documents -- this document as well.

15 Q. I'll just represent that this is a copy of what | 15 Okay. So, Ms. Watkins, what is your address?
16 I was provided by your counsel yesterday. 16 A. 610 South Boulevard, Tampa, Florida 33606.

17 And, Ms. Watkins, you were present personally, 17 Q. So you live outside of FPL's service territory;
18 at least -- well, let me back up. 18 right?

19 This meeting was held over a virtual platform, 19 A. I do, yes.

20  sort of like we're doing the deposition today; right? 20 Q. You're not an FPL rate payer, are you?

21 A. Yes. 21 A. No.

22 Q. And you attended this board of directors 22 Q. In your direct testimony, which I marked as
23  meeting, didn't you? 23 Exhibit 1, you indicated that you're an accountant with
24 A. Yes. 24  Robert Watkins & Company, P.A.; is that right?

25 Q. Okay. And does this appear to you, what I've 25 A. Yes.
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1 Q. So am I right that you are not an employee of 1 Q. And when was that bank account opened?
2 Floridians Against Increased Rates? 2 A. Approximately at inception of the entity. This
3 A. Correct. Yes, I'mnot an employee. 3 past spring, March, I believe.
4 Q. And, by the way, just for clarity, I'm probably | 4 Q. Okay. Thank you.
5 going to start referring to Floridians Against Increased 5 And did you -- were you the person responsible
6 Rates as FAIR, by the acronym. It just makes -- it's 6 for opening up the bank account?
7  just easier to say. 7 A. Yes.
8 A. Sure. 8 Q. Okay. So what -- you indicated that you
9 Q. Okay. So, Ms. Watkins, am I right that Robert 9 execute financial transactions on behalf of FAIR. What
10 Watkins & Company has been hired by FAIR to perform 10 type of bills does FAIR pay?
11  accounting services for it? 11 A. It pays professional consulting fees,
12 A.  Yes. 12 administrative fees, other fees and costs in pursuit of
13 Q. So, essentially, you work for a contractor for |13 its purpose.
14  FAIR? 14 Q. Does FAIR have a payroll?
15 A. Yes. 15 A. No.
16 Q. Do you personally hold any titles or positions |16 Q.  FAIR doesn't have any employees; right?
17  with FAIR? 17 A. Correct.
18 A. Yes. I'm the treasurer. 18 Q. And does FAIR pay rent to any entity for office
19 Q. Are you a member of the board of directors? 19  space?
20 A. No. 20 A. No.
21 Q. Now, what I just marked as Exhibit 3 was the 21 Q. So at FAIR who authorizes the payment of
22  minutes of the board of directors meeting on March 25th, 22 invoices?
23 2021. You attended that board meeting; right? 23 A. The president.
24 A. Yes. 24 Q. Am I right that FAIR's bylaws provide that the
25 Q. But you're not a member of the board of 25 board of directors have to approve contracts with other
Page 15 Page 17
1 directors; right? 1 parties?
2 A. Correct. I am not a member of the board of 2 A. Yes.
3 directors. 3 Q.  So before you pay an invoice or a bill, what
4 Q. Am I correct that the FAIR board of directors 4 steps do you take to make sure that the vendor can
5 has not had any other meetings other than that March 5 properly be paid?
6 25th, 2021, meeting that we have the minutes for as 6 A. Make sure it's properly invoiced as necessary,
7  Exhibit 3? 7 obtain Internal Revenue Service Form W-9. If it's
8 A. In the capacity as the board of FAIR, that is 8 pursuant to a contract, make sure we have a fully
9 true, to the best of my knowledge. 9 executed contract on file and additionally get the
10 Q. Okay. Thank you. 10 authorization of the president where the amount might not
11 So, Ms. Watkins, could you tell me what your 11  be a flat fee in accordance with the contract. If it's a
12 duties are as treasurer of the organization? 12 varying fee or a reimbursement, that will get the
13 A. As treasurer, my duty is to execute financial 13 expressed permission of the president to issue payment.
14  transactions at the direction of the board and the 14 Q. Do you take steps to confirm that the vendor
15 president of the entity. Also deal with compliance 15 has an approved contract with FAIR?
16 matters that may arise, particularly with respect to tax |16 A. TWhere appropriate, I request approved
17 filings. 17  contracts.
18 Q. Okay. Anything else? 18 Q. Okay. But do you check to make sure that the
19 A. I handle all the financial transactions. 19 board of directors has approved a contract before you pay
20 Q. Okay. Anything else? 20 an invoice from a vendor?
21 A. As of this date, that's been the extent of my 21 A. I would check to make sure that if there is an
22 activity. 22 approved contract and the amount is pursuant, a flat
23 Q.  Thank you. 23 amount pursuant to that contract, then we'll operate
24 So FAIR has a bank account; right? 24 under that. 1In the absence of that, either amount or
25 A. Yes. 25 contract, it would be approved by the president. To the
U.S. Legal Support | www.uslegalsupport.com 14to 17



http://www.uslegalsupport.com

Docket No. 20210015-El

Nancy Watkins Appendix B, Page 6 of 117
July 15, 2021
Page 18 Page 20

1 best of my knowledge right here (indicating), I do 1 relations, commmnications, and messaging. Why that one
2 believe we have contracts for all vendors. 2 was chosen, if that's the question, I don't have personal
3 Q. Has the board of directors approved the 3 knowledge.

4 contracts for all of the vendors -- 4 Q. Who is the one who made the decision to hire

5 A. Yes. 5 Consensus Communications?

6 Q. -- of FAIR? 6 A. The board of directors.

7 A. Yes. 7 Q. Okay. Was Consensus Communications involved

8 Q. Okay. Okay. Does FAIR pay anything to 8 with FAIR's -- the individuals who make up FAIR's control
9 Consensus Communications? 9 group prior to the date that FAIR was incorporated in

10 A. Yes. 10 March of this year?

11 Q. Have you as treasurer made payments to 11 A. TWho -- can you give me some -- when you say

12 Consensus Communications on behalf of FAIR? 12 control group, do you mean the three members of the

13 A. I would have to -- on specific transactions -- |13  board?

14 T have a lot of clients. I would like the opportunity to | 14 Q. Yes. And any other individual that's sort of
15 consult with my accounting records on specific payments. 15 part of the group that sort of runs FAIR?

16 Q. Okay. But can you -- do you just -- so -- but |16 A. I believe so. It's been a -- but I don't have
17 as you sit here today, do you recall ever approving a 17 personal knowledge of it, but I do believe that members
18 payment to Consensus Communications on behalf of FAIR? 18  of the control group and members of Consensus

19 A. I would need to consult my records, which I'm 19 Communication have known each other in the past. I don't
20 happy to do. 20  know specifically how and why, but all of the parties
21 Q. That's okay. I'm just asking whether you 21 you're referring to have worked in the same arena for a
22 remember now. It sounds like you don't remember now, and |22 while.
23 before you commit to anything, you'd want to look at your |23 Q. So, Ms. Watkins, you work with the people who
24  records? 24  are the members of the board of FAIR in the context of
25 A. I mean, I can print a vendor listing. I can go |25 other organizations, don't you?

Page 19 Page 21

1 print a vendor listing for this client that will show 1 THE WITNESS: Do I need to reveal anything

2 every payment I've made for every vendor. I was not 2 about my other clients?

3 prepared to have that document, but I could produce that 3 BY MR. MCALILEY:

4 document very quickly. 4 Q. Ma'am, if you -- if you need to have an

5 Q. Okay. Thank you. 5 attorney-client communication with your counsel, I

6 Could you tell me what is Consensus 6 suggest that you say that because we're hearing

7  Communications? 7  everything you're saying to your lawyer?

8 A. It's a public relations firm. 8 A.  Well, I understand. I didn't have a problem
9 Q. And what services does Consensus Communications | 9 with you hearing that question.

10 provide to FAIR? 10 Q. Right. So, ma'am, your counsel can object if
11 A. Public relationms. 11  he wants or you should answer the question, but let's do
12 Q. Anything else? 12 this because we're creating a record here with the court
13 A. Well, commnications, public commmications, 13 reporter, so just so we have this all clear. I

14  which I consider all under the umbrella of public 14 understand that your counsel is sitting there with you.
15 relations. Messaging. 15 A. Okay.

16 Q. Messaging. Anything else? 16 MR. WRIGHT: Please ask your question again,
17 A. Not that I know of. 17 Neal.

18 Q. And why did FAIR hire Consensus Communications? | 18 MR. MCALILEY: Sure. Yes.

19 A. That's not -- I don't have knowledge. 19 BY MR. MCALILEY:

20 Q. You don't know why FAIR hired Consensus 20 Q. So, Ms. Watkins, you were involved with the

21 Communications? 21  three members of the board of directors of FAIR in the
22 A. I do not, other than the obvious, for public 22 context of other organizations, aren't you?

23 relations. Why they chose Consensus Communications over | 23 MR. WRIGHT: You can answer that question.

24 another firm, I do not have knowledge of, but they hired 24 THE WITNESS: Not all of them, but I do have
25  Consensus Communications to ask -- work in public 25 prior relations with one or more.
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1 BY MR. MCALILEY: 1 Q. So you see there on the first page of the
2 Q. Are you familiar with an organization or a 2 minutes of that board of directors meeting on March 25th,
3 corporation called Citizens for Lower Electric Rates, 3 2021, it indicates that you attended the meeting; is that
4 Inc.? 4 right?
5 . Yes. 5 A. That's correct, yes.
6 Q. Are you on the board of that? 6 Q. And see right below your name on the minutes it
7 THE WITNESS: Am I in the board of that? Yes. 7 says John Sowinski, President, Consensus Communications,
8 BY MR. MCALILEY: 8 Inc., also attended. You see that?
9 Q. Ma'am, your counsel can't help you. 9 A. Yes.
10 MR. WRIGHT: You're not supposed to ask me 10 Q. Do you remember him being there at the meeting?
11 questions, Nancy. 11 A.  Yes.
12 MR. MCALILEY: Yes. 12 Q. Why was he there?
13 MR. WRIGHT: If you don't know, you can say, "I |13 A. To give advice in his capacity of public
14 have to check." If you know, you can answer the 14  relationms.
15 question. 15 Q. Am I right, Ms. Watkins, that at that board
16 THE WITNESS: I believe I'm on the board of 16 meeting, the FAIR board of directors approved four
17 that entity. I would have to check my records on 17 proposed agreements for services --
18 that. 18 A.  Yes.
19 BY MR. MCALILEY: 19 Q. -- to FAIR?
20 Q. And, Ms. Watkins, that's substantially the same | 20 Okay. 2And am I right that that is shown on the
21 group of people who are officers and directors of FAIR; 21  last paragraph of the first page?
22 right? 22 A. Yes.
23 A. There are -- there is overlap, yes. 23 Q. And I'll zoom it in a little bit to see if it
24 Q. Okay. I'm just curious. The purpose of 24 helps to read this. T just put it up there on the
25 Citizens for Lower Electric Rates and FAIR are 25 screen. The last paragraph on the first page and the --
Page 23 Page 25
1 substantially the same, aren't they? 1 the top of the second page. So am I right that at that
2 A.  Yes. 2 board meeting the board of directors of FAIR approved the
3 Q. Why is it that FAIR intervened in this case and | 3 contracts for two law firms; is that right?
4 not Citizens for Lower Electric Rates? 4 A. Yes.
5 A.  One of them is a membership organization. 5 Q. 2And the law firms are Gardner, Bist and also
6 Q. And that's FAIR? 6 Gray Robinson; is that right?
7 A.  Yes. 7 A. Yes. Yes.
8 Q. Okay. Thank you. 8 Q. And the board also approved agreements with two
9 What role did Consensus Communication have in 9 other consultants to provide expert witness services,
10 recruiting the board members for FAIR? 10 specifically, GDS Associates and Timothy J. Devlin, CPA;
11 A. I do not know. 11  is that right?
12 Q. Does Consensus Communications also work for 12 A. Yes.
13 Citizens for Lower Electric Rates? 13 Q. Am I right, Ms. Watkins, that nowhere in the
14 A. I will have to check my records. I wasn't 14 minutes it indicates that the board of directors approved
15 prepared -- I wasn't prepared with information on that 15 any contract with Consensus Communications?
16  entity. 16 A. Correct.
17 Q. That's fine. I'm just asking whether you 17 Q. Is there a contract between Consensus
18 recall as you sit here today. 18  Communications and FAIR?
19 A. I don't recall. 19 A. I do not know.
20 Q. Okay. What I'd like to do is let's go back to |20 Q.  If there was, it was never approved at that
21 Exhibit 3, which I had shown you earlier. So this is the |21 board meeting on March 25th, 2021; right?
22 minutes of the board of directors meeting on March the 22 A. Not at this meeting. That would be correct,
23 25th. Are you able to see that, ma'am, again, on the 23 yes.
24 screen? 24 Q. And this is the only board meeting that's
25 A. Yes. 25 occurred for FAIR; right?
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1 A. As -- yes. 1  with the content from your organization?

2 Q. And you have been paying Consensus 2 A. No, I don't.

3 Communications with FAIR funds in your capacity as 3 Q. So you don't have any independent knowledge, as
4  treasurer; right? 4 you -- as you sit here today, when somebody could first

5 A. I will need to lock at the records. I have 5 go on the Internet and type in fairfl.org.com and see the

6 hundreds of clients, and I don't want to say something 6 information about your organization; right?

7  incorrect. 7 A. No, I do not.

8 Q. Okay. That's fine. So let's go back to 8 Q.  Thank you.

9 Exhibit 3 here. I'm scrolling down to the second page, 9 I'm going to scroll down here. Now I'm on the
10 and you can see there is a lot of blacked-out text. 10 fourth page and -- let me see if I can -- you see here on
11  These were redactions that were put in the document by 11  the fourth page on the second paragraph right below the
12 FAIR's counsel. 12 redaction, it indicates that "Consensus will handle both
13 You see, though, in the middle of the second 13 the electronic membership application through the website
14  page, it says, "Mr. Sowinski is in the process of seeking |14 and any hard copy applications that are received"? Do
15 quotes for Directors & Officers Insurance"? 15 you see that?

16 A.  Yes. 16 A. Yes.
17 Q. You see that? 17 Q. So am I right that Consensus Communications
18 A.  Uh-huh. 18  handles the recruitment of members?
19 Q. Do you recall him talking about Directors & 19 A. Well, recruitment, they handle the website form
20 Officers Insurance? 20 and distribution of it, and some of that was
21 A. I recall the discussion on D&O insurance being |21 administrative clerical.
22 advised. 22 Q. Okay. Am I right, though, that Consensus
23 Q. Okay. Do you consider getting insurance for 23 Communications is in charge of recruiting members of
24 board members of a new corporation to be a typical 24  FAIR?
25 service of a public relations firm? 25 MR. WRIGHT: Object to the form. Vague.
Page 27 Page 29

1 A. In the context of the meeting that occurred, he | 1 But you can answer.

2 had a contact at a firm when it came up with the board. 2 THE WITNESS: I don't believe that they

3 While it was not directed to him to assign that duty to 3 recruited. I believe they were in charge of giving

4  him, he offered. He had a contact that might be able to 4 people the ability to join FAIR.

5 help with that so he could work on it. 5 BY MR. MCALILEY:

6 Q. Okay. Thank you. 6 Q. Is there -- is there anybody at FAIR, to your

7 I'm going to scroll down here. I'mnow down on | 7 knowledge, that recruits members?

8 Page 3. You see the bottom half of the page, it says, 8 A. No.

9 "Mr. Sowinski presented a draft mission statement, and 9 Q. How does FAIR get its member?

10 after discussion, the Board agreed on the following"? 10 A. Say again.
11  You see that? 11 Q. How does FAIR get its members?
12 A. Yes. 12 A. By advertising on the website and promotions at

13 Q. Why was Mr. Sowinski in charge of drafting the |13 that website for people who are in agreement with the
14 mission statement? 14  purpose to join.

15 A. It's part of public relations and mission and 15 Q. Okay. What does FAIR do to promote the
16  vision are often done by -- my experience, by people who |16 website?

17  have marketing and public relations expertise. 17 A. I believe it does search engine optimization,
18 Q. And I see it also says on Page 3 of the board 18 but I'mnot -- I'm not an expert on that.

19 minutes that he set up the website; is that right? 19 Q. Okay. Who is in charge of running that process
20 A. Yes. 20 of doing the search engine optimization or drawing people
21 Q. 2nd do you see where it indicates that it 21  to the website?

22 states that "the website should go 'live' soon, no later |22 A. Consensus.

23 than Friday, April 9th"? 23 0] Consensus Communications; right?

24 A.  Yes. 24 A. Yes.

25 Q. Do you know when the FAIR website went live 25 Q. Okay. Now, FAIR is paying Robert Watkins &
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1 Company for your time; right? 1 A. The list of those people.
2 A. Yes. 2 Q. And did you -- and is that -- so who put the
3 Q. And when does the board of directors approve 3 roster, the list together?
4 the contract with Robert Watkins & Company? 4 A. It came in through Consensus Communication, and
5 A. I'm-- month to month. I don't believe they 5 the information was compiled by an employee at Consensus
6  have. 6 and provided to my office.
7 Q. Soam I right in understanding that there's no 7 Q0. And who is that employee at Consensus who
8 contract between your company and FAIR? 8 compiled the information?
9 A. Correct. 9 A. Janine Callovi -- Callovi. Janine.
10 Q. Has there ever been a board resolution 10 Q. And where is that membership roster kept or
11  approving payment of sums to Robert Watkins & Company? 11  maintained?
12 A. Not a board resolution, just the president. 12 A. A copy is maintained in Consensus
13 Q. But the FAIR board is in charge of approving 13 Communication, updated daily, and a copy at the time of
14  contracts; right? 14 my verification work is maintained in my office.
15 A. Contracts, yes. 15 Q. I see. So in your direct testimony, you
16 Q. Okay. Let me take down Exhibit 3 here. And I |16 1indicated that you looked at the roster as of a certain
17 want to turn to your direct testimony, ma'am. There you |17 date. Am I right?
18  indicated in your direct testimony that the purpose of 18 A. Yes.
19  your testimony before the commission is to provide the 19 Q. And what was that date?
20 commission with a description of FAIR's membership 20 A. June 15th, I think.
21 composition and to provide your findings regarding FAIR's | 21 Q. 2And why did you look at the roster as of that
22  membership numbers, composition, and the utilities that 22 date?
23 serve FAIR's members. 23 A. In -- it had a very short window of time when
24 Did I characterize that correctly, your direct |24 testimony was due to the Public Service Commission.
25  testimony? 25 Q. Your testimony was submitted to the Commission
Page 31 Page 33
1 A. Yes. 1 on June 21st; right?
2 Q. Is that the only testimony you're going to be 2 A. Yes.
3 providing at the hearing? 3 Q. And am I right that you also reviewed the
4 A. Yes. 4  roster as of June 17th, 2021?
5 Q. So you're not going to be providing testimony 5 A. Yes.
6 on any other topic when it gets before the commission; 6 Q. But just so I make sure I know the date and
7 right? 7  time of the roster that -- the basis of your -- the
8 A. Not -- not that I've been made aware of. 8 statistics you have in your direct testimony, it was the
9 Q. You would be the one who is testifying so 9 June 15th roster which was the basis of your calculations
10 presumably you would know; right? 10 in your direct testimony; is that right?
11 A. I mean, it's something if I -- as of today 11 A.  Yes.
12 that's my understanding, that that's all I would be 12 Q. Okay. Thank you.
13 testifying to. 13 So why did you start by reviewing the
14 Q. Okay. Thank you. 14  membership roster?
15 So what I'd like to do is go through the steps |15 A. Because I was tasked with verifying that the
16  that you took to review FAIR's membership. So am I right |16 membership roster was accurate.
17  that in your direct testimony you state that you started |17 Q. And what information is provided in the
18 by reviewing FAIR's membership roster; is that right? 18 membership roster?
19 A. Yes. 19 A. Name, address, if they are a user of a public
20 Q. And when you say membership roster, what do you |20 utility in the state of Florida and, if so, the service
21  mean? 21  address.
22 A. People who have indicated, through the web 22 Q. Anything else?
23 portal, that they desire to become members of FAIR. 23 A. Let me see. E-mail address and phone numbers,
24 Q. 2And so -- and by the roster, what do you refer |24 although they were not mandatory.
25 to? 25 Yes. So we have e-mail addresses for -- and we
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1  have some phone numbers. 1 A.  Yes.
2 Q. Okay. Anything else? 2 Q. And am I right that a copy of that online
3 A. Name, address, e-mail address, phone number, 3 application form is attached to your direct testimony as
4 service utility, and we kept a record of whether they 4  Exhibit NHW-5?
5 joined through the portal or sent in a PDF by mail. 5 A. Yes.
6 Q. Am I right that all of the information on that 6 Q. All right. What percentage of FAIR's
7  membership roster came from the applications for 7 membership applications have been submitted
8 membership that these individuals submitted to FAIR? 8 electronically through the website?
9 A.  Yes. 9 A. I don't have that percentage calculated. The
10 Q. And there is no other source of additional 10 vast majority of them were online.
11  information of the members other than those applications; |11 Q. Okay. When you say "vast majority," it's more
12 1is that right? 12 than 50 percent; right?
13 A.  Correct. 13 A. Oh, way more. Yes, more than 50 percent.
14 Q. Am I right that that membership roster contains | 14 Q. Could it be more than 80 percent?
15 all of the information that FAIR has about its members? 15 A. It appears to be.
16 A. To the best of my knowledge, yes. 16 Q. Thank you. Okay.
17 Q. And you're the person that had to go through 17 So then let's turn to the other type of
18  the whole list, right, and verify it; right? 18 application, the paper application. What do you mean by
19 A. Yes. 19  that?
20 Q.  Thank you. 20 A. It's where an image, a PDF was called up and
21 Okay. So after you looked at the membership 21 they filled it out and mailed it in.
22 roster, am I right that you also then reviewed samples of | 22 Q. Okay. Am I right that a copy of one of
23 the membership applications that were submitted to FAIR? |23 those -- that the form for paper application is attached
24 A. Yes. 24 to your direct testimony as Exhibit NHW-4?
25 Q. And why did you do that? 25 A. Yes.
Page 35 Page 37
1 A. To test statistic -- to get a statistically 1 Q. So can I ask, how would somebody -- how would
2 significant reliable sample representation of the 2 somebody get a PDF of the application?
3 accuracy of the list. 3 A. It was available on the website.
4 Q.  Why would you have to look at individual 4 Q. So there's a place in there where you could,
5 applications? 5 1like, download a PDF --
6 A. To confirm -- well, we -- I did a contact. I 6 A. Yes.
7  contacted to confirm that the information we had on this 7 Q. -- for an application?
8 list was accurate and that the member intended to join 8 A. Yes.
9 FAIR. 9 Q. Okay. I don't remember seeing that. Maybe
10 Q. Okay. Am I right, based on your direct 10 after a break I'll take a look at the website so I can
11  testimony, that you reviewed samples of the paper 11 make sure I understand how that works.
12 applications as well as the electronic membership 12 Okay. Is there any other way that prospective
13 applications? 13 members were given hard copies of the membership
14 A. Yes. 14 application other than somebody going to the website and
15 Q. So I just want to break down to make sure I 15 downloading a PDF?
16  understand what each of those categories are. Let's 16 A. I don't know.
17  start with the electronic membership applications. 17 Q. Are you aware of whether anybody associated
18 A. Uh-huh. 18 with FAIR has handed out applications to people, you
19 Q. What do you mean when you refer to electronic 19  know, physical copies of applications to people?
20 membership applications? 20 A. I don't know.
21 A. It's where the member filled in fields, spaces |21 Q. How would somebody submit a PDF of their
22 online and submitted it online. 22 membership application to FAIR?
23 Q. Okay. So those are the applications generated | 23 A. It's my understanding it was mailed into Janine
24 by people filling in that form on the FAIR website; 24  at Consensus.
25 right? 25 Q. Okay. So it wouldn't have been e-mailed, it
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1 would have been put in the old-fashioned U.S. mail; 1 Q. Okay. And were you the person who sent the

2 right? 2 e-mails or did somebody else send the e-mails?

3 A. Idon't know. I was not -- they were not 3 A. I sent them.

4 submitted directly to me. 4 Q. It was a lot of time typing out e-mails, I

5 Q. And you say it was sent to Janine at Consensus. | 5 assume, if you have 200 people; right?

6 Is there any place on the FAIR website where it tells 6 A. DNo. We use technology to create a distribution
7 people to send things to Consensus Communication? 7 list of the e-mails out of the colum on the Excel sheet
8 A. I could only presume, yes, with the address. I | 8 which did the distribution.

9 don't know. 9 Q. Okay. What e-mail account did you use when you
10 Q. Okay. Are you aware that the address for FAIR |10 sent e-mails to the people who had submitted

11  on the website is the office of the Gray Robinson law 11  applications?

12 firm in Orlando? 12 A. My own professional e-mail,

13 A.  Yes. 13 nwatkins@robertwatkins.com.

14 Q. Okay. I assume that Consensus Communication 14 Q. And what did you say in the e-mail that you

15  does not work out of the Gray Robinson offices in 15 sent to the people who submitted membership applications?
16 Orlando; is that right? 16 A. I identified myself as an officer of FAIR; told
17 A. Right. 17  them that I was contacting them for the purpose of

18 Q. But you don't know exactly how people would 18 verifying their desire to be a member of FAIR and to

19  have known to send in a hard copy of the membership 19 confirm the information they had provided. Each e-mail
20  application to Consensus Communication; is that fair? 20 was personalized with the information provided. Again, I
21 A. I do not. 21  did not have to type all that in. It came out of
22 Q. Okay. Thank you. 22 technology and asked for a negative confirmation, that if
23 Okay. So then it says after -- so the first 23 the information was incorrect, to please respond or if
24 thing you did is you looked at the roster? 24 they did not intend to be a member of FAIR, to likewise
25 A. Uh-huh. 25 respond to that.

Page 39 Page 41

1 Q. The second thing is you looked at a sample of 1 Q. And how many people responded to the e-mails

2 the actual applications, and then in your direct 2 that you sent?

3 testimony on Page 5, you indicated that you "contacted a 3 A. Of the negative -- I got three negative

4 large sample of the members listed on FAIR's membership 4  responses that the members -- that the people did not

5 roster by e-mail to determine whether their membership 5 intend to be a member of FAIR. One of them happened to

6 information was accurate that: (1) they are customers of 6 be the web developer who said he was only testing it. He
7 an investor-owned Florida utility, (2) if so, what 7 doesn't live in the state, so he was not a user of

8 utility they are a customer, and (3) that they intended 8 utilities. So the information he provided was just not

9 to join FAIR." 9 correct intentionally. So I got two negative responses.
10 Have I fairly summarized that part of your 10 I got a few handfuls where they corrected a street number
11  testimony? 11  or some spelling of their name. Again, this had been

12 A. Yes. 12 information they provided.

13 Q. So is that an accurate description of how you 13 And while we only ask for negative responses, I
14 went out to contact the people who had applied for 14  received fourteen responses that said yes, they did

15  membership? 15 intend to join FAIR.

16 A. Yes. 16 Q.  So how many people just didn't respond at all,
17 Q. So am I right that the sample that you reached |17 never sent you a responsive e-mail?

18 out to was every person on the roster who gave an e-mail? | 18 A. All but 17. I think we sampled -- yes, all but
19 A. Yes. 19 17. So almost 400 -- almost 500, 490, 480 did not

20 Q. Am I right that you contacted those people by 20  respond.

21 sending them an e-mail? 21 Q. Okay. So the membership roster has on it, at
22 A.  Yes. 22 least as of June 15th, some number of greater than 500

23 Q. When did you send those e-mails to the people 23 people who have submitted applications for membership;

24 who had submitted applications for membership? 24 right?

25 A. Around the 17th or 18th of June. 25 A. Yes.
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1 Q. And you sent an e-mail to every single one of 1 Q. But you would agree -- you don't personally
2 those people who had provided an e-mail; is that right? 2 know these people who submitted these applications to
3 A. Right. I think that was 507, yes. 3 join FAIR, do you?
4 Q. And you only got response e-mails from 4 A. No.
5 approximately 17 people? 5 Q. So you don't actually know whether that's a
6 A. Yes, we requested -- because it was a negative 6 real flesh and blood person on the list other than if
7 confirmation sample test. 7  they wrote back to you; right?
8 Q. And so you had approximately 490 people, more 8 A. Of course not, but what you're saying is when
9 or less, just never responded in any way to your e-mail 9  banks do negative confirmation on balances, all those
10  to them; right? 10 customers don't really exist? A negative confirmation is
11 A. Correct, because they were -- the instructions |11 a statistically valid method of confirming the entire
12 were if the information provided was correct or if 12 population.
13 they -- and they intended to join FAIR, no response was 13 Q. Okay. Ma'am, I'm not talking about banks. I'm
14 required. 14  just talking about the FAIR membership list. So my point
15 Q. Is it possible that some of those people never |15 1is you never actually heard back from the great majority
16 got the e-mail? 16  of these people who supposedly submitted membership
17 A. Absolutely. 17 applications, and you don't know whether they're real
18 Q. And you never actually had commumnication with 18  people?
19  those people, because they never wrote back; right? 19 A. No.
20 A. Well, they never wrote back. I did get half a |20 Q. Right?
21 dozen or so e-mail bounce-backs. Majority of them I 21 A. But by not hearing back from them, it's a
22 could correct because they were obvious extraneous 22 higher confidence that they are real people and that the
23 characters, com. -- comx or something like that, and I 23 people on the list intended to join FAIR. I have 14 that
24 could resend it. But, no, to say -- yes, I had 24 did respond back, even though they were directed not to.
25 comunication, but my communication was sent to them 25 Q. How do you know that those e-mails you sent

Page 43 Page 45
1 saying if this is not correct, let me know; otherwise, 1 didn't get caught in a spam filter or something on
2 you need not do anything. 2 someone's e-mail account?
3 Q. Okay. But, Ms. Watkins, am I right that for 3 A. I do not know that.
4  approximately 490 members of FAIR you never got them to 4 Q. So it's possible they could have just missed
5 confimm the information was correct? 5 it? We all get a bunch of e-mails every day.
6 A. Because they were specifically instructed that 6 A. And that is why --
7  they did not need to confirm it was correct. They were 7 Q. Is that possible?
8 specifically instructed they only needed to respond back 8 A. And that is why we strove and went ahead and
9 if the information was not correct. 9 did almost 100 percent tests. Normally 7 to 10 percent
10 Q. How do you know that those are real people if 10 would have been fine. We did almost 100 percent test.
11  they never responded to your e-mail? 11 Q. Okay. But, ma'am, am I right, though, that you
12 A. Because we -- the test, the sample size 12 actually only got written confirmation from less than 20
13 indicates that the list is real people and that the 13 people on the FAIR membership list that they, indeed,
14  substantial majority intended to be members of FAIR. 14  wanted to be members of FAIR?
15 Q. Okay. I want to understand this here, 15 A. I did not request that. It's irrelevant to the
16 Ms. Watkins. So what percentage response rate would you |16 statistical sampling. Those 14 responses are not
17 need to conclude statistically that your -- that the 17  relevant because that was not the test.
18  responses you received represent the answers of the 18 Q. But you -- but you never heard back from --
19 whole? In other words -- 19  okay.
20 A.  Remember -- 20 Let me -- I may come back to this later, but --
21 Q. -- give me an example, and then you're 21 so -- and so I don't need to belabor the point now. But,
22 extrapolating this to the whole. So what percent do you |22 Ms. Watkins, so let me just make sure I got this right.
23 need? 23 You sent e-mails to everybody on the FAIR membership
24 A. On a negative response, something less than 24  roster as of June 15th, 2021, who gave an e-mail; right?
25 5 percent, and we got 2 out of 507. 25 A. Yes.
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1 Q. And you only heard back from approximately 17 1 (A short recess was taken, after which the

2 of them; right? 2 following proceedings were had:)

3 A. Yes. 3 BY MR. MCALILEY:

4 Q. And that means that you didn't hear anything 4 Q. Okay. So I just -- I wanted to ask you a

5 back from approximately 490 of them? 5 follow-up question from the questions I just asked about
6 A. Yes. 6 your e-mails to the people who had submitted membership

7 Q. And you don't personally know these people; 7  applications.

8 right? 8 A.  TUh-huh.

9 A. No. 9 Q. Am I right that you indicated that

10 Q. And so you don't know whether they're actual 10 approximately three people indicated that they had not

11  flesh and blood people; right? 11  intended to submit the application?

12 A. Technically, no. 12 A. No. That they did not intend to become members
13 Q. Okay. All right. So to make sure that I 13 of FAIR.

14  understand what is the information that you asked them to | 14 Q. TWhat's the difference? Can you explain to me
15  just confirm whether the information was correct or not, 15  the difference?

16 am I right you asked them to confirm the accuracy of the |16 A. Well, somebody could -- I camnot go in to their
17  information that they had provided on the membership 17 minds, but maybe they meant they don't want to pay dues,
18  application? 18 and there is no dues, but when they say they did not --
19 A. Yes. 19  they meant to sign up. Whatever they meant by it, they
20 Q. You didn't ask them for any additional 20 meant to sign up, but they did not intend to become a
21 information other than what was on the application form; |21 member of the organization.
22 right? 22 Q. Okay. I see. So these are people who went to
23 A. Right. 23 the website, filled in the form, the fields on it and hit
24 Q. Okay. You didn't ask them, for instance, what |24 "submit" but somehow didn't intend to become a member by
25  their ages were; right? 25 doing that?

Page 47 Page 49

1 A. Right. 1 A. Right.

2 Q. And you didn't ask them for input about what 2 Q. Am I saying that correct?

3 they thought FAIR should argue at this rate proceeding, 3 A. Yeah. The indication was they agreed with the
4 did you? 4 mission and purpose, they didn't intend to be a member of
5 A, No. 5  FAIR, though.

6 Q. You didn't ask them whether they -- who they 6 Q. I see. And did -- and I understand one of

7  thought would be a good witness to present to the hearing | 7 those people was the person who set up the website and

8 for FAIR, did you? 8 they were just testing the system; right?

9 A. No. 9 A.  Correct.

10 Q. You didn't ask them how much they pay in 10 Q. So the other two people, did they explain why
11  their -- in their -- on average their monthly power 11  they didn't want to be a member if they filled out the

12 bills, did you? 12 form on the website?

13 A. No. 13 A. No.

14 Q. Did you ask them how much their power bills 14 Q. Okay. Okay. So, Ms. Watkins, are you aware

15 might go up as a result of FPL's rate proposal? 15 that Florida Power & Light submitted written

16 A. No. 16 interrogatories to FAIR in this case?

17 Q. Did you ever have any telephone conversations 17 A. No.

18 with any of these people in the membership list, 18 Q. Okay. Have you -- well, let me show you what
19 Ms. Watkins? 19 I've marked here as -- I'd like to mark as Exhibit Number
20 A. No. 20 5.

21 Q. So we're getting -- we're at a breaking point. 21 (The document referred to was subsequently

22 It's been about an hour. Would you like to take a 22 marked as FPL Exhibit 5 for I.D.)

23 five-minute break, Ms. Watkins? 23 BY MR. MCALILEY:

24 A. Sure. Okay. 24 Q. And this is a copy of FAIR's responses to

25 Q. Why don't we do that. 25 Florida Power & Light's first set of interrogatories.
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1 Can you see that on the screen? 1 Q. So, Ms. Watkins, I'm going back to June 15th.
2 A.  Yes. 2 That was the date of the roster that you looked at when
3 Q. Okay. Have you ever seen this before? 3 you did your sampling; right?
4 A. No. 4 A.  Yes.
5 Q. Okay. Did you play any role in preparing 5 Q. Okay. So the roster that you looked at on
6 answers to FPL's written questions? 6 June 15th, did that contain all of the information that
7 A. Not in response to this document. 7  FAIR had about the people who had applied for membership
8 Q. Okay. And just in general, did you play any 8 at that point?
9 role in developing FAIR's responses to FPL's questions in | 9 A. Yes.
10  discovery? 10 Q. Is there any other roster that has more
11 A. No. 11  information on it that you're aware of?
12 Q. Okay. All right. Well, I just -- I want -- 12 A. No.
13 let me show this to you and let me ask you some questions |13 Q. So there's not like the double-secret roster
14  about it. You see here I have up on the screen here 14  that has even more information about people, is there?
15 FAIR's response to FPL's Interrogatory Number 12? Can 15 A. Not that I know of.
16  you see that? It's on the top right of the page. 16 Q. Okay. Okay. I'mgoing to exit this document.
17 A. Yes. 17 The interrogatory responses.
18 Q. And do you see that the question from FPL was 18 So am I right, Ms. Watkins, that you attached a
19  "Please provide the following information related to 19 redacted version of the roster to your direct testimony?
20 FAIR," and there is a list of subparagraphs, lettered A 20 A. Yes. Correct.
21  through I? 21 Q. Okay. So what I'd like to do is go back to
22 A. Yes. 22 your direct testimony. I had marked that as Exhibit 1.
23 Q. And you see it asked for FAIR to provide, among |23  You see that up on the screen there, Ms. Watkins?
24 others things, the current number of active members, the 24 A. Yes.
25 names of active members, the date each person became a 25 Q. Okay. So I'm going to scroll down here until I

Page 51 Page 53
1 member, et cetera? 1 get to the roster. Okay. So I'm here now at -- I'm on
2 A. Yes. 2 Page 25 of your direct testimony and exhibits. On the
3 Q. And you see the responses? It gives answers, 3 left side it says "Exhibit NHW-3, Page 1 of 12."
4 and then it references here a roster. So, for instance, 4 Do you see that?
5 on the response on B, "The names of active members - 5 A. Yes.
6  CONFIDENTIAL, provided on roster in response to FPL's 6 Q. Okay. Does this appear to be a redacted
7  request to produce," do you see that? 7  version of the roster that you looked at when you
8 A. Yes. 8 prepared your direct testimony?
9 Q. Do you also see the response to C, the date 9 A. Yes.
10  that each person became a member, "see roster"? 10 Q. Do you have a copy of the unredacted roster
11 A.  Yes. 11  there with you today?
12 Q. Okay. Am I -- am I right in understanding, 12 A. Yes.
13 Ms. Watkins, that all of the information that FAIR has 13 Q. So I may ask the questions about material
14  about the people who submitted membership applications is |14  that's blacked out, but I'm going to try to ask them in a
15 contained on that roster? 15 way that doesn't bring out any sort of personally
16 A. To the best of my knowledge, yes. 16 identifiable information, but I'm just -- for the
17 Q. And the roster, have you -- does the roster 17 exhibit, we have this redacted version of the roster.
18  that you looked at have all the information that FAIR has | 18 So what I'd like to do also, I'd like to exit
19  about the people who submitted membership applications? 19 out of this document here and show you another document
20 MR. WRIGHT: I'm going to object to the form as |20 that I'd like to mark as Exhibit Number 6.
21 being vague. If you'd ask the question with respect |21 (The document referred to was subsequently
22 to any -- an effective date, Neal, that would be 22 marked as FPL Exhibit 6 for I.D.)
23 okay. 23 BY MR. MCALILEY:
24 MR. MCALILEY: No problem. 24 Q. Now, I previously shared this with your counsel
25 BY MR. MCALILEY: 25  yesterday, just to make sure we were literally working
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1 off the same piece of paper. 1 A.  Yes.
2 Can you see up on the screen there another 2 Q. Those all say Florida, I assume; right?
3 version of the roster that has material blacked out in 3 A. Yes.
4 it? 4 Q. And the next colum provides a ZIP code of the
5 A. Yes. 5 person who applied; is that right?
6 Q. Does this look like, to you, the membership 6 A. Yes.
7 roster again that was provided by FAIR just with 7 Q. And the next colum is their e-mail; right?
8 different fields blacked out? 8 A.  Yes.
9 A. I don't know. That could have been a later -- 9 Q. And most but not all of the people who
10 Q.  Pardon? 10 submitted applications provided the e-mail address;
11 A. I don't know what date this is as of. 11  right?
12 Q. Okay. So am I right, Ms. Watkins, though, that |12 A. Yes.
13 the roster that you provided with your direct testimony, 13 Q. And the next colum says "Phone." Would that
14  which is attached to Exhibit Number 1, was a complete 14  Dbe the person's telephone number who had submitted the
15 list of all the people who had applied to become FAIR 15 application?
16 members as of June 15th? 16 A. Yes.
17 A.  Yes. 17 Q. Okay. So then -- so all of those columns are
18 Q. And I also want to confirm that that roster 18 Dblacked out to protect the privacy of those individuals.
19 that was attached to the direct testimony contains all of | 19 Now we get to the columns that have text that
20 the information available to FAIR about those people who |20 you can see. So there is a next colum that says
21 applied to become members of the organization? 21 "Utility." What does this colum represent?
22 A. Yes. 22 A. The investor-owned utility that the person
23 Q. Does that roster also indicate when somebody 23 provides -- received service from.
24 applied to become a member? 24 Q. And am I right that FAIR got the information
25 A. On some of them. 25  from the applications, that the people who applied said
Page 55 Page 57
1 Q. Okay. So I still have up on the screen here 1 this is my utility?
2 what I've marked as Exhibit 6, and I'm going to leave 2 A. Yes.
3 this one up. This is the redacted roster because it 3 Q. Okay. Then it gives --
4 shows some of these colums on the right side a little 4 A. You'll have to excuse me. I've been not well.
5 Dbit more clearly. So I want to ask you some questions 5 So pardon my coughing.
6 about it. 6 Q. No problem. Do you need another break?
7 A. Okay. 7 A. No, I'm fine. Ask.
8 Q. So --solI see--amlI right that the roster 8 Q. Okay. So then I see the next colum is
9 has a series of colums of information on it? 9 business name. What is that? What information is in
10 Yes. 10  that colum?
11 Q. And the first colum is the person's first 11 A. If the person receiving service received it at
12 name? 12 their residence -- if it was not at the residence and it
13 Yes. 13 was at their business instead, they were to provide the
14 Q. And the second colum is the person's last 14  Dbusiness -- name of the business at that address.
15  name? 15 Q. Okay. Am I right that there is only three
16 A.  Yes. 16 businesses that are identified on this roster as of June
17 Q. The third colum is the address of that 17  15th?
18  person -- 18 A. I think there's two.
19 A.  Yes. 19 Q. Two. Okay. And I've blacked out the name --
20 Q. -- right? 20 we've blacked out the names of the businesses here just
21 The next is the city that the person lives in; |21 for confidentiality --
22 is that right? 22 A. Yeah.
23 A. Yes. 23 Q. -- but there is only a few of these redactions
24 Q. Then am I right the next colum is the state 24 there. Okay.
25  that they live in? 25 A. There is only two.
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1 Q. Then I see that there is a colum that says 1 Q. -- is that right?
2 "Source." What does that represent? 2 A. Yes. Yes.
3 A. Whether they filled it out online or mailed it 3 Q.  The people were applying to join FAIR starting
4 in via -- submitted it, however it was submitted, via 4 gometime in June of 2021?
5 PDF. 5 A. Yes.
6 Q. I see. So if something was submitted online, 6 Q. And -- but there's no specific row on the
7  that meant they just filled out the form on the website 7  roster or place on the roster that would give the exact
8 and hit "submit"; right? 8 date for each individual person who submitted an
9 A. That's my understanding, yes. 9 application; is that fair to say?
10 Q. And if it says "PDF" that means that somebody 10 A. I don't know. I don't know what those dates
11 mailed in a hard copy of the application? 11  represent.
12 A. That is what -- my understanding. 12 Q. Right. 2nd there is no -- is there any other
13 Q. OCkay. What does that last column represent? 13 place on the roster that you've looked at that indicates
14  There is not a heading on that last column? 14 for each individual person when they submitted their
15 A. I --Idon't know. I don't know. 15 membership application?
16 Q. I see that there is some -- there is some rows 16 A. No.
17  that don't have anything in that last colum on the right |17 Q. Okay. But just as a general matter, you know
18 side. And, again, I'm looking at Exhibit 6 here. 18  that people submitted their applications to join FAIR
19 A. Yeah. 19 starting sometime in June of 2021; right?
20 Q. The same thing in your -- in the attachment to |20 A. Yes.
21 your direct testimony. So there is some rows that have 21 Q. So if I go -- let's go back here. I'm in
22 nothing. Some just have a bunch of looks like hatch 22 Exhibit 6, and if I scroll down, there is ten pages here
23  marks. I'll zoom in a little bit so we can all see it 23 and if I get down here to Page 9, the colums start to
24  better here, and some have a date and a time. 24 look a little different, and so I have that up on the
25 A. Yeah. I don't know what that is. My guess was |25 screen. I'll zoom in a little just so we can see it
Page 59 Page 61
1 that it was the date they joined, but it's not -- they're | 1 here.
2 not all of them that wasn't relevant to my work. I did 2 A.  Okay.
3 not receive that. 3 Q. So looking at this, I see -- I just want to go
4 Q. Okay. So I see that there's -- I'm looking 4 through these columns here on Pages 9 and 10. They lock
5 here at Exhibit 6 on the first page. There is a date and | 5 pretty much the same. So on utility, that colum, is
6 a time. 6-9-2021, 5:28. It's your assumption, as you 6 that again the utility from which the people -- the
7 sit here, that that would be the date that they submitted | 7 person who submits the membership application say they
8  the membership application? 8 receive their electric service?
9 A. That was my guess. 9 A. Yes.
10 Q. But that's just a guess, huh? 10 Q. And then you see there is a column next to it
11 A. Rbsolutely, just a guess. No idea. 11  that again has dates and times. Do you know what that
12 Q. Okay. So can you tell me when the individuals |12 1is?
13 who are listed in the roster submitted their 13 A. No.
14  applications? 14 Q. Am I right that the first date is -- that you
15 A. Sometime between the start of gathering them 15 see on the pages here on 9 and 10 is approximately
16 earlier in June through the date the list was provided to |16 June 7th, 20212
17 me, I actually had more than one list as it increased and | 17 A. VYes.
18  through the date at which I needed to proceed with the 18 Q. Is it possible that those are the dates when
19 verification process. Sometime -- mostly sometime in the |19 people submitted their applications to join FAIR?
20 preceding ten days, I believe. 20 A. Highly possible.
21 Q. Okay. Let me just make sure I understand. So |21 Q. And then let's go over to the far right side.
22 it's your understanding that the people submitted their 22 Do you see that there is these entries here that have a
23 applications to join FAIR in the preceding ten days 23 web URL, you know, https --
24 before you started your verification process -- 24 A. Yes.
25 A. Yes. 25 Q. -- colon.
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1 A. Yes. 1 A. I'mgoing to have to look. I think there is at
2 Q. Right? 2 least one, but I would have -- it's very tiny print.
3 What is that information? 3 Q. TWhy don't you look. Take your time.
4 A. I don't know. 4 A. Okay. Officers and directors -- some of
5 Q. That's nothing that you typed in there; right? 5 that -- there it is. None of the directors are.
6 A. No. 6 Q. You're not a member, are you?
7 Q. And the person who maintains the roster in 7 A. No.
8 their computer is Ms. Janine Callovi at Consensus 8 Q. Are any of the -- and are you the only -- are
9 Commnication; is that right? 9 there any other officers of FAIR who are not also
10 A.  Yes. 10  directors?
11 Q. Why is the format any different, I'm curious, 11 A. No. So it appears no.
12 between Pages 9 and 10 versus 1 through 8? Do you know? 12 Q. Okay.
13 A. I don't know. 13 A. It appears that the June list that we tested,
14 Q. Okay. So if I go and I look at this roster and |14 that none of the officers or directors were listed.
15 I -- I'mgoing to zoom out a little bit. Let me just go |15 Q. Okay. So when FAIR filed its petition to
16 up to the first -- first page again. On the very first 16 intervene on this proceeding on May 4th, 2021, it had no
17 page of the roster of Exhibit Number 6 and the first 17  members or nobody had even applied to become a member at
18 entry, which is -- the whole thing is blacked out, but 18  that point; right?
19  you have a copy of the -- of the unredacted one there. 19 A. No outside people. TWhen I tested for
20 If I was to ask you in the very first person entry, can 20 membership, I did not test the officers and directors.
21 you tell me how old that person is? 21  Only the people that had applied online and through
22 A. No. 22 the -- that effort.
23 Q. Can you tell me under what specific rate 23 Q. Okay. But the officers' and directors' names
24 schedule that person takes service? 24 are not on the membership roster, are they?
25 A. No. 25 A. Not on this membership roster that was tested,

Page 63 Page 65
1 Q. Can you tell me how much that person pays in 1  correct.
2 monthly average bills for electricity? 2 Q. And there's no other membership roster, is
3 A. No. 3 there?
4 Q. And I presume you can't tell me how much that 4 A. No.
5 person's bills are going to change based on FPL's 5 Q. Soif I --so --
6 proposal? 6 A. Not at this date. Not at this date.
7 A. No. 7 (Crosstalk.)
8 Q. Okay. And there's no specific entry for that 8 Q. Sorry. I don't mean to talk over you. This is
9 person or any other person that would indicate for that 9 one of the problems of doing this online.
10 person when they submitted their membership application; 10 A. Yeah.
11  right? 11 Q. It's hard to --
12 A. I don't know that. 12 A. There is no other roster as of this date.
13 Q. Okay. So am I right, then, in understanding, 13 There is a greatly expanded roster since this date.
14 if I want to -- looking at this roster, that FAIR had no |14 Q. And it's greatly expanded in the sense that
15 members when it was first -- when it was first 15 more people have applied to become members after June
16  incorporated on March 25th of 2021? 16  15th?
17 A. No. 17 A. Yes.
18 Q. And FAIR had no members on May 4th, 2021, when |18 Q. Okay. But, once again, as of the date that
19 it applied to intervene in this proceeding; right? 19 FAIR applied to intervene in this proceeding, May 4th,
20 A. No -- well, its officers and directors were -- |20 2021, it had no -- nobody had applied to become a member
21  could be considered members. 21  at that point; right?
22 Q. Okay. Ms. Watkins, would you lock at the 22 A. No.
23 unredacted version of the membership roster and tell me 23 Q. Okay. Let me exit out of this document here,
24 if any of the officers and directors are listed as 24 and I'd like to go back to what I previously marked as
25 members of the organization? 25  FPL Exhibit Number 4 to the deposition here.
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1 Can you see on the screen, Ms. Watkins, the -- 1 Yes.

2 let me just zoom up the first page -- the resolution of 2 Q. So is it right, then, that FAIR had no members
3 the board of directors of FAIR in lieu of meeting? 3 as of the date that you looked at the membership roster
4 A. Yes. 4  of applications back in June?

5 Q. Okay. I'mnot sure if I asked you this before 5 MR. WRIGHT: I'll object to the form to the

6 when I first put it up, but can you tell me what this 6 extent it calls for a legal conclusion.

7  document is? It was provided by your counsel to me 7 You can answer the question.

8 yesterday. 8 THE WITNESS: I had a list, whether it's for

9 A. It's where the directors did the final work to 9 application for membership or actual membership, to
10 admit and confirm all those that had applied for 10 verify and confirm those people's desire to be a

11  membership to be members. 11 member of FAIR.

12 Q. So was this the first time the board of 12 BY MR. MCALILEY:

13 directors of FAIR had acted to admit anybody to the 13 Q. Hey, ma'am, that wasn't my question.

14  membership of the organization? 14 My question is this: You agree with me that in
15 A. Through an official act, yes. 15  June of 2021 that list of people, the roster, only was a
16 Q. And you've read the bylaws of FAIR, haven't 16 list of people who had applied for membership. It wasn't
17 you? 17 a list of actual members of FAIR, was it?

18 A. Yes. 18 MR. WRIGHT: Same objection.

19 Q. You were at the -- you were at the first board |19 You can answer.
20 meeting back in March of this year when those bylaws were | 20 THE WITNESS: Based on the requirement of the
21 adopted; right? 21 bylaws, not at that time.
22 A. Yes. 22 BY MR. MCALILEY:
23 Q. And you're aware that a person cannot become a | 23 Q. But none of those people were members in June
24  member of FAIR until they're admitted to the membership 24 of 2021, were they?
25 by the board of directors; right? 25 MR. WRIGHT: Same objection.

Page 67 Page 69

1 A.  Yes. 1 You can answer.

2 Q. So am I right in understanding this document 2 THE WITNESS: No.

3 here that the board of directors of FAIR did not admit 3 BY MR. MCALILEY:

4 anybody to the membership until the date of this 4 Q. Why did the FAIR board of directors just issue
5 resolution? 5 this resolution and actually admit people to membership
6 A. Via an official resolution, correct. 6 just this week?

7 Q. Well, there's no other resolution, is there? 7 A. I have no personal knowledge.

8 A. No, I understand. No, there's no other 8 Q. Okay. So just to go through the basic facts

9 resolution, but they were considered -- all these people 9 again to make sure I have this right, you agree with me
10 were considered members. This technically had not been 10  that FAIR had no members as of March -- as of May 4th,
11 done. This formality had not been done. 11 2021, when it applied -- when it petitioned to intervene
12 Q. You say it's a formality, do you view the other |12 1in this proceeding; right?

13 provisions of the bylaws a formality too? 13 A. Correct.

14 A. Let me change the word to this formal process 14 Q. And FAIR had no members as of June 21st, 2021,
15  had not been done. 15  when you submitted your direct testimony; right?

16 Q. Okay. Ms. Watkins, the bylaws say somebody's 16 A. Correct.

17 not a member until the board of directors admits them 17 Q. And FAIR had no members until this past

18  into the membership; right? 18 Tuesday, two days ago; right?

19 A. Ridght. 19 MR. WRIGHT: Same objection.

20 Q. So the board of directors of FAIR did not admit | 20 You can answer.

21 anybody to the membership prior to July 27th, 2021; is 21 THE WITNESS: Yes.

22 that right? 22 BY MR. MCALILEY:

23 A. Yes. 23 Q. If T go here to Exhibit Number 6 -- I'm sorry,
24 Q. Okay. July 27th, 2021, am I right that that 24  not Exhibit 6. This is Exhibit Number 4, and there is --
25 was just this past Tuesday, two days ago? 25 and I see that there is -- it says "Memorandum" dated
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1 July 26th, 2021, from Janine Callovi at Consensus 1 Q. Exhibit 6 was the --
2 Communications. There is several people including 2 A. Redacted.
3 yourself. 3 Q. -- the one with more redactions that had the
4 A. Uh-huh. 4 extra information on the right side?
5 Q. Could you just tell me what this is, this 5 A. I do not believe that was part of my testimony.
6  memorandum? 6 Q. Okay. Throughout the course of your work on
7 A. It's explaining that that resolution needs to 7  this matter, did you understand that the persons listed
8 be adopted and why. 8 on the roster to be members of FAIR?
9 Q. Okay. So it wasn't even presented to the board | 9 A. Yes.
10 to admit anybody to become a member until this past 10 Q.  TWhy?
11  Monday, three days ago? 11 A. Because the application they had submitted
12 A. Yes. 12 specifically said they wished to be members of FAIR.
13 Q. And, by the way, there is nothing in the roster |13 That requirement within the bylaws was overlooked, at
14  that indicates the age of the person who has filled out 14  least by me, to check, but it was also outside the scope
15  the membership form; right? 15 of my duties.
16 A.  Correct. 16 Q. Mr. McAliley asked you some questions about
17 Q. And you don't know them personally, do you? 17  your sampling technique. At one point, I think you
18 A. No. 18 described it as a negative confirmation test --
19 Q. And you're aware that the bylaws provide that 19 A. Yes.
20  the only people who can become members are 18 years and 20 Q. -- or something like that.
21 older of age; right? 21 Is that a good phrase to use to describe the
22 A. I would have to refer to them, but I would 22 technique that you used?
23 accept that that is required. 23 A. Yes. Negative confirmation as compared to
24 Q. Okay. So am I right, Ms. Watkins, you're just |24 positive confirmation.
25 assuming that everybody is over 18, but you don't 25 Q. Is that a recognized technique in sampling?

Page 71 Page 73
1 actually have information as to their age; right? 1 A. Negative confirmation is a well-recognized
2 A. Correct. 2 technique.
3 MR. MCALILEY: You know, if we could take a 3 Q. Is it widely used?
4 short break here, I may be done or close to being 4 A. Yes, more -- it's more common than positive
5 done here, but it would help me organize my notes. 5 confirmation.
6 Could we get a five-minute break? 6 Q. In what -- in what industries might it be used,
7 MR. WRIGHT: Of course. 7 or what industries is it used, to the extent you know?
8 MR. MCALILEY: Madam Court Reporter, you good? 8 A. It's widely used across all industries. It's
9 Okay. So let's take a five-minute break here. 9 not an industry-specific technique.
10 (A short recess was taken, after which the 10 Q. A couple of follow-up questions on Exhibit 6,
11 following proceedings were had:) 11  which Mr. McAliley asked you about. It does have some
12 MR. MCALILEY: Okay. Ms. Watkins, I have no 12 dates in the far right-hand column; correct?
13 further questions. I want to thank you for your 13 A. Yes.
14 time, and unless your counsel has questions or other |14 Q. And did it also have some indications as to
15 counsel has questions, I want to wish you a nice day. |15 whether the members joined online or by PDF?
16 THE WITNESS: Thank you. 16 A. Yes. There is online and PDF on the colum to
17 MR. WRIGHT: Thank you. I do have a few 17  the left of that.
18 questions on cross-examination. 18 Q. Do you know when any of the PDF applications
19 CROSS-EXAMINATICON 19 might have been submitted?
20 BY MR. WRIGHT: 20 A. DNo. I'mpresuming this date is a submission
21 Q. A short while ago, Mr. McAliley asked you some 21 date, but a substantial number of them were not there, so
22 questions about a document that he identified as 22 I don't know.
23  Exhibit 6. If you know, is that the same as the document |23 Q. Take a look. Do you see any of those indicated
24 that was included as an exhibit to your testimony? 24 by PDF that have a date associated with them?
25 A. Which was Exhibit 6? 25 A. DNone of the PDFs have a date.
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1 Q. Okay. You were -- just to clear up something. 1 in the academic field to confirm the validity of the
2 You were asked a question regarding the roster that 2 approach.
3 was -- that is an exhibit to your direct testimony. At 3 Q. Have you ever testified as an expert witness
4  what point Mr. McAliley asked you do you have more 4  before in any kind of proceeding, legal or
5 information than this. You answered no. 5 administrative?
6 Do you have more information about FAIR's 6 A. No.
7  membership than was reflected on the exhibit you 7 MR. MCALILEY: Okay. I have no further
8 submitted with your testimony? 8 questions. Thank you very much, ma'am.
9 A. No. 9 THE WITNESS: Thank you.
10 Q. Have you looked at any later roster? 10 MR. WRIGHT: I think we're good. We will read
11 A. Oh, for additional members, but no additional 11 and sign. Thank you.
12 information than this. 12 MR. MCALILEY: And I'm going to send an e-mail
13 MR. MCALILEY: Objection. Just for the record, |13 to the court reporter with the exhibits, and I'll
14 objection, leading. 14 copy you on them so you have them.
15 Counsel, you're on redirect, and you're trying 15 MR. WRIGHT: Thanks.
16 to get her to undo an answer. So you need to ask 16 MR. MCALILEY: Thank you.
17 open-ended questions. Her answer to you was no, and | 17 (The deposition was concluded at 3:20 p.m.)
18 so I just want the record to reflect that you're 18
19 leading her to an answer. 19
20 Ma'am, you can go ahead and answer the question |20
21 at this point for the record, but I want to make my 21
22 objection clear. 22
23 THE WITNESS: I do not have any additional 23
24 information about any specific member. Subsequent to | 24
25 this list, there have been additional members that 25

Page 75 Page 77
1 are now part of a roster that I have seen. 1 CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER
2 MR. WRIGHT: Thanks. That's all I have. 2
3 MR. MCALILEY: I just have a couple of 3  STATE OF FLORIDA
4 follow-up questions, ma'am, just some questions from \ COUNTY OF HIRMI-DADE
> your counsel. 5 I, DANIA ALEN, FPR, do hereby certify that I
6 REDIRECT EXPMINATION 6 was authorized to and did stenographically report the
7 BY MR. MCALILEY: 7  foregoing deposition of NANCY WATKINS; that a review of
8 Q. You just testified a moment ago about the 8 the transcript was requested; and that the foregoing
9 statistical method that you used to sample the roster; is 9  transcript, pages 1 through 77 is a true record of my
10  that right? 10  stenographic notes.
11 A. Yes. 11 I FURTHER CERTIFY that I am not a relative,
12 Q. And you talked about this as a negative 12  employee, attorney, or counsel of any of the parties!'
13 confirmation test that you conduct? 13 attorney or counsel connected with the action, nor am I
14 A Yes. 14 financially interested in said cause.
15 Q. And is that a form of statistical analysis? 15 Dated this 1st day of August, 2021 at Miami,
16 A. It's a form of audit sampling. 16 Miami-Dade County, Florida.
17 Q. Can you explain to me what your background is 7
18 in statistics that would give you expertise to opine 12
19  about the validity of different statistical tests? 2 - |
20 A. It's not a statistical test. It's an auditing |, 29 >
21 test. Statistics would indicate a -- the confidence DANIA ALEN, FPR
22 interval and a probability as a result of the audit test, | .5 NOTARY PUBLIC/STATE OF FLORIDA
23 but I ama CPA. I am trained or required to study 23
24 statistics. Prior to this test I conferred with other 24
25  CPAs specifically and especially ones that are recently 25
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1 CERTIFICATE OF OATH 1 WITNESS NOTIFICATION LETTER
2 2 August 1, 2021
3 MS. NANCY WATKINS
3 c/o Robert Wright, Esquire
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 4 Gardner, Bist, Bowden, et al.
4 COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE ) 1300 Thomaswood Drive
5 Tallahassee, FL 32308-7914
5 6
6 I, DANIA ALEN, FPR, Notary Public, IN RE: Petition by Florida Power & Light Company for
7 State of Florida, certify that the witness, NANCY 7 Rate U§1F1cat10n and for Base Rate Increase
(Deposition/Statement, taken on July 29th, 2021
8 WATKINS, personally appeared before me on the July 29th, 8 U.S. Legal Support Job No. Job #2491568
9 2021, and was duly sworn. 9
10 The transcript of the above proceeding is now available
10 for Ms. Watkin's review. Please have her call to schedule
11 WITNESS my hand and official seal this 1st day an appointment between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 4:00
12 of August, 2021. 11 p.m., Monday through Friday, at a U.S. Legal Support
13 Witness produced Florida Driver's License. 12 office located nearest you.
14 Any corrections she wishes to make to the transcript
15 13 should be made on the errata sheet. Please do not write
o on the transcript itself.
16
Sea Pan |
17 We respectfully request that the witness complete their
18 DANIA ALEN 15 review within 30 days, and return the errata sheet to our
. office.
Notary Public 16
19 State of Florida 17
Commission #HH 096129 | 18 Sincergly,
19 FXlQp
20 My commission expires 20
June 19, 2025 Dania Alen, FPR
21 21 U.S. Legal Support, Inc.
22 700 East Dania Beach Boulevard
22 First Floor
23 Dania Beach, Florida 33004
24 23 (305) 358-8188
25 2
25
Page 79
1 ERRATA SHEET
2 DO NOT WRITE ON THE TRANSCRIPT - ENTER CHANGES HERE
3 IN RE: Petition by Florida Power & Light Company for
Rate Unification and for Base Rate Increase
4
NANCY WATKINS
5 July 29th, 2021
(U.S. Legal Job No. Job #2491568)
6
PAGE NO. LINE NO. CHANGE REASON
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have read the
18 foregoing document and that the facts stated in it are
true.
19
20
21
22
DATE NANCY WATKINS
23
24
25
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BEFORE THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Docket No: 20210015-El
Date: July 21, 2021

In re: Petition by Florida Power & Light
Company for Rate Unification and for Base
Rate Increase

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY’S
AMENDED NOTICE OF TAKING DEPOSITION DUCES TECUM

TO: Robert Scheffel Wright
John T. LaVia, Il
Gardner, Bist, Bowden, Dee, LaVia, Wright & Perry, P.A.
1300 Thomaswood Drive
Tallahassee, Florida 32308
schef@gbwlegal.com
jlavia@gbwlegal.com
Attorneys for Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc.

Pursuant to Rule 1.310, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, and Rule 28-106.206, Florida
Administrative Code, notice is hereby given that Florida Power & Light Company (“FPL”) will

take the deposition duces tecum of the following named individual:

NAME DATE & TIME LOCATION

Nancy Watkins

Thursday
July 29, 2021
1:30 PM

U.S. Legal Support
Via WebEXx link
(Link will be circulated to

witness and counsel prior to
the deposition.)

The deposition shall be taken upon oral examination before an official court reporter or
other officer authorized by law to take depositions.

Please bring with you copies of all the work papers or other materials used by you in the
preparation of any testimony filed in this case or used by you in the preparation of any responses

to FPL’s discovery requests in this docket. Please also bring with you copies of the following

documents: (1) all minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors of Floridians Against Increased

Rates, Inc. (“FAIR™); and (2) all records of actions taken by the Board of Directors of FAIR.
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This deposition is being taken for purposes of discovery, for use at trial, or for any other
purpose allowed under the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, the Uniform Rules of Procedure, and
the Rules of the Florida Public Service Commission. Remote video link and call-in information
will be provided to all parties prior to the deposition by Premier Reporting.

Please govern yourselves accordingly.

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

By: /s/ R. Wade Litchfield
R. Wade Litchfield
Vice President and General Counsel
Authorized House Counsel No. 0062190
wade.litchfield@fpl.com
John T. Burnett
Vice President and Deputy General Counsel
Florida Bar No. 173304
john.t.burnett@fpl.com
Russell Badders
Vice President and Associate General Counsel
Florida Bar No. 007455
russell.badders@nexteraenergy.com
Maria Jose Moncada
Senior Attorney
Florida Bar No. 0773301
maria.moncada@fpl.com
Florida Power & Light Company
700 Universe Boulevard
Juno Beach, Florida 33408-0420
(561) 691-7101
(561) 691-7135 (fax)
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

20210015-El

| HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been furnished
by Hand Delivery* and/or electronic mail this 21st day of July, 2021 to the following parties:

Suzanne Brownless

Bianca Lherisson

Shaw Stiller

Florida Public Service Commission
Office of the General Counsel
2540 Shumard Oak Boulevard
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850
sbrownle@psc.state.fl.us
blheriss@psc.state.fl.us
sstiller@psc.state.fl.us

James W. Brew

Laura Wynn Baker

Joseph R. Briscar

Stone Mattheis Xenopoulos & Brew, PC
1025 Thomas Jefferson St, NW

Suite 800 West

Washington, D.C. 20007
jbrew@smxblaw.com
Iwb@smxblaw.com

jro@smxblaw.com

Attorneys for Florida Retail Federation

Barry A. Naum

SPILMAN THOMAS & BATTLE, PLLC
1100 Bent Creek Boulevard, Suite 101
Mechanicsburg, PA 17050
bnaum@spilmanlaw.com

Attorney for Walmart

George Cavros

Southern Alliance for Clean Energy

120 E. Oakland Park Blvd., Suite 105

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33334
george@cavros-law.com

Attorney for Southern Alliance for Clean
Energy

Office of Public Counsel
Richard Gentry

Patricia A. Christensen
Anastacia Pirrello

c/o The Florida Legislature

111 W. Madison St., Rm 812
Tallahassee FL 32399-1400
gentry.richard@Ileg.state.fl.us
christensen.patty@leq.state.fl.us
pirrello.anastacia@leq.state.fl.us
Attorneys for the Citizens

of the State of Florida

Jon C. Moyle, Jr.

Karen A. Putnal

Moyle Law Firm, P.A.
118 North Gadsden Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
jmoyle@moylelaw.com
Kputnal@moylelaw.com
mqualls@moylelaw.com
Attorneys for Florida Industrial Power Users
Group

Stephanie U. Eaton

SPILMAN THOMAS & BATTLE, PLLC
110 Oakwood Drive, Suite 500
Winston-Salem, NC 27103
seaton@spilmanlaw.com

Attorney for Walmart

Nathan A. Skop, Esq.

420 NW 50th Blvd.

Gainesville, FL 32607

n_skop@hotmail.com

Attorney for Mr. & Mrs. Daniel R. Larson




Katie Chiles Ottenweller
Southeast Director

Vote Solar

838 Barton Woods Road
Atlanta, GA 30307
katie@votesolar.org
Attorney for Vote Solar

Thomas A. Jernigan, GS-13, DAF
AFIMSC/IA

Holly L. Buchanan, Maj, USAF AF/JAOE-
ULFSC

Robert J. Friedman, Capt., USAF

Arnold Braxton, TSgt, USAF

Ebony M. Payton

Scott L. Kirk, Maj, USAF

139 Barnes Drive, Suite 1

Tyndall Air Force Base, Florida 32403
ULFSC.Tyndall@us.af.mil
thomas.jernigan.3@us.af.mil
Holly.buchanan.1@us.af.mil
robert.friedman.5@us.af.mil
arnold.braxton@us.af.mil
ebony.payton.ctr@us.af.mil
scott.kirk.2@us.af.mil

Attorneys for Federal Executive Agencies

Floyd R. Self, B.C.S.

Berger Singerman, LLP

313 North Monroe Street, Suite 301
Tallahassee, FL 32301
fself@bergersingerman.com

T. Scott Thompson, Esqg.

Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and
Popeo, P.C.

555 12th Street NW, Suite 1100
Washington, DC 20004
SThompson@mintz.com

Attorneys for Florida Internet and
Television Association, Inc.

By:
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William C. Garner

Law Office of William C. Garner, PLLC
3425 Bannerman Road

Unit 105, #414

Tallahassee, FL 32312
bgarner@wcglawoffice.com

Attorney for The CLEO Institute Inc.

Bradley Marshall

Jordan Luebkemann

Earthjustice

111 S. Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd.
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
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RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF FLORIDIANS AGAINST INCREASED RATES, INC.

IN LIEU OF MEETING

The following actions were taken by the Board of Directors of Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc. (the “Corporation™), by written consent in lieu of a meeting.

RESOLVED, that the persons and businesses who have applied for membership in the
Corporation as of July 25, 2021, as listed in the attached memorandum provided to the Directors
in advance of their consideration of this matter, are hereby admitted and elected to membership

in the Corporation.

FURTHER RESOLVED, that as provided in the Corporation’s Bylaws, there shall be an
annual meeting of the members of the Corporation, which members shall be entitled to attend by
telephone conference or video conference, held on Monday, December 13, 2021, and notice of
the annual meeting shall be provided by electronic mail to all members no later than Monday,
December 6, 2021.

No further business was addressed.

By their signatures below, the undersigned hereby consent to the foregoing actions being
taken without a meeting and approve such actions and the foregoing resolutions this 27th day of

July 2021.

Frederick M. Bryant
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MEMORANDUM

JULY 26, 2021

TO: MICHAEL R. HIGHTOWER, PRESIDENT & DIRECTOR
JOHN THOMAS HERNDON, SECRETARY & DIRECTOR
FREDERICK M. BRYANT, DIRECTOR
NANCY H. WATKINS, TREASURER
FLORIDIANS AGAINST INCREASED RATES, INC.

FROM: JANINE CALLOVI
CONSENSUS COMMUNICATIONS

SUBJECT: MEMBERSHIP ROSTER OF FLORIDIANS FOR LOWER ELECTRIC
RATES, INC.

This memorandum is provided to the Board of Directors of Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc. (FAIR) to inform the Directors before their consideration of action to
be taken by written resolution in lieu of meeting.

The Bylaws of FAIR provide that the Board has the power to elect or admit
members to membership in the Corporation. FAIR has received more than 770
applications since it was formed, some via pdf versions of signed “hard copies” of the
FAIR application form and the substantial majority via electronic membership applications
received through FAIR’s website. In the course of my employment with Consensus
Communications, I have and continue to have the responsibility to review the membership
applications and to update the membership roster periodically.

Attached to this memorandum is a confidential listing, or roster, of the persons and
business entities who have applied for membership in FAIR as of July 25, 2021. (FAIR
maintains this roster as confidential so as not to disclose the personally identifiable
information of any of its members.) 1 have reviewed each of the applications, meaning
either the pdf version of the hard-copy applications that were received or the electronic
membership applications that were received electronically, and I confirm that each of the
applications of the listed persons and businesses complies with the eligibility criteria for
membership in the Corporation, in that each has represented in the application: (1) that
they are a retail customer of a Florida investor-owned utility; (2) that they support the
proposition that the electric customers of Florida should enjoy the lowest possible electric
rates that are sufficient to support safe and reliable services; and (3) that they agree that
FAIR can represent them in actions seeking the lowest possible electric rates that are
consistent with their respective utility providing safe and reliable service.
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The roster lists the individual’s and, as applicable, the business’s name, address,
email address, the utility that serves them, and other relevant information. A copy of the
application form is also attached to the roster for your information and review. By signing
this form, each member has asked that FAIR represent them in proceedings for the purpose
of advocating for the lowest possible electric rates that are consistent with their utility
providing safe and reliable electric service. If any of you wish, I can make available all of
the individual applications reflected in the roster for your review and consideration.

Accordingly, these persons and businesses are presented to the Board for the
Board’s consideration as to whether, having satisfied the eligibility criteria, they should be
elected and admitted to membership in FAIR.

I am available to answer any questions.

Janine Callovi

Administrator

Consensus Communications
201 S.Orange Ave., Suite 950
Orlando, F1 32801

407-608-5912

Attachments
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QUESTION:
Please identify each consultant, expert, witness, or other person, who has provided testimony,
documents, exhibits, or other materials and/or support on behalf of FAIR in any Public Utility
Commission or Public Service Commission, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or any
other state or federal regulatory body with jurisdiction over the provision of electric power in the
last seven (7) years.
a. For each person identified in response to Interrogatory 1 above, please identify:
I.  The witness’s business address;
ii. Which regulatory or administrative body or court; and
iii. The caption or style of each proceeding or case, and the date of each
appearance, where for purposes of this interrogatory the term “appearance”
shall include the submittal of pre-filed testimony, oral testimony,
documents, exhibits, or other materials and/or support on behalf of FAIR.

RESPONSE:

None.
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QUESTION:

State in detail the subject matter, positions, and opinions on which each person named in answer
to Interrogatory No. 1 above has provided pre-filed testimony, oral testimony, documents,

exhibits, or other materials and/or support on behalf of FAIR.

RESPONSE:

None.
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Docket No. 20210015-El
Appendix B, Page 73 of 117

Please identify each consultant, expert, witness, or other person who has been retained or engaged to provide
testimony, documents, exhibits, or other materials and/or support on behalf of FAIR in this docket.
a. For each such person or entity, identify the date initially consulted, the date of formal retention
or engagement (if any), and describe the terms of the financial arrangements or agreement pursuant
to which that person or entity will be compensated for work and/or services provided in this case.

b. For each witness testifying on behalf of FAIR, please state the amount paid to date and the total
amount contracted for services performed in connection with this docket.

RESPONSE:

FAIR’s Response to FPL’s Interrogatory No. 3

WITNESS/ENTITY | DATE INITIALLY | DATE OF SUMMARY OF TERMS AMOUNT PAID | TOTAL AMOUNT
CONSULTED FORMAL OF ENGAGEMENT TO DATE CONTRACTED
RETENTION

GDS Associates 2/22/2021 3/25/2021 Hourly rates plus out-of- | $20,608.13 Open, no cap or
pocket costs minimum

J.T. Herndon March 2021 5/17/2021 Hourly rates plus out-of- | O Open, no cap or
pocket costs minimum

T.J. Devlin 2/10/2021 5/10/2021 Hourly rates plus out-of- | $4,200.00 Open, no cap or
pocket costs minimum

N.H. Watkins March 2021 3/25/2021 Hourly rates plus out-of- | O Open, no cap or
pocket costs minimum
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QUESTION:

With respect to each witness FAIR intends to have testify or provide pre-filed testimony in this
docket of behalf of FAIR, including witnesses who will make public statements at the hearings, and
otherwise, please state the following:

The witness’s business address;

The witness’s qualifications;

The scope of the witness’s employment or retention in the pending matter;

The witness’s general litigation experience, including the percentage of work
performed for regulatory bodies or intervening participants.

cooe

RESPONSE:

a & b. Please refer to the résumés of the witnesses, included in response to FPL’s Request to

Produce No. 4.

c. The scope of each witness’s engagement in this matter is set forth in each respective witness’s
testimony, which will be filed with the Commission and served to FPL on Monday, June 21.

d. Each witness’s testimony and resume’ includes information regarding the witness’s litigation

experience, including specifically any testimony given before a regulatory body.

This subpart is otherwise vague, in that it is not clear whether FPL wants to know percentages of

work done for regulatory bodies or intervenors within the general category of litigation

experience, or whether FPL wants to know about the witness’s total work experience.
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QUESTION:

Regarding the answer to Interrogatory No. 4, please identify with specificity the witness’s
appearances before regulatory or administrative bodies or courts of law, specifying which
regulatory or administrative body or court, the caption or style of each proceeding or case, and the
date of each appearance, where for purposes of this interrogatory the term “appearance” shall
include the submittal of pre-filed testimony.

RESPONSE:
This information is provided in each witness’s resume’ and testimony, which will be filed with the

Commission and served to FPL on Monday, June 21, 2021.
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QUESTION:

Please describe any efforts or activities undertaken by FAIR or their agents and representatives
from 2016 to the present to disseminate fliers, handouts, documents, materials, letters,
presentation materials, videos, and other written or computer generated documents to members,
prospective members, and others that discuss, address, refer to or otherwise mention FPL.

RESPONSE:

The only document responsive to this interrogatory is a letter that was emailed to FAIR’s members
informing them of the customer service hearings planned by the PSC, informing them of how to
sign up, and encouraging them to do so. This letter was emailed to FAIR’s members on June 9,

2021. A copy is provided in response to FPL’s Request to Produce No. 4.
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QUESTION:

Please describe the electric bill impact calculations FAIR has performed to assess the impact of FPL’s
proposed base rate increase on its members.

RESPONSE:

FAIR has performed no separate bill impact calculations regarding FPL’s proposed multi-
billion dollar rate increase. For such information, FAIR has referred to FPL’s MFR Schedules A-2,
which present FPL’s estimates of customer bills under present and proposed rates. FPL’s MFR
Schedules A-2 clearly demonstrate that the rates of all of FAIR’s members who are FPL customers
(not necessarily all customers who are currently Gulf Power customers) will experience rate

increases in 2022.
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QUESTION:

Please identify all documents provided to FAIR’s members, and the date(s) such documents were
provided, that discuss or refer to the electric bill impact estimated to result from FPL’s proposed
base rate increase which is the subject of this docket.

RESPONSE:

The only document responsive to this interrogatory is a letter that was emailed to FAIR’s
members informing them of the customer service hearings planned by the PSC, informing them of
how to sign up, and encouraging them to do so. This letter was emailed to FAIR’s members on June

9, 2021. A copy was provided in response to FPL’s Request to Produce No. 4.
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QUESTION:

Please identify any materials and documents provided to, or communications with, FAIR
members, and the date(s) such documents were provided, or communications occurred, soliciting
funds in connection with FAIR’s participation in this docket.

RESPONSE:

There are no documents that are responsive to this interrogatory.
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QUESTION:

Please describe the circumstances that led to your decision to file a petition to intervene in this
proceeding and identify all individuals who were consulted or who provided input or
recommendations in connection with the decision.

RESPONSE:

Consistent with FAIR’s purposes as set forth in its articles of incorporation, FAIR’s board members
and its counsel monitor developments that might lead to higher electric rates for the customers of
Florida’s public utilities. FAIR’s organizers became aware of FPL’s plans to implement the largest
rate increase in Florida history in January and continued to monitor FPL’s proposals thereafter. The
decision to intervene was made based on FPL’s proposing the largest electric rate increase in Florida
history. The individuals who were consulted and provided input in connection with the decision to

intervene were FAIR’s board of directors, Michael Hightower, John Thomas Herndon, and Fred

Bryant, and FAIR’s counsel, Robert Scheffel Wright.
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QUESTION:

Please describe the circumstances that led to your decision to file a petition to intervene in this
proceeding.

RESPONSE:

Please see FAIR’s response to FPL’s Interrogatory No. 10 above.
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QUESTION:

Please provide the following information related to FAIR:

a.

®oo0o

«Q

h.

The current number of active members

The names of active members

The dates that each person became a member

The current number of active members that are residents of the state of Florida
For the members identified in your response to subpart d, the counties and cities
within the state of Florida where those members reside

The current number of active members that are residents of states outside of Florida
For the members identified in your response to subpart f, the states where those
members reside

The number of members that are customers of FPL

The names of members that are customers of FPL

RESPONSE:

a.
b.

o o

The current number of active members — 536 as of June 17, 2021

The names of active members — CONFIDENTIAL, provided on roster in response to
FPL’s Request to Produce No. 4.

The dates that each person became a member — see roster

The current number of active members that are residents of the state of Florida - 536
For the members identified in your response to subpart d, the counties and cities
within the state of Florida where those members reside — see roster

The current number of active members that are residents of states outside of Florida - 0
For the members identified in your response to subpart f, the states where those
members reside — Not applicable

The number of members that are customers of FPL — 436

The names of members that are customers of FPL — CONFIDENTIAL, provided on
roster
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QUESTION:

Please describe the method by which FAIR solicits new members (e.g. via email, internet, phone

solicitation, etc.) and please identify the individuals that are responsible for soliciting new
members.

RESPONSE:

FAIR attempts to recruit new members primarily through advertising on Facebook and
through its website. FAIR’s Board authorized FAIR’s recruitment activities. The person responsible

for this recruitment activity is John Sowinski.
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QUESTION:
If FAIR operates or maintains a website, please provide the address.

RESPONSE:

The address of FAIR’s website is www.fairfl.org.
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QUESTION:

Please identify any publications, trade journals, news outlets, or other publications, whether in written
or electronic form, where FAIR has advertised its organization.

RESPONSE:

There are no publications, trade journals, news outlets, or other publications in which FAIR has

advertised its organization.
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QUESTION:

What person or persons are the founders of FAIR?
RESPONSE:

The incorporator of FAIR is William A. Boyles. The initial directors were Michael

Hightower, John Thomas Herndon, and Frederick M. Bryant.
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QUESTION:

Why did the persons or persons identified in Interrogatory No. 14 above create FAIR?

RESPONSE:

Interrogatory No. 14 above requested FAIR’s website address, which was provided.

The persons identified in response to Interrogatory No. 16 above formed FAIR for the purposes set

forth in FAIR’s articles of incorporation.
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QUESTION:

Was FAIR created, in whole or in part, for the purpose of intervention in this proceeding?
RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. This interrogatory seeks irrelevant information not
reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant admissible information. As set forth in the
Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order
No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be
issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the burden of proof with regard to this issue.”
Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders
and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative
Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1%t DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing
principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental
Requlation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing
may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an
association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in
a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general
scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in any
way, FAIR responds as follows:

Yes, in part. FAIR was formed for the specific purposes set forth in its articles of

incorporation, a copy of which are provided herewith. FAIR’s purposes specifically include,

among other things, engaging in all lawful actions opposing and advocating against State of
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Florida governmental policies and regulatory or administrative actions that have the potential
to increase the electric rates charged to the residential, business, institutional, and
governmental customers served by Florida investor-owned electric utilities whose rates are
set by the Florida Public Service Commission. The general rate case proceeding in this
Docket No. 20210015-EI has the potential to increase the rates paid by FPL’s customers by
more than $1.1 billion in 2022 alone, and by more than $6.2 billion over the four years
covered by FPL’s proposals in this case.

Thus, FAIR was formed, in part, for the specific purpose of participating, by
intervention, in proceedings like this rate case, in order to oppose rate increases like those

proposed by FPL.
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QUESTION:

Please identify what member interests FAIR will represent for its members in this proceeding that
are not already represented by the Office of Public Counsel and/or other parties. In your response,
please identify the rate schedules pursuant to which members of FAIR receive service from FPL.

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1%t DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Requlation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in any
way, FAIR responds as follows:

While the interests of FAIR’s members in having the Florida PSC set rates for FPL that are
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as low as possible while ensuring that FPL can provide safe and reliable service coincide to
some degree with the interests represented by other “consumer parties” in this case, FAIR’s
members have specific interests in presenting their evidence and arguments to the PSC in
the manner determined to be in the members’ interests by FAIR’s board of directors,
including all rights set forth in Section 120.57(1)(b), Florida Statutes. FAIR’s witnesses are
likely to take somewhat differing positions on certain issues in this case, and FAIR’s
members have specific rights to present their specific evidence and argument on all issues in
the case.

Further, as FPL is well aware from past actions and decisions, there is a significant
probability that this case will be resolved by a settlement agreement involving some, but not
all, of the parties to the docket. FAIR’s members have specific interests in participating in
any settlement discussions or negotiations involving any parties to this case, because
otherwise, the case is subject to being “settled out from under” FAIR and its members

without their even participating in such negotiations.

Rate Schedules of FAIR Members

FAIR has not surveyed its members or collected specific information regarding the
specific rate schedules under which they take service from FPL. Without waiving its
objections, FAIR states that FAIR has members that are both residential and business
customers of FPL. On information and belief, FAIR believes that these customers are served
under FPL’s residential rate schedules, possibly including time-of-use rates, and under FPL’s
general service schedules, possibly including time-of-use rates and possibly including

demand-metered rates.
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QUESTION:

For any interests identified in Interrogatory No. 19 above, please explain whether and, if so, how
those interests are not adequately represented by the Office of Public Counsel and/or other parties in
this proceeding without FAIR’s participation?

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1%t DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Requlation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in any

way, FAIR responds as follows:
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This Interrogatory is redundant to FPL’s Interrogatory No. 19. Please see FAIR’s response

to Interrogatory No. 19 above.
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QUESTION:

How, if at all, does FAIR believe that its members will be harmed if FAIR is not allowed to
participate in this proceeding?
RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1 DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Requlation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in any

way, FAIR responds as follows:
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If FAIR’s members are not allowed to participate through FAIR’s intervention as a full
party in this proceeding, they would, at a minimum, be harmed in that they would be deprived
of their specific rights guaranteed to them by Section 120.57(1)(b), Florida Statutes, to present
their specific evidence and argument, to conduct their own specific cross-examination of
witnesses, to submit proposed findings of facts, and to file exceptions to any orders as may be
appropriate. This would likely rise to the level of a denial of their fundamental procedural due
process rights under the Florida and United States Constitutions.

Moreover, FAIR’s members would be harmed by being deprived of their statutory
rights to have the Commission hear their specific evidence, which in this case will include the
expert testimony of Timothy J. Devlin, who served for 35 years on the Florida PSC Staff,
including service as Director of Auditing and Finance and as the PSC’s Executive Director; of
John Thomas Herndon, who served as a member of the Florida PSC, who served two Florida
Governors as their Chief of Staff, and who also served as the Executive Director of the Florida
State Board of Administration, which administers the State’s pension funds and other
significant accounts; and of FAIR’s chosen witness on cost of capital and capital structure.

Further, as FPL is well aware from past actions and decisions, there is a significant
probability that this case will be resolved by a settlement agreement involving some, but not
all, of the parties to the docket. FAIR’s members have specific interests in participating in
any settlement discussions or negotiations involving any parties to this case, because
otherwise, the case is subject to being “settled out from under” FAIR and its members

without their even participating in such negotiations.
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QUESTION:

Please identify each issue that FAIR plans to raise in this proceeding that it feels will not be
adequately addressed by other parties in this proceeding.

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order™), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1 DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Regulation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in any

way, FAIR responds as follows:

The suggestion that FAIR’s intervention and standing to intervene depends in any way on
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whether other parties might “adequately address” such issues is irrelevant, spurious, and nonsensical
in that it asks FAIR to predict what the other parties in the case will do over the next three months,
and the interrogatory has no basis in law.

At this time, FAIR has not identified all of the issues that it will raise or litigate in this
proceeding, but even as to those issues that FAIR will litigate, including the specific issues that its
witnesses will address, it is obviously impossible to state with certainty whether any other party will
“adequately address” any issue, from the perspective of FAIR’s members, because FAIR is obviously
without knowledge as to what evidence and cross-examination the other parties will advance either in
their direct testimony or at the hearings in the case, and also without knowledge as to what legal and
policy arguments the other parties will advance.

Further, FAIR’s concerns that it would be excluded from any settlement discussions are
exacerbated and compounded by the fact that FAIR does not know what positions any other parties

might agree to in such discussions or negotiations.



Docket No. 20210015-El
Appendix B, Page 98 of 117

QUESTION:

Regarding the statement in its Motion to Intervene that “FAIR’s membership is growing,” please
explain what efforts have led to this growth?

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1% DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Regulation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated

to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific
objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in

any way, FAIR responds as follows:

FAIR has established a website that invites customers of Florida’s investor-owned utilities
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to join FAIR for the purposes of advocating by all lawful means for the lowest possible electric
rates that are consistent with their utilities providing safe and reliable service, and of opposing
by all lawful means utility proposals for rates and rate increases that are greater than necessary
for their utilities to provide safe and reliable service. FAIR has placed advertisements for
FAIR on Facebook that provide the opportunity for customers to connect to the FAIR website
and consider whether to join.

These efforts have led to growth in FAIR’s membership to a total of 536 members,

including 436 FPL customers as FAIR members, as of June 17, 2021.
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QUESTION:

Please provide the following information regarding FAIR’s membership:

a.

®oo0o

«Q

h.

The current number of active members

The names of active members

The dates that each person became a member

The current number of active members that are residents of the State of Florida
For the members identified in your response to subpart d, the counties and cities
within the State of Florida where those members reside

The current number of active members that are residents of states outside of Florida
For the members identified in your response to subpart f, the states where those
members reside

The number of members that are customers of FPL

The names of members that are customers of FPL

RESPONSE:

See response to Interrogatory No. 12.
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QUESTION:

Please provide the following information for any FAIR members that are FPL customers:
a. The dates they became members of FAIR
b. Their addresses
c. Alist of every issue they would like to have or believe should be addressed in this
proceeding that is unique to FAIR members
d. The reason or reasons why they believe the issues identified in your response to
subpart ¢ cannot be adequately addressed by other parties to this proceeding
e. The reason or reasons why they believe the issues identified in your response to
subpart ¢ cannot be adequately addressed through their individual intervention in
this proceeding
RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1% DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Regulation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific
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objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in

any way, FAIR responds as follows:

The information requested in subparts a and b is provided in the membership roster
that FAIR is providing in response to Interrogatory No. 12.
Regarding subparts c, d, and e, please see FAIR’s responses to Interrogatories Nos.

19, 20, 21, and 22.
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QUESTION:

Does FAIR receive financial support or funding from any person or persons other than its
members? If so, please identify this/these person or persons.

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1% DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Regulation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in

any way, FAIR responds as follows:

FAIR will not respond to this interrogatory. FAIR’s funding is not an issue nor related to



Docket No. 20210015-El
Appendix B, Page 104 of 117

any issue in this case.
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QUESTION:

Please explain why FAIR selected the Gray Robinson law firm in Orlando to be its
organizational headquarters.

RESPONSE:

FAIR reasserts and reiterates its specific objection to this interrogatory as set forth in FAIR’s
Specific Objections served on June 1, 2021. FAIR specifically objects to this interrogatory to the
extent it seeks irrelevant information not reasonably calculated to lead to discovery of relevant
admissible information. As set forth in the Order Provisionally Granting Floridians Against
Increased Rates, Inc.’s Motion to Intervene (Order No. PSC-2021-0180-PCO-El) (the “Intervention
Order”), “FAIR’s associational standing shall be issues in this proceeding and FAIR shall have the
burden of proof with regard to this issue.” Intervention Order at 3. The Intervention Order further
provides

The test for associational standing was established in Florida Home Builders

and Farmworker Rights Organization, Inc. v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative

Services, 417 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 1% DCA 1982), which is also based on the basic standing

principles established in Agrico Chemical Company v. Department of Environmental

Regulation (Agrico), 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Associational standing

may be found where: (1) the association demonstrates that a substantial number of an

association’s members may be substantially affected by the Commission’s decision in

a docket; (2) the subject matter of the proceeding is within the association’s general

scope of interest and activity; and (3) the relief requested is of a type appropriate for
the association to receive on behalf of its members.

Intervention Order at 2. The information requested in this interrogatory is not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of relevant admissible information concerning any of the specific standing

requirements under Agrico or Florida Home Builders. Subject to and without waiving this specific

objection, and without waiving any other objections to any effort by FPL to use this response in

any way, FAIR responds as follows:
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FAIR selected the Gray Robinson law firm to be its organizational headquarters

because Gray Robinson is FAIR’s corporate counsel.
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Please provide the following information for all persons that have executed the Confidentiality Agreement
and/or acknowledged the Electronic Data Room Procedures on behalf of FAIR in this proceeding:

o0 o

RESPONSE:

a.

c,de.

Their names, addresses, occupations, and business addresses

Their relationship to FAIR (e.g. officer, employee, attorney, consultant, etc.)

A summary of their background and qualifications

Whether they will provide fact or expert opinions in this proceeding

If they are expected to provide fact or expert opinions, a list of the issues they plan to address

FAIR has previously furnished to FPL its roster for access to the electronic data room. The
business address for Wright, LaVia, and Hill is 1300 Thomaswood Drive, Tallahassee, Florida
32308. The business address for the GDS Associates personnel is 1850 Parkway Place, Suite
800, Marietta, Georgia 30067. The business address for Herndon is 9062 Eagles Ridge Drive,
Tallahassee, Florida 32312. The business address for Devlin is 21 Equine Drive,

Crawfordville, Florida 32327.

Wright and LaVia are attorneys, and Hill is their legal assistant. The others are consultants.

The background and qualifications of the three persons on the data room roster who will
testify in the case (Mac Mathuna, Herndon, and Devlin) will be provided in their direct
testimony submitted on Monday, June 21, 2021. They will provide expert opinions and some
fact testimony in this proceeding. The issues that they will address will be set forth clearly and

specifically in their direct testimony that will be filed and served on Monday, June 21, 2021.
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         1             Deposition taken before Dania Alen, FPR, and



         2        Notary Public, in and for the State of Florida at



         3        Large in the above cause.



         4                         - - - - - - -



         5             THE COURT REPORTER:  The attorneys



         6        participating in this deposition acknowledge that I



         7        am not physically present in the deposition room and



         8        that I will be reporting this deposition remotely.



         9        They further acknowledge that in lieu of an oath



        10        administered in person, I will administer the oath



        11        remotely.  This arrangement is pursuant to the



        12        Florida Supreme Court Administrative Order No.



        13        AOSC-20-16.  The parties and their counsel consent to



        14        this arrangement and waive any objections to this



        15        manner of reporting.  Please indicate your agreement



        16        by stating your name and your agreement on the



        17        record.



        18             THE WITNESS:  Nancy Watkins, agree.



        19             MR. WRIGHT:  This is Robert Scheffel Wright



        20        representing FAIR.  We agree.



        21             MR. MCALILEY:  This is Neal McAliley



        22        representing FP&L, and we agree.



        23             THE COURT REPORTER:  Do you swear the testimony



        24        you are about to give will be the truth, the whole



        25        truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

�
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         1             THE WITNESS:  I do.



         2   THEREUPON,



         3                        NANCY WATKINS,



         4   having been first duly sworn, was examined and testified



         5   as follows:



         6                       DIRECT EXAMINATION



         7   BY MR. MCALILEY:



         8        Q.   Okay.  Ma'am, could you please state your full



         9   name for the record and spell your last name, please?



        10        A.   Nancy Hemmingway Watkins, W-A-T-K-I-N-S.



        11        Q.   Thank you.



        12             Ms. Watkins, my name is Neal McAliley.  I'm



        13   outside counsel for Florida Power & Light, and I'm going



        14   to be taking your deposition today.  And I just -- before



        15   we get into the main questioning, I want to ask, have you



        16   ever had your deposition taken before?



        17        A.   Yes.



        18        Q.   Have you ever had it done on a remote platform



        19   like today on Webex?



        20        A.   No.



        21        Q.   Okay.  So let me just explain how this works



        22   from my perspective, just for the purpose of trying to



        23   make this a little bit easier.



        24             So this is a deposition like any other



        25   deposition.  You've sworn an oath.  I ask questions.  You

�
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         1   give -- you answer questions.  If your counsel objects,



         2   that's what counsel does and -- but you still answer the



         3   questions unless he directs you otherwise.



         4             Do you understand that so far?



         5        A.   Yes.



         6        Q.   Also, it's my job as a lawyer to ask a question



         7   that you can -- that you can understand, and this is



         8   where the doing depositions over virtual platform gets



         9   more challenging 'cause it can both be that I ask a bad



        10   question and it could also be that we have some technical



        11   glitch.  I've been in depositions where there is a



        12   thunderstorm outside and people lose power in their



        13   houses, or suddenly you'll hear the voice sounds like



        14   Donald Duck for a few seconds.



        15             If there's any point in which you don't



        16   understand my question or I cut out or you need me to



        17   repeat it, please ask me to repeat it.  I'll be happy to



        18   do that.



        19             Does that make sense?



        20        A.   Yes.



        21        Q.   Okay.  And I may do the same thing for you.  So



        22   it may be that you cut out at some point in your answer,



        23   and I may ask you at that point, "Ma'am, could you say



        24   that again?" or "I missed something," and just so you



        25   understand what I'm trying to do.
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         1             I also like to take breaks periodically.  I



         2   think it's good for everybody to stretch their legs, and



         3   it doesn't have to be a marathon.  So what I try to do is



         4   aim for about every hour, when I'm at a logical breaking



         5   point in my questions, to take a break.  But if you want



         6   to take a break at any point for whatever reason, just



         7   please let me know and we're happy to sort of, you know,



         8   step away for a few minutes for all of us, and then we



         9   can pick up.



        10             Does that make sense?



        11        A.   Yes.



        12        Q.   Okay.  Do you have any questions for me before



        13   we start?



        14        A.   No.



        15        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.



        16             So, Ms. Watkins, you are a witness in this



        17   proceeding for Floridians Against Increased Rates, Inc.;



        18   is that right?



        19        A.   Yes.



        20        Q.   And am I right that your counsel submitted your



        21   direct testimony to the Public Service Commission on or



        22   around June 21st of this year?



        23        A.   Yes.



        24        Q.   So what I'd like to do is I want to mark some



        25   things as exhibits, and what I do is I put them up on the
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         1   screen.  So what I'd like to do is start out by showing



         2   what I've marked as Exhibit Number 1.



         3             So I've just put on the screen -- at least I



         4   tried to put up on the screen what I marked as FPL



         5   Exhibit Number 1.  Are you able to see that, ma'am, on



         6   the screen?



         7        A.   Yes.  I can't read it, but I see that it is on



         8   the screen.



         9        Q.   All right.  Does it appear to be a letter dated



        10   June 21st, 2021, from the law firm of Gardner, Bist, et



        11   cetera?



        12        A.   Yes.



        13        Q.   And you see as I'm scrolling down here, does



        14   this appear to be the cover letter indicating that this



        15   is the direct testimony and exhibits of yourself in this



        16   proceeding?



        17        A.   Yes.



        18        Q.   Okay.  So -- and I won't scroll through all of



        19   it now, but I'll just represent that this is the copy of



        20   your direct testimony.  So I just want to mark this



        21   Exhibit number 1 for today so we have it for reference.



        22             (The document referred to was subsequently



        23        marked as FPL Exhibit 1 for I.D.)



        24   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        25        Q.   Let me -- I'll stop sharing that, and I'd like

�





                                                                     10



         1   to show the next document.  So, Ms. Watkins, you're



         2   testifying in this deposition here today pursuant to a



         3   notice of deposition; isn't that right?



         4        A.   Yes.



         5        Q.   Okay.  So what I'd like to do now is show you



         6   what I've marked as Exhibit 2 for the deposition.



         7             (The document referred to was subsequently



         8        marked as FPL Exhibit 2 for I.D.)



         9   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        10        Q.   Can you see the amended notice of taking



        11   deposition duces tecum for you --



        12        A.   Yes.



        13        Q.   -- on the screen?



        14        A.   Yes.



        15        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.



        16             Now, and you understand that this amended



        17   notice of deposition asked you to bring to the deposition



        18   certain documents; right?



        19        A.   Yes.



        20        Q.   And your counsel -- are you aware that your



        21   counsel provided to me yesterday two documents pursuant



        22   to this amended notice of deposition?



        23        A.   Yes.



        24        Q.   Okay.  So what I'd like to do is I'd like to



        25   show those documents and mark them as exhibits.  So I'm
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         1   going to exit out of this, out of Exhibit 2, and show you



         2   what I've marked as Exhibit 3 -- I'm sorry.  Are you able



         3   to see that on the screen?



         4        A.   Yes.



         5        Q.   A document that Floridians Against Increased



         6   Rates, Inc., minutes of board of directors meeting?



         7        A.   Yes.



         8             (The document referred to was subsequently



         9        marked as FPL Exhibit 3 for I.D.)



        10   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        11        Q.   Am I right that these are the minutes of the



        12   board of directors meeting for Floridians Against



        13   Increased Rates that was held on March 25th of 2021?



        14        A.   Yes.



        15        Q.   I'll just represent that this is a copy of what



        16   I was provided by your counsel yesterday.



        17             And, Ms. Watkins, you were present personally,



        18   at least -- well, let me back up.



        19             This meeting was held over a virtual platform,



        20   sort of like we're doing the deposition today; right?



        21        A.   Yes.



        22        Q.   And you attended this board of directors



        23   meeting, didn't you?



        24        A.   Yes.



        25        Q.   Okay.  And does this appear to you, what I've
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         1   marked as Exhibit 3, to be a true and correct copy of the



         2   minutes of that board meeting?



         3        A.   Yes.



         4        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.



         5             I'm going to exit out of this document and --



         6   and show the next document here.



         7             Ms. Watkins, I've just -- I've now put up on



         8   the screen what I've marked as FPL Exhibit Number 4.



         9             (The document referred to was subsequently



        10        marked as FPL Exhibit 4 for I.D.)



        11   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        12        Q.   Do you see a document that's entitled



        13   "Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Floridians



        14   Against Increased Rates, Inc., in Lieu of Meeting"?



        15        A.   Yes.



        16        Q.   I'm going to scroll down.  Do you see that



        17   there's a memorandum dated July 26th, 2021, to various



        18   people including yourself from a Janine Callovi at



        19   Consensus Communication?



        20        A.   Yes.



        21        Q.   Okay.  So can you tell me what this document



        22   is?  Let's start with the resolution.



        23        A.   It adopts the motion to admit individuals who



        24   have requested to be members of Floridians Against



        25   Increased Rates, Inc.
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         1        Q.   Okay.  Does that appear to be a true and



         2   correct copy of that resolution, Ms. Watkins?



         3        A.   Yes.



         4        Q.   And can you tell me what this attached



         5   memorandum is from Ms. Callovi?



         6        A.   It's the background explanation of the adopted



         7   resolution.



         8        Q.   And does this appear to be a true and correct



         9   copy of the memorandum that was sent to you on -- looks



        10   like on Monday?



        11        A.   Yes.



        12        Q.   Thank you.



        13             Okay.  I'm going to exit out of these



        14   documents -- this document as well.



        15             Okay.  So, Ms. Watkins, what is your address?



        16        A.   610 South Boulevard, Tampa, Florida 33606.



        17        Q.   So you live outside of FPL's service territory;



        18   right?



        19        A.   I do, yes.



        20        Q.   You're not an FPL rate payer, are you?



        21        A.   No.



        22        Q.   In your direct testimony, which I marked as



        23   Exhibit 1, you indicated that you're an accountant with



        24   Robert Watkins & Company, P.A.; is that right?



        25        A.   Yes.
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         1        Q.   So am I right that you are not an employee of



         2   Floridians Against Increased Rates?



         3        A.   Correct.  Yes, I'm not an employee.



         4        Q.   And, by the way, just for clarity, I'm probably



         5   going to start referring to Floridians Against Increased



         6   Rates as FAIR, by the acronym.  It just makes -- it's



         7   just easier to say.



         8        A.   Sure.



         9        Q.   Okay.  So, Ms. Watkins, am I right that Robert



        10   Watkins & Company has been hired by FAIR to perform



        11   accounting services for it?



        12        A.   Yes.



        13        Q.   So, essentially, you work for a contractor for



        14   FAIR?



        15        A.   Yes.



        16        Q.   Do you personally hold any titles or positions



        17   with FAIR?



        18        A.   Yes.  I'm the treasurer.



        19        Q.   Are you a member of the board of directors?



        20        A.   No.



        21        Q.   Now, what I just marked as Exhibit 3 was the



        22   minutes of the board of directors meeting on March 25th,



        23   2021.  You attended that board meeting; right?



        24        A.   Yes.



        25        Q.   But you're not a member of the board of

�





                                                                     15



         1   directors; right?



         2        A.   Correct.  I am not a member of the board of



         3   directors.



         4        Q.   Am I correct that the FAIR board of directors



         5   has not had any other meetings other than that March



         6   25th, 2021, meeting that we have the minutes for as



         7   Exhibit 3?



         8        A.   In the capacity as the board of FAIR, that is



         9   true, to the best of my knowledge.



        10        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.



        11             So, Ms. Watkins, could you tell me what your



        12   duties are as treasurer of the organization?



        13        A.   As treasurer, my duty is to execute financial



        14   transactions at the direction of the board and the



        15   president of the entity.  Also deal with compliance



        16   matters that may arise, particularly with respect to tax



        17   filings.



        18        Q.   Okay.  Anything else?



        19        A.   I handle all the financial transactions.



        20        Q.   Okay.  Anything else?



        21        A.   As of this date, that's been the extent of my



        22   activity.



        23        Q.   Thank you.



        24             So FAIR has a bank account; right?



        25        A.   Yes.
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         1        Q.   And when was that bank account opened?



         2        A.   Approximately at inception of the entity.  This



         3   past spring, March, I believe.



         4        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.



         5             And did you -- were you the person responsible



         6   for opening up the bank account?



         7        A.   Yes.



         8        Q.   Okay.  So what -- you indicated that you



         9   execute financial transactions on behalf of FAIR.  What



        10   type of bills does FAIR pay?



        11        A.   It pays professional consulting fees,



        12   administrative fees, other fees and costs in pursuit of



        13   its purpose.



        14        Q.   Does FAIR have a payroll?



        15        A.   No.



        16        Q.   FAIR doesn't have any employees; right?



        17        A.   Correct.



        18        Q.   And does FAIR pay rent to any entity for office



        19   space?



        20        A.   No.



        21        Q.   So at FAIR who authorizes the payment of



        22   invoices?



        23        A.   The president.



        24        Q.   Am I right that FAIR's bylaws provide that the



        25   board of directors have to approve contracts with other
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         1   parties?



         2        A.   Yes.



         3        Q.   So before you pay an invoice or a bill, what



         4   steps do you take to make sure that the vendor can



         5   properly be paid?



         6        A.   Make sure it's properly invoiced as necessary,



         7   obtain Internal Revenue Service Form W-9.  If it's



         8   pursuant to a contract, make sure we have a fully



         9   executed contract on file and additionally get the



        10   authorization of the president where the amount might not



        11   be a flat fee in accordance with the contract.  If it's a



        12   varying fee or a reimbursement, that will get the



        13   expressed permission of the president to issue payment.



        14        Q.   Do you take steps to confirm that the vendor



        15   has an approved contract with FAIR?



        16        A.   Where appropriate, I request approved



        17   contracts.



        18        Q.   Okay.  But do you check to make sure that the



        19   board of directors has approved a contract before you pay



        20   an invoice from a vendor?



        21        A.   I would check to make sure that if there is an



        22   approved contract and the amount is pursuant, a flat



        23   amount pursuant to that contract, then we'll operate



        24   under that.  In the absence of that, either amount or



        25   contract, it would be approved by the president.  To the
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         1   best of my knowledge right here (indicating), I do



         2   believe we have contracts for all vendors.



         3        Q.   Has the board of directors approved the



         4   contracts for all of the vendors --



         5        A.   Yes.



         6        Q.   -- of FAIR?



         7        A.   Yes.



         8        Q.   Okay.  Okay.  Does FAIR pay anything to



         9   Consensus Communications?



        10        A.   Yes.



        11        Q.   Have you as treasurer made payments to



        12   Consensus Communications on behalf of FAIR?



        13        A.   I would have to -- on specific transactions --



        14   I have a lot of clients.  I would like the opportunity to



        15   consult with my accounting records on specific payments.



        16        Q.   Okay.  But can you -- do you just -- so -- but



        17   as you sit here today, do you recall ever approving a



        18   payment to Consensus Communications on behalf of FAIR?



        19        A.   I would need to consult my records, which I'm



        20   happy to do.



        21        Q.   That's okay.  I'm just asking whether you



        22   remember now.  It sounds like you don't remember now, and



        23   before you commit to anything, you'd want to look at your



        24   records?



        25        A.   I mean, I can print a vendor listing.  I can go
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         1   print a vendor listing for this client that will show



         2   every payment I've made for every vendor.  I was not



         3   prepared to have that document, but I could produce that



         4   document very quickly.



         5        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.



         6             Could you tell me what is Consensus



         7   Communications?



         8        A.   It's a public relations firm.



         9        Q.   And what services does Consensus Communications



        10   provide to FAIR?



        11        A.   Public relations.



        12        Q.   Anything else?



        13        A.   Well, communications, public communications,



        14   which I consider all under the umbrella of public



        15   relations.  Messaging.



        16        Q.   Messaging.  Anything else?



        17        A.   Not that I know of.



        18        Q.   And why did FAIR hire Consensus Communications?



        19        A.   That's not -- I don't have knowledge.



        20        Q.   You don't know why FAIR hired Consensus



        21   Communications?



        22        A.   I do not, other than the obvious, for public



        23   relations.  Why they chose Consensus Communications over



        24   another firm, I do not have knowledge of, but they hired



        25   Consensus Communications to ask -- work in public
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         1   relations, communications, and messaging.  Why that one



         2   was chosen, if that's the question, I don't have personal



         3   knowledge.



         4        Q.   Who is the one who made the decision to hire



         5   Consensus Communications?



         6        A.   The board of directors.



         7        Q.   Okay.  Was Consensus Communications involved



         8   with FAIR's -- the individuals who make up FAIR's control



         9   group prior to the date that FAIR was incorporated in



        10   March of this year?



        11        A.   Who -- can you give me some -- when you say



        12   control group, do you mean the three members of the



        13   board?



        14        Q.   Yes.  And any other individual that's sort of



        15   part of the group that sort of runs FAIR?



        16        A.   I believe so.  It's been a -- but I don't have



        17   personal knowledge of it, but I do believe that members



        18   of the control group and members of Consensus



        19   Communication have known each other in the past.  I don't



        20   know specifically how and why, but all of the parties



        21   you're referring to have worked in the same arena for a



        22   while.



        23        Q.   So, Ms. Watkins, you work with the people who



        24   are the members of the board of FAIR in the context of



        25   other organizations, don't you?
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         1             THE WITNESS:  Do I need to reveal anything



         2        about my other clients?



         3   BY MR. MCALILEY:



         4        Q.   Ma'am, if you -- if you need to have an



         5   attorney-client communication with your counsel, I



         6   suggest that you say that because we're hearing



         7   everything you're saying to your lawyer?



         8        A.   Well, I understand.  I didn't have a problem



         9   with you hearing that question.



        10        Q.   Right.  So, ma'am, your counsel can object if



        11   he wants or you should answer the question, but let's do



        12   this because we're creating a record here with the court



        13   reporter, so just so we have this all clear.  I



        14   understand that your counsel is sitting there with you.



        15        A.   Okay.



        16             MR. WRIGHT:  Please ask your question again,



        17        Neal.



        18             MR. MCALILEY:  Sure.  Yes.



        19   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        20        Q.   So, Ms. Watkins, you were involved with the



        21   three members of the board of directors of FAIR in the



        22   context of other organizations, aren't you?



        23             MR. WRIGHT:  You can answer that question.



        24             THE WITNESS:  Not all of them, but I do have



        25        prior relations with one or more.
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         1   BY MR. MCALILEY:



         2        Q.   Are you familiar with an organization or a



         3   corporation called Citizens for Lower Electric Rates,



         4   Inc.?



         5        A.   Yes.



         6        Q.   Are you on the board of that?



         7             THE WITNESS:  Am I in the board of that?  Yes.



         8   BY MR. MCALILEY:



         9        Q.   Ma'am, your counsel can't help you.



        10             MR. WRIGHT:  You're not supposed to ask me



        11        questions, Nancy.



        12             MR. MCALILEY:  Yes.



        13             MR. WRIGHT:  If you don't know, you can say, "I



        14        have to check."  If you know, you can answer the



        15        question.



        16             THE WITNESS:  I believe I'm on the board of



        17        that entity.  I would have to check my records on



        18        that.



        19   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        20        Q.   And, Ms. Watkins, that's substantially the same



        21   group of people who are officers and directors of FAIR;



        22   right?



        23        A.   There are -- there is overlap, yes.



        24        Q.   Okay.  I'm just curious.  The purpose of



        25   Citizens for Lower Electric Rates and FAIR are
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         1   substantially the same, aren't they?



         2        A.   Yes.



         3        Q.   Why is it that FAIR intervened in this case and



         4   not Citizens for Lower Electric Rates?



         5        A.   One of them is a membership organization.



         6        Q.   And that's FAIR?



         7        A.   Yes.



         8        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.



         9             What role did Consensus Communication have in



        10   recruiting the board members for FAIR?



        11        A.   I do not know.



        12        Q.   Does Consensus Communications also work for



        13   Citizens for Lower Electric Rates?



        14        A.   I will have to check my records.  I wasn't



        15   prepared -- I wasn't prepared with information on that



        16   entity.



        17        Q.   That's fine.  I'm just asking whether you



        18   recall as you sit here today.



        19        A.   I don't recall.



        20        Q.   Okay.  What I'd like to do is let's go back to



        21   Exhibit 3, which I had shown you earlier.  So this is the



        22   minutes of the board of directors meeting on March the



        23   25th.  Are you able to see that, ma'am, again, on the



        24   screen?



        25        A.   Yes.
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         1        Q.   So you see there on the first page of the



         2   minutes of that board of directors meeting on March 25th,



         3   2021, it indicates that you attended the meeting; is that



         4   right?



         5        A.   That's correct, yes.



         6        Q.   And see right below your name on the minutes it



         7   says John Sowinski, President, Consensus Communications,



         8   Inc., also attended.  You see that?



         9        A.   Yes.



        10        Q.   Do you remember him being there at the meeting?



        11        A.   Yes.



        12        Q.   Why was he there?



        13        A.   To give advice in his capacity of public



        14   relations.



        15        Q.   Am I right, Ms. Watkins, that at that board



        16   meeting, the FAIR board of directors approved four



        17   proposed agreements for services --



        18        A.   Yes.



        19        Q.   -- to FAIR?



        20             Okay.  And am I right that that is shown on the



        21   last paragraph of the first page?



        22        A.   Yes.



        23        Q.   And I'll zoom it in a little bit to see if it



        24   helps to read this.  I just put it up there on the



        25   screen.  The last paragraph on the first page and the --
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         1   the top of the second page.  So am I right that at that



         2   board meeting the board of directors of FAIR approved the



         3   contracts for two law firms; is that right?



         4        A.   Yes.



         5        Q.   And the law firms are Gardner, Bist and also



         6   Gray Robinson; is that right?



         7        A.   Yes.  Yes.



         8        Q.   And the board also approved agreements with two



         9   other consultants to provide expert witness services,



        10   specifically, GDS Associates and Timothy J. Devlin, CPA;



        11   is that right?



        12        A.   Yes.



        13        Q.   Am I right, Ms. Watkins, that nowhere in the



        14   minutes it indicates that the board of directors approved



        15   any contract with Consensus Communications?



        16        A.   Correct.



        17        Q.   Is there a contract between Consensus



        18   Communications and FAIR?



        19        A.   I do not know.



        20        Q.   If there was, it was never approved at that



        21   board meeting on March 25th, 2021; right?



        22        A.   Not at this meeting.  That would be correct,



        23   yes.



        24        Q.   And this is the only board meeting that's



        25   occurred for FAIR; right?
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         1        A.   As -- yes.



         2        Q.   And you have been paying Consensus



         3   Communications with FAIR funds in your capacity as



         4   treasurer; right?



         5        A.   I will need to look at the records.  I have



         6   hundreds of clients, and I don't want to say something



         7   incorrect.



         8        Q.   Okay.  That's fine.  So let's go back to



         9   Exhibit 3 here.  I'm scrolling down to the second page,



        10   and you can see there is a lot of blacked-out text.



        11   These were redactions that were put in the document by



        12   FAIR's counsel.



        13             You see, though, in the middle of the second



        14   page, it says, "Mr. Sowinski is in the process of seeking



        15   quotes for Directors & Officers Insurance"?



        16        A.   Yes.



        17        Q.   You see that?



        18        A.   Uh-huh.



        19        Q.   Do you recall him talking about Directors &



        20   Officers Insurance?



        21        A.   I recall the discussion on D&O insurance being



        22   advised.



        23        Q.   Okay.  Do you consider getting insurance for



        24   board members of a new corporation to be a typical



        25   service of a public relations firm?
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         1        A.   In the context of the meeting that occurred, he



         2   had a contact at a firm when it came up with the board.



         3   While it was not directed to him to assign that duty to



         4   him, he offered.  He had a contact that might be able to



         5   help with that so he could work on it.



         6        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.



         7             I'm going to scroll down here.  I'm now down on



         8   Page 3.  You see the bottom half of the page, it says,



         9   "Mr. Sowinski presented a draft mission statement, and



        10   after discussion, the Board agreed on the following"?



        11   You see that?



        12        A.   Yes.



        13        Q.   Why was Mr. Sowinski in charge of drafting the



        14   mission statement?



        15        A.   It's part of public relations and mission and



        16   vision are often done by -- my experience, by people who



        17   have marketing and public relations expertise.



        18        Q.   And I see it also says on Page 3 of the board



        19   minutes that he set up the website; is that right?



        20        A.   Yes.



        21        Q.   And do you see where it indicates that it



        22   states that "the website should go 'live' soon, no later



        23   than Friday, April 9th"?



        24        A.   Yes.



        25        Q.   Do you know when the FAIR website went live
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         1   with the content from your organization?



         2        A.   No, I don't.



         3        Q.   So you don't have any independent knowledge, as



         4   you -- as you sit here today, when somebody could first



         5   go on the Internet and type in fairfl.org.com and see the



         6   information about your organization; right?



         7        A.   No, I do not.



         8        Q.   Thank you.



         9             I'm going to scroll down here.  Now I'm on the



        10   fourth page and -- let me see if I can -- you see here on



        11   the fourth page on the second paragraph right below the



        12   redaction, it indicates that "Consensus will handle both



        13   the electronic membership application through the website



        14   and any hard copy applications that are received"?  Do



        15   you see that?



        16        A.   Yes.



        17        Q.   So am I right that Consensus Communications



        18   handles the recruitment of members?



        19        A.   Well, recruitment, they handle the website form



        20   and distribution of it, and some of that was



        21   administrative clerical.



        22        Q.   Okay.  Am I right, though, that Consensus



        23   Communications is in charge of recruiting members of



        24   FAIR?



        25             MR. WRIGHT:  Object to the form.  Vague.
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         1             But you can answer.



         2             THE WITNESS:  I don't believe that they



         3        recruited.  I believe they were in charge of giving



         4        people the ability to join FAIR.



         5   BY MR. MCALILEY:



         6        Q.   Is there -- is there anybody at FAIR, to your



         7   knowledge, that recruits members?



         8        A.   No.



         9        Q.   How does FAIR get its member?



        10        A.   Say again.



        11        Q.   How does FAIR get its members?



        12        A.   By advertising on the website and promotions at



        13   that website for people who are in agreement with the



        14   purpose to join.



        15        Q.   Okay.  What does FAIR do to promote the



        16   website?



        17        A.   I believe it does search engine optimization,



        18   but I'm not -- I'm not an expert on that.



        19        Q.   Okay.  Who is in charge of running that process



        20   of doing the search engine optimization or drawing people



        21   to the website?



        22        A.   Consensus.



        23        Q.   Consensus Communications; right?



        24        A.   Yes.



        25        Q.   Okay.  Now, FAIR is paying Robert Watkins &
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         1   Company for your time; right?



         2        A.   Yes.



         3        Q.   And when does the board of directors approve



         4   the contract with Robert Watkins & Company?



         5        A.   I'm -- month to month.  I don't believe they



         6   have.



         7        Q.   So am I right in understanding that there's no



         8   contract between your company and FAIR?



         9        A.   Correct.



        10        Q.   Has there ever been a board resolution



        11   approving payment of sums to Robert Watkins & Company?



        12        A.   Not a board resolution, just the president.



        13        Q.   But the FAIR board is in charge of approving



        14   contracts; right?



        15        A.   Contracts, yes.



        16        Q.   Okay.  Let me take down Exhibit 3 here.  And I



        17   want to turn to your direct testimony, ma'am.  There you



        18   indicated in your direct testimony that the purpose of



        19   your testimony before the commission is to provide the



        20   commission with a description of FAIR's membership



        21   composition and to provide your findings regarding FAIR's



        22   membership numbers, composition, and the utilities that



        23   serve FAIR's members.



        24             Did I characterize that correctly, your direct



        25   testimony?
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         1        A.   Yes.



         2        Q.   Is that the only testimony you're going to be



         3   providing at the hearing?



         4        A.   Yes.



         5        Q.   So you're not going to be providing testimony



         6   on any other topic when it gets before the commission;



         7   right?



         8        A.   Not -- not that I've been made aware of.



         9        Q.   You would be the one who is testifying so



        10   presumably you would know; right?



        11        A.   I mean, it's something if I -- as of today



        12   that's my understanding, that that's all I would be



        13   testifying to.



        14        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.



        15             So what I'd like to do is go through the steps



        16   that you took to review FAIR's membership.  So am I right



        17   that in your direct testimony you state that you started



        18   by reviewing FAIR's membership roster; is that right?



        19        A.   Yes.



        20        Q.   And when you say membership roster, what do you



        21   mean?



        22        A.   People who have indicated, through the web



        23   portal, that they desire to become members of FAIR.



        24        Q.   And so -- and by the roster, what do you refer



        25   to?
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         1        A.   The list of those people.



         2        Q.   And did you -- and is that -- so who put the



         3   roster, the list together?



         4        A.   It came in through Consensus Communication, and



         5   the information was compiled by an employee at Consensus



         6   and provided to my office.



         7        Q.   And who is that employee at Consensus who



         8   compiled the information?



         9        A.   Janine Callovi -- Callovi.  Janine.



        10        Q.   And where is that membership roster kept or



        11   maintained?



        12        A.   A copy is maintained in Consensus



        13   Communication, updated daily, and a copy at the time of



        14   my verification work is maintained in my office.



        15        Q.   I see.  So in your direct testimony, you



        16   indicated that you looked at the roster as of a certain



        17   date.  Am I right?



        18        A.   Yes.



        19        Q.   And what was that date?



        20        A.   June 15th, I think.



        21        Q.   And why did you look at the roster as of that



        22   date?



        23        A.   In -- it had a very short window of time when



        24   testimony was due to the Public Service Commission.



        25        Q.   Your testimony was submitted to the Commission

�





                                                                     33



         1   on June 21st; right?



         2        A.   Yes.



         3        Q.   And am I right that you also reviewed the



         4   roster as of June 17th, 2021?



         5        A.   Yes.



         6        Q.   But just so I make sure I know the date and



         7   time of the roster that -- the basis of your -- the



         8   statistics you have in your direct testimony, it was the



         9   June 15th roster which was the basis of your calculations



        10   in your direct testimony; is that right?



        11        A.   Yes.



        12        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.



        13             So why did you start by reviewing the



        14   membership roster?



        15        A.   Because I was tasked with verifying that the



        16   membership roster was accurate.



        17        Q.   And what information is provided in the



        18   membership roster?



        19        A.   Name, address, if they are a user of a public



        20   utility in the state of Florida and, if so, the service



        21   address.



        22        Q.   Anything else?



        23        A.   Let me see.  E-mail address and phone numbers,



        24   although they were not mandatory.



        25             Yes.  So we have e-mail addresses for -- and we
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         1   have some phone numbers.



         2        Q.   Okay.  Anything else?



         3        A.   Name, address, e-mail address, phone number,



         4   service utility, and we kept a record of whether they



         5   joined through the portal or sent in a PDF by mail.



         6        Q.   Am I right that all of the information on that



         7   membership roster came from the applications for



         8   membership that these individuals submitted to FAIR?



         9        A.   Yes.



        10        Q.   And there is no other source of additional



        11   information of the members other than those applications;



        12   is that right?



        13        A.   Correct.



        14        Q.   Am I right that that membership roster contains



        15   all of the information that FAIR has about its members?



        16        A.   To the best of my knowledge, yes.



        17        Q.   And you're the person that had to go through



        18   the whole list, right, and verify it; right?



        19        A.   Yes.



        20        Q.   Thank you.



        21             Okay.  So after you looked at the membership



        22   roster, am I right that you also then reviewed samples of



        23   the membership applications that were submitted to FAIR?



        24        A.   Yes.



        25        Q.   And why did you do that?
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         1        A.   To test statistic -- to get a statistically



         2   significant reliable sample representation of the



         3   accuracy of the list.



         4        Q.   Why would you have to look at individual



         5   applications?



         6        A.   To confirm -- well, we -- I did a contact.  I



         7   contacted to confirm that the information we had on this



         8   list was accurate and that the member intended to join



         9   FAIR.



        10        Q.   Okay.  Am I right, based on your direct



        11   testimony, that you reviewed samples of the paper



        12   applications as well as the electronic membership



        13   applications?



        14        A.   Yes.



        15        Q.   So I just want to break down to make sure I



        16   understand what each of those categories are.  Let's



        17   start with the electronic membership applications.



        18        A.   Uh-huh.



        19        Q.   What do you mean when you refer to electronic



        20   membership applications?



        21        A.   It's where the member filled in fields, spaces



        22   online and submitted it online.



        23        Q.   Okay.  So those are the applications generated



        24   by people filling in that form on the FAIR website;



        25   right?
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         1        A.   Yes.



         2        Q.   And am I right that a copy of that online



         3   application form is attached to your direct testimony as



         4   Exhibit NHW-5?



         5        A.   Yes.



         6        Q.   All right.  What percentage of FAIR's



         7   membership applications have been submitted



         8   electronically through the website?



         9        A.   I don't have that percentage calculated.  The



        10   vast majority of them were online.



        11        Q.   Okay.  When you say "vast majority," it's more



        12   than 50 percent; right?



        13        A.   Oh, way more.  Yes, more than 50 percent.



        14        Q.   Could it be more than 80 percent?



        15        A.   It appears to be.



        16        Q.   Thank you.  Okay.



        17             So then let's turn to the other type of



        18   application, the paper application.  What do you mean by



        19   that?



        20        A.   It's where an image, a PDF was called up and



        21   they filled it out and mailed it in.



        22        Q.   Okay.  Am I right that a copy of one of



        23   those -- that the form for paper application is attached



        24   to your direct testimony as Exhibit NHW-4?



        25        A.   Yes.
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         1        Q.   So can I ask, how would somebody -- how would



         2   somebody get a PDF of the application?



         3        A.   It was available on the website.



         4        Q.   So there's a place in there where you could,



         5   like, download a PDF --



         6        A.   Yes.



         7        Q.   -- for an application?



         8        A.   Yes.



         9        Q.   Okay.  I don't remember seeing that.  Maybe



        10   after a break I'll take a look at the website so I can



        11   make sure I understand how that works.



        12             Okay.  Is there any other way that prospective



        13   members were given hard copies of the membership



        14   application other than somebody going to the website and



        15   downloading a PDF?



        16        A.   I don't know.



        17        Q.   Are you aware of whether anybody associated



        18   with FAIR has handed out applications to people, you



        19   know, physical copies of applications to people?



        20        A.   I don't know.



        21        Q.   How would somebody submit a PDF of their



        22   membership application to FAIR?



        23        A.   It's my understanding it was mailed into Janine



        24   at Consensus.



        25        Q.   Okay.  So it wouldn't have been e-mailed, it
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         1   would have been put in the old-fashioned U.S. mail;



         2   right?



         3        A.   I don't know.  I was not -- they were not



         4   submitted directly to me.



         5        Q.   And you say it was sent to Janine at Consensus.



         6   Is there any place on the FAIR website where it tells



         7   people to send things to Consensus Communication?



         8        A.   I could only presume, yes, with the address.  I



         9   don't know.



        10        Q.   Okay.  Are you aware that the address for FAIR



        11   on the website is the office of the Gray Robinson law



        12   firm in Orlando?



        13        A.   Yes.



        14        Q.   Okay.  I assume that Consensus Communication



        15   does not work out of the Gray Robinson offices in



        16   Orlando; is that right?



        17        A.   Right.



        18        Q.   But you don't know exactly how people would



        19   have known to send in a hard copy of the membership



        20   application to Consensus Communication; is that fair?



        21        A.   I do not.



        22        Q.   Okay.  Thank you.



        23             Okay.  So then it says after -- so the first



        24   thing you did is you looked at the roster?



        25        A.   Uh-huh.
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         1        Q.   The second thing is you looked at a sample of



         2   the actual applications, and then in your direct



         3   testimony on Page 5, you indicated that you "contacted a



         4   large sample of the members listed on FAIR's membership



         5   roster by e-mail to determine whether their membership



         6   information was accurate that: (1) they are customers of



         7   an investor-owned Florida utility, (2) if so, what



         8   utility they are a customer, and (3) that they intended



         9   to join FAIR."



        10             Have I fairly summarized that part of your



        11   testimony?



        12        A.   Yes.



        13        Q.   So is that an accurate description of how you



        14   went out to contact the people who had applied for



        15   membership?



        16        A.   Yes.



        17        Q.   So am I right that the sample that you reached



        18   out to was every person on the roster who gave an e-mail?



        19        A.   Yes.



        20        Q.   Am I right that you contacted those people by



        21   sending them an e-mail?



        22        A.   Yes.



        23        Q.   When did you send those e-mails to the people



        24   who had submitted applications for membership?



        25        A.   Around the 17th or 18th of June.
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         1        Q.   Okay.  And were you the person who sent the



         2   e-mails or did somebody else send the e-mails?



         3        A.   I sent them.



         4        Q.   It was a lot of time typing out e-mails, I



         5   assume, if you have 200 people; right?



         6        A.   No.  We use technology to create a distribution



         7   list of the e-mails out of the column on the Excel sheet



         8   which did the distribution.



         9        Q.   Okay.  What e-mail account did you use when you



        10   sent e-mails to the people who had submitted



        11   applications?



        12        A.   My own professional e-mail,



        13   nwatkins@robertwatkins.com.



        14        Q.   And what did you say in the e-mail that you



        15   sent to the people who submitted membership applications?



        16        A.   I identified myself as an officer of FAIR; told



        17   them that I was contacting them for the purpose of



        18   verifying their desire to be a member of FAIR and to



        19   confirm the information they had provided.  Each e-mail



        20   was personalized with the information provided.  Again, I



        21   did not have to type all that in.  It came out of



        22   technology and asked for a negative confirmation, that if



        23   the information was incorrect, to please respond or if



        24   they did not intend to be a member of FAIR, to likewise



        25   respond to that.
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         1        Q.   And how many people responded to the e-mails



         2   that you sent?



         3        A.   Of the negative -- I got three negative



         4   responses that the members -- that the people did not



         5   intend to be a member of FAIR.  One of them happened to



         6   be the web developer who said he was only testing it.  He



         7   doesn't live in the state, so he was not a user of



         8   utilities.  So the information he provided was just not



         9   correct intentionally.  So I got two negative responses.



        10   I got a few handfuls where they corrected a street number



        11   or some spelling of their name.  Again, this had been



        12   information they provided.



        13             And while we only ask for negative responses, I



        14   received fourteen responses that said yes, they did



        15   intend to join FAIR.



        16        Q.   So how many people just didn't respond at all,



        17   never sent you a responsive e-mail?



        18        A.   All but 17.  I think we sampled -- yes, all but



        19   17.  So almost 400 -- almost 500, 490, 480 did not



        20   respond.



        21        Q.   Okay.  So the membership roster has on it, at



        22   least as of June 15th, some number of greater than 500



        23   people who have submitted applications for membership;



        24   right?



        25        A.   Yes.
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         1        Q.   And you sent an e-mail to every single one of



         2   those people who had provided an e-mail; is that right?



         3        A.   Right.  I think that was 507, yes.



         4        Q.   And you only got response e-mails from



         5   approximately 17 people?



         6        A.   Yes, we requested -- because it was a negative



         7   confirmation sample test.



         8        Q.   And so you had approximately 490 people, more



         9   or less, just never responded in any way to your e-mail



        10   to them; right?



        11        A.   Correct, because they were -- the instructions



        12   were if the information provided was correct or if



        13   they -- and they intended to join FAIR, no response was



        14   required.



        15        Q.   Is it possible that some of those people never



        16   got the e-mail?



        17        A.   Absolutely.



        18        Q.   And you never actually had communication with



        19   those people, because they never wrote back; right?



        20        A.   Well, they never wrote back.  I did get half a



        21   dozen or so e-mail bounce-backs.  Majority of them I



        22   could correct because they were obvious extraneous



        23   characters, com. -- comx or something like that, and I



        24   could resend it.  But, no, to say -- yes, I had



        25   communication, but my communication was sent to them
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         1   saying if this is not correct, let me know; otherwise,



         2   you need not do anything.



         3        Q.   Okay.  But, Ms. Watkins, am I right that for



         4   approximately 490 members of FAIR you never got them to



         5   confirm the information was correct?



         6        A.   Because they were specifically instructed that



         7   they did not need to confirm it was correct.  They were



         8   specifically instructed they only needed to respond back



         9   if the information was not correct.



        10        Q.   How do you know that those are real people if



        11   they never responded to your e-mail?



        12        A.   Because we -- the test, the sample size



        13   indicates that the list is real people and that the



        14   substantial majority intended to be members of FAIR.



        15        Q.   Okay.  I want to understand this here,



        16   Ms. Watkins.  So what percentage response rate would you



        17   need to conclude statistically that your -- that the



        18   responses you received represent the answers of the



        19   whole?  In other words --



        20        A.   Remember --



        21        Q.   -- give me an example, and then you're



        22   extrapolating this to the whole.  So what percent do you



        23   need?



        24        A.   On a negative response, something less than



        25   5 percent, and we got 2 out of 507.
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         1        Q.   But you would agree -- you don't personally



         2   know these people who submitted these applications to



         3   join FAIR, do you?



         4        A.   No.



         5        Q.   So you don't actually know whether that's a



         6   real flesh and blood person on the list other than if



         7   they wrote back to you; right?



         8        A.   Of course not, but what you're saying is when



         9   banks do negative confirmation on balances, all those



        10   customers don't really exist?  A negative confirmation is



        11   a statistically valid method of confirming the entire



        12   population.



        13        Q.   Okay.  Ma'am, I'm not talking about banks.  I'm



        14   just talking about the FAIR membership list.  So my point



        15   is you never actually heard back from the great majority



        16   of these people who supposedly submitted membership



        17   applications, and you don't know whether they're real



        18   people?



        19        A.   No.



        20        Q.   Right?



        21        A.   But by not hearing back from them, it's a



        22   higher confidence that they are real people and that the



        23   people on the list intended to join FAIR.  I have 14 that



        24   did respond back, even though they were directed not to.



        25        Q.   How do you know that those e-mails you sent
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         1   didn't get caught in a spam filter or something on



         2   someone's e-mail account?



         3        A.   I do not know that.



         4        Q.   So it's possible they could have just missed



         5   it?  We all get a bunch of e-mails every day.



         6        A.   And that is why --



         7        Q.   Is that possible?



         8        A.   And that is why we strove and went ahead and



         9   did almost 100 percent tests.  Normally 7 to 10 percent



        10   would have been fine.  We did almost 100 percent test.



        11        Q.   Okay.  But, ma'am, am I right, though, that you



        12   actually only got written confirmation from less than 20



        13   people on the FAIR membership list that they, indeed,



        14   wanted to be members of FAIR?



        15        A.   I did not request that.  It's irrelevant to the



        16   statistical sampling.  Those 14 responses are not



        17   relevant because that was not the test.



        18        Q.   But you -- but you never heard back from --



        19   okay.



        20             Let me -- I may come back to this later, but --



        21   so -- and so I don't need to belabor the point now.  But,



        22   Ms. Watkins, so let me just make sure I got this right.



        23   You sent e-mails to everybody on the FAIR membership



        24   roster as of June 15th, 2021, who gave an e-mail; right?



        25        A.   Yes.
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         1        Q.   And you only heard back from approximately 17



         2   of them; right?



         3        A.   Yes.



         4        Q.   And that means that you didn't hear anything



         5   back from approximately 490 of them?



         6        A.   Yes.



         7        Q.   And you don't personally know these people;



         8   right?



         9        A.   No.



        10        Q.   And so you don't know whether they're actual



        11   flesh and blood people; right?



        12        A.   Technically, no.



        13        Q.   Okay.  All right.  So to make sure that I



        14   understand what is the information that you asked them to



        15   just confirm whether the information was correct or not,



        16   am I right you asked them to confirm the accuracy of the



        17   information that they had provided on the membership



        18   application?



        19        A.   Yes.



        20        Q.   You didn't ask them for any additional



        21   information other than what was on the application form;



        22   right?



        23        A.   Right.



        24        Q.   Okay.  You didn't ask them, for instance, what



        25   their ages were; right?
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         1        A.   Right.



         2        Q.   And you didn't ask them for input about what



         3   they thought FAIR should argue at this rate proceeding,



         4   did you?



         5        A.   No.



         6        Q.   You didn't ask them whether they -- who they



         7   thought would be a good witness to present to the hearing



         8   for FAIR, did you?



         9        A.   No.



        10        Q.   You didn't ask them how much they pay in



        11   their -- in their -- on average their monthly power



        12   bills, did you?



        13        A.   No.



        14        Q.   Did you ask them how much their power bills



        15   might go up as a result of FPL's rate proposal?



        16        A.   No.



        17        Q.   Did you ever have any telephone conversations



        18   with any of these people in the membership list,



        19   Ms. Watkins?



        20        A.   No.



        21        Q.   So we're getting -- we're at a breaking point.



        22   It's been about an hour.  Would you like to take a



        23   five-minute break, Ms. Watkins?



        24        A.   Sure.  Okay.



        25        Q.   Why don't we do that.
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         1             (A short recess was taken, after which the



         2        following proceedings were had:)



         3   BY MR. MCALILEY:



         4        Q.   Okay.  So I just -- I wanted to ask you a



         5   follow-up question from the questions I just asked about



         6   your e-mails to the people who had submitted membership



         7   applications.



         8        A.   Uh-huh.



         9        Q.   Am I right that you indicated that



        10   approximately three people indicated that they had not



        11   intended to submit the application?



        12        A.   No.  That they did not intend to become members



        13   of FAIR.



        14        Q.   What's the difference?  Can you explain to me



        15   the difference?



        16        A.   Well, somebody could -- I cannot go in to their



        17   minds, but maybe they meant they don't want to pay dues,



        18   and there is no dues, but when they say they did not --



        19   they meant to sign up.  Whatever they meant by it, they



        20   meant to sign up, but they did not intend to become a



        21   member of the organization.



        22        Q.   Okay.  I see.  So these are people who went to



        23   the website, filled in the form, the fields on it and hit



        24   "submit" but somehow didn't intend to become a member by



        25   doing that?
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         1        A.   Right.



         2        Q.   Am I saying that correct?



         3        A.   Yeah.  The indication was they agreed with the



         4   mission and purpose, they didn't intend to be a member of



         5   FAIR, though.



         6        Q.   I see.  And did -- and I understand one of



         7   those people was the person who set up the website and



         8   they were just testing the system; right?



         9        A.   Correct.



        10        Q.   So the other two people, did they explain why



        11   they didn't want to be a member if they filled out the



        12   form on the website?



        13        A.   No.



        14        Q.   Okay.  Okay.  So, Ms. Watkins, are you aware



        15   that Florida Power & Light submitted written



        16   interrogatories to FAIR in this case?



        17        A.   No.



        18        Q.   Okay.  Have you -- well, let me show you what



        19   I've marked here as -- I'd like to mark as Exhibit Number



        20   5.



        21             (The document referred to was subsequently



        22        marked as FPL Exhibit 5 for I.D.)



        23   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        24        Q.   And this is a copy of FAIR's responses to



        25   Florida Power & Light's first set of interrogatories.
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         1             Can you see that on the screen?



         2        A.   Yes.



         3        Q.   Okay.  Have you ever seen this before?



         4        A.   No.



         5        Q.   Okay.  Did you play any role in preparing



         6   answers to FPL's written questions?



         7        A.   Not in response to this document.



         8        Q.   Okay.  And just in general, did you play any



         9   role in developing FAIR's responses to FPL's questions in



        10   discovery?



        11        A.   No.



        12        Q.   Okay.  All right.  Well, I just -- I want --



        13   let me show this to you and let me ask you some questions



        14   about it.  You see here I have up on the screen here



        15   FAIR's response to FPL's Interrogatory Number 12?  Can



        16   you see that?  It's on the top right of the page.



        17        A.   Yes.



        18        Q.   And do you see that the question from FPL was



        19   "Please provide the following information related to



        20   FAIR," and there is a list of subparagraphs, lettered A



        21   through I?



        22        A.   Yes.



        23        Q.   And you see it asked for FAIR to provide, among



        24   others things, the current number of active members, the



        25   names of active members, the date each person became a
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         1   member, et cetera?



         2        A.   Yes.



         3        Q.   And you see the responses?  It gives answers,



         4   and then it references here a roster.  So, for instance,



         5   on the response on B, "The names of active members -



         6   CONFIDENTIAL, provided on roster in response to FPL's



         7   request to produce," do you see that?



         8        A.   Yes.



         9        Q.   Do you also see the response to C, the date



        10   that each person became a member, "see roster"?



        11        A.   Yes.



        12        Q.   Okay.  Am I -- am I right in understanding,



        13   Ms. Watkins, that all of the information that FAIR has



        14   about the people who submitted membership applications is



        15   contained on that roster?



        16        A.   To the best of my knowledge, yes.



        17        Q.   And the roster, have you -- does the roster



        18   that you looked at have all the information that FAIR has



        19   about the people who submitted membership applications?



        20             MR. WRIGHT:  I'm going to object to the form as



        21        being vague.  If you'd ask the question with respect



        22        to any -- an effective date, Neal, that would be



        23        okay.



        24             MR. MCALILEY:  No problem.



        25   BY MR. MCALILEY:
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         1        Q.   So, Ms. Watkins, I'm going back to June 15th.



         2   That was the date of the roster that you looked at when



         3   you did your sampling; right?



         4        A.   Yes.



         5        Q.   Okay.  So the roster that you looked at on



         6   June 15th, did that contain all of the information that



         7   FAIR had about the people who had applied for membership



         8   at that point?



         9        A.   Yes.



        10        Q.   Is there any other roster that has more



        11   information on it that you're aware of?



        12        A.   No.



        13        Q.   So there's not like the double-secret roster



        14   that has even more information about people, is there?



        15        A.   Not that I know of.



        16        Q.   Okay.  Okay.  I'm going to exit this document.



        17   The interrogatory responses.



        18             So am I right, Ms. Watkins, that you attached a



        19   redacted version of the roster to your direct testimony?



        20        A.   Yes.  Correct.



        21        Q.   Okay.  So what I'd like to do is go back to



        22   your direct testimony.  I had marked that as Exhibit 1.



        23   You see that up on the screen there, Ms. Watkins?



        24        A.   Yes.



        25        Q.   Okay.  So I'm going to scroll down here until I
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         1   get to the roster.  Okay.  So I'm here now at -- I'm on



         2   Page 25 of your direct testimony and exhibits.  On the



         3   left side it says "Exhibit NHW-3, Page 1 of 12."



         4             Do you see that?



         5        A.   Yes.



         6        Q.   Okay.  Does this appear to be a redacted



         7   version of the roster that you looked at when you



         8   prepared your direct testimony?



         9        A.   Yes.



        10        Q.   Do you have a copy of the unredacted roster



        11   there with you today?



        12        A.   Yes.



        13        Q.   So I may ask the questions about material



        14   that's blacked out, but I'm going to try to ask them in a



        15   way that doesn't bring out any sort of personally



        16   identifiable information, but I'm just -- for the



        17   exhibit, we have this redacted version of the roster.



        18             So what I'd like to do also, I'd like to exit



        19   out of this document here and show you another document



        20   that I'd like to mark as Exhibit Number 6.



        21             (The document referred to was subsequently



        22        marked as FPL Exhibit 6 for I.D.)



        23   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        24        Q.   Now, I previously shared this with your counsel



        25   yesterday, just to make sure we were literally working
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         1   off the same piece of paper.



         2             Can you see up on the screen there another



         3   version of the roster that has material blacked out in



         4   it?



         5        A.   Yes.



         6        Q.   Does this look like, to you, the membership



         7   roster again that was provided by FAIR just with



         8   different fields blacked out?



         9        A.   I don't know.  That could have been a later --



        10        Q.   Pardon?



        11        A.   I don't know what date this is as of.



        12        Q.   Okay.  So am I right, Ms. Watkins, though, that



        13   the roster that you provided with your direct testimony,



        14   which is attached to Exhibit Number 1, was a complete



        15   list of all the people who had applied to become FAIR



        16   members as of June 15th?



        17        A.   Yes.



        18        Q.   And I also want to confirm that that roster



        19   that was attached to the direct testimony contains all of



        20   the information available to FAIR about those people who



        21   applied to become members of the organization?



        22        A.   Yes.



        23        Q.   Does that roster also indicate when somebody



        24   applied to become a member?



        25        A.   On some of them.
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         1        Q.   Okay.  So I still have up on the screen here



         2   what I've marked as Exhibit 6, and I'm going to leave



         3   this one up.  This is the redacted roster because it



         4   shows some of these columns on the right side a little



         5   bit more clearly.  So I want to ask you some questions



         6   about it.



         7        A.   Okay.



         8        Q.   So -- so I see -- am I right that the roster



         9   has a series of columns of information on it?



        10        A.   Yes.



        11        Q.   And the first column is the person's first



        12   name?



        13        A.   Yes.



        14        Q.   And the second column is the person's last



        15   name?



        16        A.   Yes.



        17        Q.   The third column is the address of that



        18   person --



        19        A.   Yes.



        20        Q.   -- right?



        21             The next is the city that the person lives in;



        22   is that right?



        23        A.   Yes.



        24        Q.   Then am I right the next column is the state



        25   that they live in?
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         1        A.   Yes.



         2        Q.   Those all say Florida, I assume; right?



         3        A.   Yes.



         4        Q.   And the next column provides a ZIP code of the



         5   person who applied; is that right?



         6        A.   Yes.



         7        Q.   And the next column is their e-mail; right?



         8        A.   Yes.



         9        Q.   And most but not all of the people who



        10   submitted applications provided the e-mail address;



        11   right?



        12        A.   Yes.



        13        Q.   And the next column says "Phone."  Would that



        14   be the person's telephone number who had submitted the



        15   application?



        16        A.   Yes.



        17        Q.   Okay.  So then -- so all of those columns are



        18   blacked out to protect the privacy of those individuals.



        19             Now we get to the columns that have text that



        20   you can see.  So there is a next column that says



        21   "Utility."  What does this column represent?



        22        A.   The investor-owned utility that the person



        23   provides -- received service from.



        24        Q.   And am I right that FAIR got the information



        25   from the applications, that the people who applied said

�





                                                                     57



         1   this is my utility?



         2        A.   Yes.



         3        Q.   Okay.  Then it gives --



         4        A.   You'll have to excuse me.  I've been not well.



         5   So pardon my coughing.



         6        Q.   No problem.  Do you need another break?



         7        A.   No, I'm fine.  Ask.



         8        Q.   Okay.  So then I see the next column is



         9   business name.  What is that?  What information is in



        10   that column?



        11        A.   If the person receiving service received it at



        12   their residence -- if it was not at the residence and it



        13   was at their business instead, they were to provide the



        14   business -- name of the business at that address.



        15        Q.   Okay.  Am I right that there is only three



        16   businesses that are identified on this roster as of June



        17   15th?



        18        A.   I think there's two.



        19        Q.   Two.  Okay.  And I've blacked out the name --



        20   we've blacked out the names of the businesses here just



        21   for confidentiality --



        22        A.   Yeah.



        23        Q.   -- but there is only a few of these redactions



        24   there.  Okay.



        25        A.   There is only two.
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         1        Q.   Then I see that there is a column that says



         2   "Source."  What does that represent?



         3        A.   Whether they filled it out online or mailed it



         4   in via -- submitted it, however it was submitted, via



         5   PDF.



         6        Q.   I see.  So if something was submitted online,



         7   that meant they just filled out the form on the website



         8   and hit "submit"; right?



         9        A.   That's my understanding, yes.



        10        Q.   And if it says "PDF" that means that somebody



        11   mailed in a hard copy of the application?



        12        A.   That is what -- my understanding.



        13        Q.   Okay.  What does that last column represent?



        14   There is not a heading on that last column?



        15        A.   I -- I don't know.  I don't know.



        16        Q.   I see that there is some -- there is some rows



        17   that don't have anything in that last column on the right



        18   side.  And, again, I'm looking at Exhibit 6 here.



        19        A.   Yeah.



        20        Q.   The same thing in your -- in the attachment to



        21   your direct testimony.  So there is some rows that have



        22   nothing.  Some just have a bunch of looks like hatch



        23   marks.  I'll zoom in a little bit so we can all see it



        24   better here, and some have a date and a time.



        25        A.   Yeah.  I don't know what that is.  My guess was
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         1   that it was the date they joined, but it's not -- they're



         2   not all of them that wasn't relevant to my work.  I did



         3   not receive that.



         4        Q.   Okay.  So I see that there's -- I'm looking



         5   here at Exhibit 6 on the first page.  There is a date and



         6   a time.  6-9-2021, 5:28.  It's your assumption, as you



         7   sit here, that that would be the date that they submitted



         8   the membership application?



         9        A.   That was my guess.



        10        Q.   But that's just a guess, huh?



        11        A.   Absolutely, just a guess.  No idea.



        12        Q.   Okay.  So can you tell me when the individuals



        13   who are listed in the roster submitted their



        14   applications?



        15        A.   Sometime between the start of gathering them



        16   earlier in June through the date the list was provided to



        17   me, I actually had more than one list as it increased and



        18   through the date at which I needed to proceed with the



        19   verification process.  Sometime -- mostly sometime in the



        20   preceding ten days, I believe.



        21        Q.   Okay.  Let me just make sure I understand.  So



        22   it's your understanding that the people submitted their



        23   applications to join FAIR in the preceding ten days



        24   before you started your verification process --



        25        A.   Yes.
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         1        Q.   -- is that right?



         2        A.   Yes.  Yes.



         3        Q.   The people were applying to join FAIR starting



         4   sometime in June of 2021?



         5        A.   Yes.



         6        Q.   And -- but there's no specific row on the



         7   roster or place on the roster that would give the exact



         8   date for each individual person who submitted an



         9   application; is that fair to say?



        10        A.   I don't know.  I don't know what those dates



        11   represent.



        12        Q.   Right.  And there is no -- is there any other



        13   place on the roster that you've looked at that indicates



        14   for each individual person when they submitted their



        15   membership application?



        16        A.   No.



        17        Q.   Okay.  But just as a general matter, you know



        18   that people submitted their applications to join FAIR



        19   starting sometime in June of 2021; right?



        20        A.   Yes.



        21        Q.   So if I go -- let's go back here.  I'm in



        22   Exhibit 6, and if I scroll down, there is ten pages here



        23   and if I get down here to Page 9, the columns start to



        24   look a little different, and so I have that up on the



        25   screen.  I'll zoom in a little just so we can see it
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         1   here.



         2        A.   Okay.



         3        Q.   So looking at this, I see -- I just want to go



         4   through these columns here on Pages 9 and 10.  They look



         5   pretty much the same.  So on utility, that column, is



         6   that again the utility from which the people -- the



         7   person who submits the membership application say they



         8   receive their electric service?



         9        A.   Yes.



        10        Q.   And then you see there is a column next to it



        11   that again has dates and times.  Do you know what that



        12   is?



        13        A.   No.



        14        Q.   Am I right that the first date is -- that you



        15   see on the pages here on 9 and 10 is approximately



        16   June 7th, 2021?



        17        A.   Yes.



        18        Q.   Is it possible that those are the dates when



        19   people submitted their applications to join FAIR?



        20        A.   Highly possible.



        21        Q.   And then let's go over to the far right side.



        22   Do you see that there is these entries here that have a



        23   web URL, you know, https --



        24        A.   Yes.



        25        Q.   -- colon.
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         1        A.   Yes.



         2        Q.   Right?



         3             What is that information?



         4        A.   I don't know.



         5        Q.   That's nothing that you typed in there; right?



         6        A.   No.



         7        Q.   And the person who maintains the roster in



         8   their computer is Ms. Janine Callovi at Consensus



         9   Communication; is that right?



        10        A.   Yes.



        11        Q.   Why is the format any different, I'm curious,



        12   between Pages 9 and 10 versus 1 through 8?  Do you know?



        13        A.   I don't know.



        14        Q.   Okay.  So if I go and I look at this roster and



        15   I -- I'm going to zoom out a little bit.  Let me just go



        16   up to the first -- first page again.  On the very first



        17   page of the roster of Exhibit Number 6 and the first



        18   entry, which is -- the whole thing is blacked out, but



        19   you have a copy of the -- of the unredacted one there.



        20   If I was to ask you in the very first person entry, can



        21   you tell me how old that person is?



        22        A.   No.



        23        Q.   Can you tell me under what specific rate



        24   schedule that person takes service?



        25        A.   No.
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         1        Q.   Can you tell me how much that person pays in



         2   monthly average bills for electricity?



         3        A.   No.



         4        Q.   And I presume you can't tell me how much that



         5   person's bills are going to change based on FPL's



         6   proposal?



         7        A.   No.



         8        Q.   Okay.  And there's no specific entry for that



         9   person or any other person that would indicate for that



        10   person when they submitted their membership application;



        11   right?



        12        A.   I don't know that.



        13        Q.   Okay.  So am I right, then, in understanding,



        14   if I want to -- looking at this roster, that FAIR had no



        15   members when it was first -- when it was first



        16   incorporated on March 25th of 2021?



        17        A.   No.



        18        Q.   And FAIR had no members on May 4th, 2021, when



        19   it applied to intervene in this proceeding; right?



        20        A.   No -- well, its officers and directors were --



        21   could be considered members.



        22        Q.   Okay.  Ms. Watkins, would you look at the



        23   unredacted version of the membership roster and tell me



        24   if any of the officers and directors are listed as



        25   members of the organization?
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         1        A.   I'm going to have to look.  I think there is at



         2   least one, but I would have -- it's very tiny print.



         3        Q.   Why don't you look.  Take your time.



         4        A.   Okay.  Officers and directors -- some of



         5   that -- there it is.  None of the directors are.



         6        Q.   You're not a member, are you?



         7        A.   No.



         8        Q.   Are any of the -- and are you the only -- are



         9   there any other officers of FAIR who are not also



        10   directors?



        11        A.   No.  So it appears no.



        12        Q.   Okay.



        13        A.   It appears that the June list that we tested,



        14   that none of the officers or directors were listed.



        15        Q.   Okay.  So when FAIR filed its petition to



        16   intervene on this proceeding on May 4th, 2021, it had no



        17   members or nobody had even applied to become a member at



        18   that point; right?



        19        A.   No outside people.  When I tested for



        20   membership, I did not test the officers and directors.



        21   Only the people that had applied online and through



        22   the -- that effort.



        23        Q.   Okay.  But the officers' and directors' names



        24   are not on the membership roster, are they?



        25        A.   Not on this membership roster that was tested,
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         1   correct.



         2        Q.   And there's no other membership roster, is



         3   there?



         4        A.   No.



         5        Q.   So if I -- so --



         6        A.   Not at this date.  Not at this date.



         7             (Crosstalk.)



         8        Q.   Sorry.  I don't mean to talk over you.  This is



         9   one of the problems of doing this online.



        10        A.   Yeah.



        11        Q.   It's hard to --



        12        A.   There is no other roster as of this date.



        13   There is a greatly expanded roster since this date.



        14        Q.   And it's greatly expanded in the sense that



        15   more people have applied to become members after June



        16   15th?



        17        A.   Yes.



        18        Q.   Okay.  But, once again, as of the date that



        19   FAIR applied to intervene in this proceeding, May 4th,



        20   2021, it had no -- nobody had applied to become a member



        21   at that point; right?



        22        A.   No.



        23        Q.   Okay.  Let me exit out of this document here,



        24   and I'd like to go back to what I previously marked as



        25   FPL Exhibit Number 4 to the deposition here.
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         1             Can you see on the screen, Ms. Watkins, the --



         2   let me just zoom up the first page -- the resolution of



         3   the board of directors of FAIR in lieu of meeting?



         4        A.   Yes.



         5        Q.   Okay.  I'm not sure if I asked you this before



         6   when I first put it up, but can you tell me what this



         7   document is?  It was provided by your counsel to me



         8   yesterday.



         9        A.   It's where the directors did the final work to



        10   admit and confirm all those that had applied for



        11   membership to be members.



        12        Q.   So was this the first time the board of



        13   directors of FAIR had acted to admit anybody to the



        14   membership of the organization?



        15        A.   Through an official act, yes.



        16        Q.   And you've read the bylaws of FAIR, haven't



        17   you?



        18        A.   Yes.



        19        Q.   You were at the -- you were at the first board



        20   meeting back in March of this year when those bylaws were



        21   adopted; right?



        22        A.   Yes.



        23        Q.   And you're aware that a person cannot become a



        24   member of FAIR until they're admitted to the membership



        25   by the board of directors; right?

�





                                                                     67



         1        A.   Yes.



         2        Q.   So am I right in understanding this document



         3   here that the board of directors of FAIR did not admit



         4   anybody to the membership until the date of this



         5   resolution?



         6        A.   Via an official resolution, correct.



         7        Q.   Well, there's no other resolution, is there?



         8        A.   No, I understand.  No, there's no other



         9   resolution, but they were considered -- all these people



        10   were considered members.  This technically had not been



        11   done.  This formality had not been done.



        12        Q.   You say it's a formality, do you view the other



        13   provisions of the bylaws a formality too?



        14        A.   Let me change the word to this formal process



        15   had not been done.



        16        Q.   Okay.  Ms. Watkins, the bylaws say somebody's



        17   not a member until the board of directors admits them



        18   into the membership; right?



        19        A.   Right.



        20        Q.   So the board of directors of FAIR did not admit



        21   anybody to the membership prior to July 27th, 2021; is



        22   that right?



        23        A.   Yes.



        24        Q.   Okay.  July 27th, 2021, am I right that that



        25   was just this past Tuesday, two days ago?
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         1        A.   Yes.



         2        Q.   So is it right, then, that FAIR had no members



         3   as of the date that you looked at the membership roster



         4   of applications back in June?



         5             MR. WRIGHT:  I'll object to the form to the



         6        extent it calls for a legal conclusion.



         7             You can answer the question.



         8             THE WITNESS:  I had a list, whether it's for



         9        application for membership or actual membership, to



        10        verify and confirm those people's desire to be a



        11        member of FAIR.



        12   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        13        Q.   Hey, ma'am, that wasn't my question.



        14             My question is this:  You agree with me that in



        15   June of 2021 that list of people, the roster, only was a



        16   list of people who had applied for membership.  It wasn't



        17   a list of actual members of FAIR, was it?



        18             MR. WRIGHT:  Same objection.



        19             You can answer.



        20             THE WITNESS:  Based on the requirement of the



        21        bylaws, not at that time.



        22   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        23        Q.   But none of those people were members in June



        24   of 2021, were they?



        25             MR. WRIGHT:  Same objection.
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         1             You can answer.



         2             THE WITNESS:  No.



         3   BY MR. MCALILEY:



         4        Q.   Why did the FAIR board of directors just issue



         5   this resolution and actually admit people to membership



         6   just this week?



         7        A.   I have no personal knowledge.



         8        Q.   Okay.  So just to go through the basic facts



         9   again to make sure I have this right, you agree with me



        10   that FAIR had no members as of March -- as of May 4th,



        11   2021, when it applied -- when it petitioned to intervene



        12   in this proceeding; right?



        13        A.   Correct.



        14        Q.   And FAIR had no members as of June 21st, 2021,



        15   when you submitted your direct testimony; right?



        16        A.   Correct.



        17        Q.   And FAIR had no members until this past



        18   Tuesday, two days ago; right?



        19             MR. WRIGHT:  Same objection.



        20             You can answer.



        21             THE WITNESS:  Yes.



        22   BY MR. MCALILEY:



        23        Q.   If I go here to Exhibit Number 6 -- I'm sorry,



        24   not Exhibit 6.  This is Exhibit Number 4, and there is --



        25   and I see that there is -- it says "Memorandum" dated
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         1   July 26th, 2021, from Janine Callovi at Consensus



         2   Communications.  There is several people including



         3   yourself.



         4        A.   Uh-huh.



         5        Q.   Could you just tell me what this is, this



         6   memorandum?



         7        A.   It's explaining that that resolution needs to



         8   be adopted and why.



         9        Q.   Okay.  So it wasn't even presented to the board



        10   to admit anybody to become a member until this past



        11   Monday, three days ago?



        12        A.   Yes.



        13        Q.   And, by the way, there is nothing in the roster



        14   that indicates the age of the person who has filled out



        15   the membership form; right?



        16        A.   Correct.



        17        Q.   And you don't know them personally, do you?



        18        A.   No.



        19        Q.   And you're aware that the bylaws provide that



        20   the only people who can become members are 18 years and



        21   older of age; right?



        22        A.   I would have to refer to them, but I would



        23   accept that that is required.



        24        Q.   Okay.  So am I right, Ms. Watkins, you're just



        25   assuming that everybody is over 18, but you don't
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         1   actually have information as to their age; right?



         2        A.   Correct.



         3             MR. MCALILEY:  You know, if we could take a



         4        short break here, I may be done or close to being



         5        done here, but it would help me organize my notes.



         6        Could we get a five-minute break?



         7             MR. WRIGHT:  Of course.



         8             MR. MCALILEY:  Madam Court Reporter, you good?



         9             Okay.  So let's take a five-minute break here.



        10             (A short recess was taken, after which the



        11        following proceedings were had:)



        12             MR. MCALILEY:  Okay.  Ms. Watkins, I have no



        13        further questions.  I want to thank you for your



        14        time, and unless your counsel has questions or other



        15        counsel has questions, I want to wish you a nice day.



        16             THE WITNESS:  Thank you.



        17             MR. WRIGHT:  Thank you.  I do have a few



        18        questions on cross-examination.



        19                       CROSS-EXAMINATION



        20   BY MR. WRIGHT:



        21        Q.   A short while ago, Mr. McAliley asked you some



        22   questions about a document that he identified as



        23   Exhibit 6.  If you know, is that the same as the document



        24   that was included as an exhibit to your testimony?



        25        A.   Which was Exhibit 6?
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         1        Q.   Exhibit 6 was the --



         2        A.   Redacted.



         3        Q.   -- the one with more redactions that had the



         4   extra information on the right side?



         5        A.   I do not believe that was part of my testimony.



         6        Q.   Okay.  Throughout the course of your work on



         7   this matter, did you understand that the persons listed



         8   on the roster to be members of FAIR?



         9        A.   Yes.



        10        Q.   Why?



        11        A.   Because the application they had submitted



        12   specifically said they wished to be members of FAIR.



        13   That requirement within the bylaws was overlooked, at



        14   least by me, to check, but it was also outside the scope



        15   of my duties.



        16        Q.   Mr. McAliley asked you some questions about



        17   your sampling technique.  At one point, I think you



        18   described it as a negative confirmation test --



        19        A.   Yes.



        20        Q.   -- or something like that.



        21             Is that a good phrase to use to describe the



        22   technique that you used?



        23        A.   Yes.  Negative confirmation as compared to



        24   positive confirmation.



        25        Q.   Is that a recognized technique in sampling?
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         1        A.   Negative confirmation is a well-recognized



         2   technique.



         3        Q.   Is it widely used?



         4        A.   Yes, more -- it's more common than positive



         5   confirmation.



         6        Q.   In what -- in what industries might it be used,



         7   or what industries is it used, to the extent you know?



         8        A.   It's widely used across all industries.  It's



         9   not an industry-specific technique.



        10        Q.   A couple of follow-up questions on Exhibit 6,



        11   which Mr. McAliley asked you about.  It does have some



        12   dates in the far right-hand column; correct?



        13        A.   Yes.



        14        Q.   And did it also have some indications as to



        15   whether the members joined online or by PDF?



        16        A.   Yes.  There is online and PDF on the column to



        17   the left of that.



        18        Q.   Do you know when any of the PDF applications



        19   might have been submitted?



        20        A.   No.  I'm presuming this date is a submission



        21   date, but a substantial number of them were not there, so



        22   I don't know.



        23        Q.   Take a look.  Do you see any of those indicated



        24   by PDF that have a date associated with them?



        25        A.   None of the PDFs have a date.
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         1        Q.   Okay.  You were -- just to clear up something.



         2   You were asked a question regarding the roster that



         3   was -- that is an exhibit to your direct testimony.  At



         4   what point Mr. McAliley asked you do you have more



         5   information than this.  You answered no.



         6             Do you have more information about FAIR's



         7   membership than was reflected on the exhibit you



         8   submitted with your testimony?



         9        A.   No.



        10        Q.   Have you looked at any later roster?



        11        A.   Oh, for additional members, but no additional



        12   information than this.



        13             MR. MCALILEY:  Objection.  Just for the record,



        14        objection, leading.



        15             Counsel, you're on redirect, and you're trying



        16        to get her to undo an answer.  So you need to ask



        17        open-ended questions.  Her answer to you was no, and



        18        so I just want the record to reflect that you're



        19        leading her to an answer.



        20             Ma'am, you can go ahead and answer the question



        21        at this point for the record, but I want to make my



        22        objection clear.



        23             THE WITNESS:  I do not have any additional



        24        information about any specific member.  Subsequent to



        25        this list, there have been additional members that
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         1        are now part of a roster that I have seen.



         2             MR. WRIGHT:  Thanks.  That's all I have.



         3             MR. MCALILEY:  I just have a couple of



         4        follow-up questions, ma'am, just some questions from



         5        your counsel.



         6                     REDIRECT EXAMINATION



         7   BY MR. MCALILEY:



         8        Q.   You just testified a moment ago about the



         9   statistical method that you used to sample the roster; is



        10   that right?



        11        A.   Yes.



        12        Q.   And you talked about this as a negative



        13   confirmation test that you conduct?



        14        A.   Yes.



        15        Q.   And is that a form of statistical analysis?



        16        A.   It's a form of audit sampling.



        17        Q.   Can you explain to me what your background is



        18   in statistics that would give you expertise to opine



        19   about the validity of different statistical tests?



        20        A.   It's not a statistical test.  It's an auditing



        21   test.  Statistics would indicate a -- the confidence



        22   interval and a probability as a result of the audit test,



        23   but I am a CPA.  I am trained or required to study



        24   statistics.  Prior to this test I conferred with other



        25   CPAs specifically and especially ones that are recently
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         1   in the academic field to confirm the validity of the



         2   approach.



         3        Q.   Have you ever testified as an expert witness



         4   before in any kind of proceeding, legal or



         5   administrative?



         6        A.   No.



         7             MR. MCALILEY:  Okay.  I have no further



         8        questions.  Thank you very much, ma'am.



         9             THE WITNESS:  Thank you.



        10             MR. WRIGHT:  I think we're good.  We will read



        11        and sign.  Thank you.



        12             MR. MCALILEY:  And I'm going to send an e-mail



        13        to the court reporter with the exhibits, and I'll



        14        copy you on them so you have them.



        15             MR. WRIGHT:  Thanks.



        16             MR. MCALILEY:  Thank you.



        17             (The deposition was concluded at 3:20 p.m.)



        18



        19



        20
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        23



        24



        25
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